World Glaucoma Association

Progression of Glaucoma

Robert N. Weinreb, David F. Garway-Heath, Christopher Leung, Jonathan G. Crowston, Felipe A. Medeiros

Consensus Series - 8



Kugler Publications, Amsterdam, The Netherlands

PROGRESSION OF GLAUCOMA







Robert N. Weinreb

David F. Garway-Heath Christopher Leung



Jonathan G. Crowston



Felipe A. Medeiros

PROGRESSION OF GLAUCOMA

The 8th Consensus Report of the World Glaucoma Association

Editors

Robert N. Weinreb David F. Garway-Heath Christopher Leung Jonathan G. Crowston Felipe A. Medeiros



Kugler Publications/Amsterdam/The Netherlands

ISBN 13: 978-90-6299-231-7

Distributors:

For the USA and Canada: Pathway Book Service 4 White Brook Road Gilsum, NH 03448 U.S.A. email: pbs@pathwaybook.com

For all other countries: Kugler Publications P.O. Box 20538 1001 NM Amsterdam, The Netherlands Telefax (+31.20) 68 45 700

website: www.kuglerpublications.com

© 2011 Kugler Publications, Amsterdam, The Netherlands

All rights reserved. No part of this book may be translated or reproduced in any form by print, photoprint, microfilm, or any other means without prior written permission of the publisher. Kugler Publications is an imprint of SPB Academic Publishing by, P.O. Box 20538 1001 NM Amsterdam, The Netherlands

This publication is the eighth of a series on Consensus meetings in Glaucoma under the auspices of the World Glaucoma Association





FACULTY

Consensus Initiative Chair

Robert N. Weinreb, USA

Section Leaders

Jonathan Crowston, Australia David F. Garway-Heath, UK Chris Leung, Hong Kong Felipe A. Medeiros, USA Rohit Varma, USA

Co-leaders

Joseph Caprioli, USA Balwantray Chauhan, Canada Dave Friedman, USA Chris Girkin, USA Mingguang He, PR China Anders Heijl, Sweden Chris Johnson, USA S. Fabian Lerner, Argentina Jeffrey M. Liebmann, USA Kuldev Singh, USA Linda Zangwill, USA Thierry Zeyen, Belgium

Participants

Doug Anderson, USA Alfonso Anton, Spain Makoto Araie, Japan Paul Artes, UK Tin Aung, Singapore Boel Bengtsson, Sweden Augusto Blanco-Azuaro, UK Eytan Blumenthal, Israel Andreas Boehm, Germany Chris Bowd, USA James Brandt, USA Paolo Brusini, Italy Donald Budenz, USA Claude Burgoyne, USA Jennifer Burr, UK Anne Coleman, USA Vital Costa, Brasil David Crabb, UK Tanuj Dada, India

Gus de Moreas, USA Murray Fingeret, USA Ivan Goldberg, Australia Francisco Goni, Spain David Greenfield, USA Franz Grehn, Germany Alon Harris, USA Curt Hartleben, Mexico Sharon Haymes, Australia Paul Healey, Australia David Henson, UK Esther Hoffmann, Germany Aiko Iwase, Japan Nomdo Jansonius, The Netherlands Jost Jonas, Germany Malik Kahook, USA Michael Kass, USA Tae-Woo Kim, South Korea Michael Kook, South Korea Steve Kymes, USA Ecosse Lamaroux, Australia Felix Li, Hong Kong Shan Lin, USA Antonio Martinez Garcia, Spain Eugenio Maul, Chile Roberta McKean-Cowdin, USA Andy McNaught, UK Matthias Monhart, Switzerland Winnie Nolan, UK Kouros Nouri-Mahdavi, USA Ki Ho Park, South Korea Rich Parrish, USA Mike Patella, USA Pradeep Ramulu, USA Harsha Rao, India Lisandro Sakata, Brasil Joel Schuman, USA Chandra Sekhar, India George Spaeth, USA Paul Spry, UK Kyun Rim Sung, South Korea Remo Susanna, Brasil William Swanson, USA John Thygesen, Denmark

Andrew Turpin, Australia Ningli Wang, PR China M. Roy Wilson, UK Gadi Wollstein, USA

Consensus Development Panel

Jonathan Crowston, Australia Murray Fingeret, USA David F. Garway-Heath, UK Chris Johnson, USA Tae-Woo Kim, South Korea S. Fabian Lerner, Argentina Chris Leung, Hong Kong Felipe A. Medeiros, USA Kuldev Singh, USA Remo Susanna, Brasil Ningli Wang, PR China Robert N. Weinreb, USA

Recording Secretary

Kaweh Mansouri, USA

Glaucoma Societies/Sections of the following countries and regions have agreed to review the report:

Algeria, American Glaucoma Society, Argentina, Asian-Oceanic Glaucoma Society, Australian and New Zealand Glaucoma, Austria, Azerbaijan, Bangladesh, Belgium, Bolivia, Brazil, Bulgaria, Canadian Glaucoma Society, Chile, Chinese Glaucoma Society, Colombia, Costa Rica, Croatia, Czech, Denmark, Ecuador, Egypt, Estonia, European Glaucoma Society, Finland, France, Georgia, Germany, Glaucoma Society of India, Greece, Hungary, Iceland, Indonesia, Interest Group, International Society for Glaucoma Surgery, Iran, Ireland, Israel, Italy, Japan Glaucoma Society, Korea, Latin-American Glaucoma Society, Latvia, Lesotho, Lithuania, Mexico, Middle East African Glaucoma Society, Netherlands, Nigeria, Norway, Optometric Glaucoma Society, Pakistan, Pan American Glaucoma Society, Paraguay, Peru, Philippines, Poland, Portugal, Puerto Rico, Republic, Romania, Russia, Saudi Arabia, Serbia, Singapore, Slovakia, Slovenia, South Africa, South-East Asian Glaucoma Interest Group, Spain, Sweden, Switzerland, Taiwan, Thailand, Turkey, Ukraine, United Kingdom, Venezuela, Zambia

CONTENTS

| Pre | eface | xiii |
|-----|---|------|
| Int | roduction | XV |
| 1. | VISUAL FUNCTION PROGRESSION David F. Garway-Heath, Andy McNaught, Nomdo Jansonius, Anders Heijl, Boel Bengtsson, Douglas R. Anderson, William H. Swanson | 3 |
| 2. | STRUCTURE Christopher Leung, Linda Zangwill, Chris Girkin, Bal Chauhan, Makoto Araie, Chris Bowd, Harsha Rao, Claude Burgoyne, Tae-Woo Kim, Tanuj Dada, Antonio Martinez Garcia, Michael Kook, Jost Jonas, Ki-Ho Park, Kyung Rim Sung, Remo Susanna, Andreas Boehm, Gadi Wollstein | 45 |
| 3. | STRUCTURE AND FUNCTION Felipe A. Medeiros, Gustavo de Moraes, Balwantray Chauhan, Remo Susanna, Jeffrey M. Liebmann | 91 |
| 4. | RISK FACTORS Jonathan G. Crowston, S. Fabian Lerner, Mingguang He, Kuldev Singh, Paul Healey | 101 |
| 5. | GLAUCOMA AND ITS IMPACT ON PATIENT FUNCTION Rohit Varma, Roberta McKean-Cowdin, Thierry Zeyen, Pradeep Ramulu, David Friedman | 119 |
| Su | mmary Consensus points | 132 |
| Dis | sclosure codes definitions – Category code specific financial interests | 149 |
| Inc | lex of authors | 154 |

PREFACE

Progression of Glaucoma is the topic of the eighth World Glaucoma Association Consensus. There has been considerable attention to the diagnosis of glaucoma during the past twenty years. In fact, this was the topic of the inaugural WGA consensus report in 2003. During the past decade, however, numerous studies have been undertaken to also investigate the progression of glaucoma. With substantial improvement in existing diagnostic technologies and the rapid development of others, one can better determine whether there has been progressive disease. Hence, the results of this report will have broad and significant impact on clinical practice and glaucoma research. The global faculty, consisting of leading authorities on the clinical and scientific aspects of glaucoma progression, met in Paris on June 28, 2011, just prior to the World Glaucoma Congress, to discuss the reports and refine the consensus statements.

As with prior meetings, it was a daunting task to seek and obtain consensus on such a complicated and nuanced subject. It is unclear how each of us decides how we practice, and evidence to guide us often is sparse. Collection of patient data to study progression often takes years. Hence, this consensus, as with the others, is based not only on the published literature, but also on expert opinion. Although consensus does not replace and is not a surrogate for scientific investigation, it does provide considerable value, especially when the desired evidence is lacking. The goal of this consensus is to provide a foundation for identifying progression of glaucoma and how it can be best done in clinical practice. Identification of those areas for which we have little evidence and, therefore, the need for additional research always is a high priority. We hope that this consensus report will serve as a benchmark of our understanding. However, this consensus report, as with each of the others, is intended to be fluid. It is expected that it will be revised and improved with the emergence of new evidence.

Robert N. Weinreb, Chair

Co-Chairs: Jonathan G. Crowston David F. Garway-Heath Christopher Leung Felipe A. Medeiros Rohit Varma



Robert N. Weinreb (Consensus Chair)

INTRODUCTION

We mark the eighth consecutive year for the World Glaucoma Association Glaucoma Consensus with Consensus VIII. Our topic is the Progression of Glaucoma.

Global experts were invited and assembled by our international co-Chairs beginning in January 2011, to participate in the Project Forum E-Room, a unique online opportunity to facilitate discussion of each of the consensus meetings. Participants then were engaged in the discussion of five topical areas to reach consensus on key issues that surround and permeate all aspects of the progression of glaucoma. The results of these thoughtful discussions then were summarized by each of the sections with preliminary consensus statements. The Draft of the Consensus Report, including the preliminary consensus statements, was distributed to the Societies and Partners for review and comments prior to the Consensus Meeting that took place in Paris on Tuesday, June 28, 2011.

On this day, relevant stakeholders engaged in a stimulating, educational, and thought-provoking session that highlighted the review and revision of the consensus statements. The Consensus Report then was finalized by Consensus co-Chairs and Editors. Consensus statements were reviewed and finalized by the expert Consensus Panel.

Robert N. Weinreb, Editor



Andy McNaught (section 1 co-author, left), Chris Johnson (section 1 co-Leader, center left), Anders Heijl (section 1 co-Leader, center right) and Kaweh Mansouri (Consensus Secretary)



Anders Heijl (section 1 co-Leader)





Andy McNaught



Nomdo Jansonius



Anders Heijl



Boel Bengtsson



Douglas R. Anderson



William H. Swanson

1. VISUAL FUNCTION PROGRESSION

David F. Garway-Heath, Andy McNaught, Nomdo Jansonius, Anders Heijl, Boel Bengtsson, Douglas R. Anderson, William H. Swanson

Section leader: David F. Garway-Heath

Co-leaders: Joseph Caprioli, Anders Heijl, Chris Johnson *Contributors:* Douglas Anderson, Paul Artes, Boel Bengtsson, Paolo Brusini, Balwantray Chauhan, Anne Coleman, David Crabb, David Henson, Aiko Iwase, Nomdo Jansonius, Michael Kass, Michael Kook, Andy McNaught, Matthias Monhart, Kouros Nouri-Mahdavi, Mike Patella, George Spaeth, Paul Spry, William Swanson, Andrew Turpin

Consensus statements

 Standard white-on-white automated perimetry (SAP), with a fixed testing matrix covering at least the central 24 degrees, is preferred for measuring progression in eyes with glaucomatous VF loss.
Comment: more research is needed into the use of alternative measures of visual function (FDP, resolution perimetry, motion perimetry and others) to detect glaucomatous progression, before any of these can be considered

alternatives to SAP for measuring progression. *Comment:* It is possible for glaucomatous optic neuropathy to progress struc-

Comment: It is possible for glaucomatous optic neuropathy to progress structurally in the absence of functional progression and vice-versa.

 Perform sufficient examinations to detect change. *Comment:* decisions on progression should not be made by comparing only the most recent field with the one before. *Comment:* suspected progression should be confirmed by repeating the field.

Baseline data collection (no previous VFs available) – first two years

3. In clinical practice, at least two reliable VFs is optimal in the first six months. *Comment:* In clinical scenarios, where the lifetime risk of visual disability is high, such as those who already have advanced damage, three baseline VFs may be necessary.

Comment: A good baseline of reliable VFs is essential to be able to monitor for progression.

Progression of Glaucoma, pp. 3-41 Edited by Robert N. Weinreb, David F. Garway-Heath, Christopher Leung, Jonathan G. Crowston, and Felipe A. Medeiros 2011 © Kugler Publications, Amsterdam, The Netherlands *Comment:* Unless there are obvious learning effects, high false-positive errors, rim artifacts, or other obvious artifacts, examinations should not be removed from the analyses.

- 4. At least two further VFs should be performed within the next 18 months.
- 5. VF testing should be repeated sooner than scheduled if possible progression is identified on the basis of an 'event' analysis.

Comment: In patients at risk of visual disability, performing six VFs in the first two years enables the clinician to rule out rapid progression (2 dB/year or worse) and establishes an ideal set of baseline data.

Comment: the identification of possible progression may be on the basis of an 'event' criterion such as the Glaucoma Progression Analysis (in the Humphrey perimeter software) or 'Nonparametric Progression Analysis'.

6. Establish a new baseline after a significant therapeutic intervention (*e.g.*, surgery).

Comment: the new baseline can be the last fields that defined the previous progression 'event'.

Follow-up data collection (after the initial two years)

- 7. The frequency of follow-up VFs should be based on the risk of clinically significant progression (based on extent of damage and life expectancy).
- 8. In low and moderate risk patients, subsequent VF frequency should be one VF per year (unless there is a long follow-up) and, as a rule, repeated sooner if possible. Progression is identified on the basis of an 'event' analysis, or if other clinical observations are suggestive of possible progression or increased risk of progression.

Comment: relevant clinical observations include structural progression (clinically noted or measured by imaging), a splinter hemorrhage, or inadequate IOP control.

9. In high risk patients, subsequent VF frequency should be two VFs per year and repeated sooner if possible progression is identified on the basis of an 'event' analysis, or if other clinical observations are suggestive of progression or increased risk of progression.

Comment: following confirmed progression (by an 'event'), the frequency of testing should be based on the estimated rate of progression, risk factors and other clinical indicators of progression, stage of disease and life expectancy. *Comment:* patients who have been stable for a long period, or who are progressing so slowly as to be at little risk for reaching disabling levels of field loss, and other clinical parameters indicate low risk of progression, may have VF testing less frequently than 1 VF per year.

Visual field progression may be analyzed by either 'event-' or 'trend-'based methods

Event analysis: is change from baseline greater than a predefined threshold; the threshold is based on test retest variability (according to level of damage).

Trend analysis: determines the rate of change over time; the significance is determined by the variability of the measurement and the magnitude of change.

- 10. Both event and trend analyses are needed, largely for different time points in the follow-up during clinical care.
- 11. In general, event-based methods are used early in the follow-up, when few VFs are available for serial analysis.

Comment: progression by an event criterion usually requires confirmation on at least two further occasions to be sufficiently sure that progression has truly occurred.

Comment: confirmation of progression should usually be made on a separate occasion (patients have 'off days').

Comment: When interpreting VF progression that is confirmed by an 'event' method, the clinician should look at:

- the baseline fields, to ensure they are reliable and appropriate for the analysis;

- the estimated rate of progression and the confidence of the estimate;
- the severity of the visual loss in terms of impending impairment;
- the risk factors for progression.
- 12. In general, rate-based analyses are used later in the follow-up, when a greater number of VFs is available over a sufficient period of time to measure the rate of progression.

Comment: a rate of progression in the first two years is a rough estimate (wide range of possible rates around the central estimate); in most patients it takes longer to obtain a reliable estimate of the rate of progression.

Comment: trend (regression) analysis provides an estimate of the rate of progression and a measure of the reliability of the estimate; the reliability of the estimate is judged from the confidence limit.

Comment: clinicians should consider other clinical measures of progression and risk of progression when interpreting this information (these data provide the 'prior probability' for progression).

13. When progression is identified, the clinician should ensure that the progression is consistent with glaucoma and not related to some other cause.

Measure the rate of visual field progression

- 14. Clinicians should aim to measure the rate of VF progression. *Comment:* Estimating the rate of progression is invaluable for guiding therapeutic decisions and estimating the likelihood of visual impairment
 - during the patient's lifetime.
- 15. In the absence of significant changes in therapy, the rate of progression of suitable global indices (MD or VFI, but not PSD or LV) is linear in treated glaucoma eyes, except at the most advanced stages.
- 16. As a linear model for progression is acceptable, trends may be extrapolated to predict future loss if there is no change in therapy, over appropriate intervals.

- 17. Both local and global metrics are needed for assessment of progression. *Comment:* Rates are most often measured on 'global' parameters, such as mean deviation, mean defect or visual field index. However, focal progression (such as paracentral) may be missed by a global index.
- 18. Total Deviation based methods are more sensitive to cataract than Pattern Deviation based methods. However, by eliminating or reducing the component of diffuse visual field loss, Pattern Deviation based methods may underestimate progression rates.
- 19. Use available software support. Comment: Subjective judgment of VF print-outs is unreliable and agreement among clinicians is poor. Statistical analysis, either in the perimeter software or stand-alone software, is advantageous to reliably identify and measure progressive VF change.

Pay attention to examination quality

20. Examinations of poor quality will likely lead to an erroneous assessment of progression.

Comment: The most important factors to reduce test variability are a proper explanation of the test to the patient, appropriate instrument setup and 1:1 monitoring of the patient by a trained technician.

- 21. Do not rely automatically on the VF reliability indices. Comment: The VF reliability indices may be unreliable! The most useful index is the 'False Positive' rate; values greater than 15% likely represent a less reliable performance; values less than 15% do not guarantee reliability. The technician is the best judge to exam quality.
- 22. If unreliable tests require repeating, the patient should be carefully reinstructed.

Use the same threshold test

23. Clinicians should select their preferred perimetry technology, test pattern, and thresholding strategy for the baseline tests and stick with the same test throughout the follow up.

Comment: any analysis of progression can only be performed if a compatible threshold algorithm and test pattern is used.

24. In advanced glaucoma, smaller angular size SAP testing grids, *e.g.*, HFA 10-2 may be of value in a minority of patients.

Comment: Kinetic perimetry and SAP with larger targets (*e.g.*, size V) may also be useful.

Comment: The advantages of a change in test pattern (e.g., from a 24-2 to a 10-2 grid) should also be weighed against the disadvantages for progression analysis by commercial software.

Clinical trials

25. Event analyses aim to identify a statistically significant difference between study arms and not necessarily a clinically significant difference.

Comment: As glaucoma is a chronic progressive disease and progression is generally linear, small amounts of progression that reach statistical significance become larger, clinically significant amounts of progression if there is no additional therapy.

- 26. Rate analyses of VF indices are an appropriate statistical approach to identify differences between treatment groups. *Comment:* Rate analysis methods have been used often in trials for other chronic progressive diseases, such as dementia.
- 27. Difference in the progression 'event' criterion applied in the various clinical trials limits comparison of the incidence of progression determined in those trials.

Comment: Comparison of groups in different clinical trials is also hampered by mismatch of subjects with regard to stage of glaucoma, quality of visual field exams, and other traits.

Research needs

- 1. The development of 'event' criteria for progression based on individual patient test-retest variability.
- 2. There is a need to *compare event-based endpoints* and *rate of progression outcomes* in a data set with data acquired with appropriate frequency and test intervals with respect to clinical trials.
- 3. Further research is needed into the added value of smaller angular size test grids, and different size stimuli, *e.g.*, size V, in advanced glaucoma.
- 4. Determine appropriate dynamic ranges of stimulus contrasts for size III, and develop new stimuli with larger dynamic ranges of appropriate stimulus contrasts.
- 5. Improve the interface between perimetrist and device, and between patient and device.
- 6. Identify, or develop, stimulus types (*e.g.*, FDT) and test algorithms which provide optimal information content for progression analysis in children and adults who have difficulty performing a reliable SAP test.
- 7. Develop alternate methods for selecting stimulus locations in order to avoid extensive testing of blind areas and to focus on areas of interest.
- 8. Further assess the benefits of using prior threshold as a starting point in a follow-up test (or if threshold is < 0 dB previously, confirmation at that point that a 0 dB stimulus is not seen is sufficient).
- 9. Determine the optimal frequency and timing of tests for individual patients.
- 10. Use of good mathematical modeling.
- 11. Develop better approaches to identify learning effects.
- 12. Identify the appropriate test and frequency of testing for patients with progressive glaucomatous optic neuropathy and SAP within normal limits.

Introduction

The central goal of the management of the patient with glaucoma is preservation of visual function adequate to that individual's needs during his/her lifetime;¹ thus, the identification and quantification progressive vision loss is a fundamental requirement for clinical care. This chapter outlines 1) the technologies available for measuring visual function, providing evidence for their application to monitor for progressive vision loss and guidance for obtaining high quality data; 2) the appropriate frequency and intervals between visual field tests in clinical routine for patients with different levels of risk of visual disability; 3) statistical analysis for serial visual field data and the appropriate choice according to clinical scenario; 4) approaches to visual field assessment tools presently available.

I. Technologies for measurement of the visual field

Andy McNaught



Fig. 1. Series of SAP results showing progressive inferior arcuate VF loss over three years.

Standard 'white-on-white' automated perimetry (SAP)

Standard automated perimetry (SAP) is an extensively researched, and now, wellestablished technique to quantify the sensitivity of the visual field in glaucoma. The earliest research work which led to the current generation of automated perimeters began in the mid-1970s.^{2,3} The first automated perimeters included the Octopus perimeter and were described in the early 1980s;⁴ at this time, there are the first reports of the use of automated perimetry (Fieldmaster) to attempt to detect glaucomatous visual field progression, suggesting improved sensitivity when compared to kinetic perimetry.⁵

The use of probability analysis to separate abnormal visual fields from those from an age-matched population was described by Heijl and Asman in 1989.⁶ Further refinements to the Humphrey Automated Perimeter (HFA), including the glaucoma hemifield test (GHT),⁷ and testing strategies allowing more rapid threshold estimations 'SITA' were described by the same group in the 1990s.⁸

The HFA is now a prevalent device in ophthalmology units: 99% of UK eye departments use some form of automated perimetry, 78% having the HFA.⁹ In a survey of UK community optometrists, the perimeter most frequently used was either one of the Henson range of instruments (39%) or the Humphrey Field Analyser (22%).¹⁰ The HFA is used by both general ophthalmologists, and in research trials, *e.g.*, AGIS, CIGTS, and the EMGT.¹¹ There has been extensive research confirming the value of SAP, mainly using the HFA, Octopus, or Henson perimeters, in the detection, and monitoring of glaucomatous visual function progression: using both 'event' and 'trend' analysis in the analysis of global indices, as well as point-wise techniques.

Guidance for obtaining reliable SAP test results

To ensure that glaucoma progression is detected at the earliest point possible, it is essential that each SAP test is a high quality measurement of the patient's visual function at that point in time. Research evidence confirms the clinical impression that less variability in each visual function measurement enhances the ability to detect any underlying VF progression over time. Important factors include:

- a) It is essential that the suitability of the patient for any visual function testing is carefully appraised before testing begins: poor quality results will result if the patient is physically unable to sit comfortably at the perimeter because of, for example, severe arthritis, especially of the cervical spine. Some patients may not be intellectually competent to undertake the test e.g. those suffering from dementia. Other subjects will have insufficient central visual function to enable adequate fixation during the test, because of extensive macular disease, for example. These patients might be better served with alternative perimetry methods, *e.g.*, Goldmann kinetic perimetry and/or might be better monitored using structural measurements. A patient with a dense cataract will not produce a very valuable perimetry result: it would, where possible, be more sensible to delay perimetry until the cataract is removed.
- b) It is essential that the perimetry technician is able to ensure that the subject has appropriate near refractive correction to render the fixation target, and the stimuli, accurately focussed during the test. Defocus will reduce

measured sensitivity. The near correction lenses that are used must be full aperture to ensure that there is no vignetting by the trial frame.

- c) Subjects must have a clear idea of the nature of the perimetry test i.e. they must understand that the test will take several minutes to complete, that there might be quite long periods during the test when they do not perceive any stimuli at all (even if their visual field is normal). They need to know that it is not possible to attain '100%', so they must expect that many stimuli will inevitably be too dim to see: they are therefore less intimidated by the test.
- d) The perimetry technician must be in close proximity to the patient during the test to ensure they can give advice and encouragement/monitor fixation/allow the patient to rest, if necessary, during the test, *i.e.*, a ratio of subject to technician would ideally be 1:1, but 1:2 might be acceptable, but even if there are fewer technicians, each patient should be supported throughout the test, to ensure the highest quality perimetry test results.
- e) The patient's performance is most accurately assessed by the technician who conducts the test, but modern automated perimeters do also undertake automatic measurements which provide some additional information about overall performance. Research suggests that false negative (FN), and short-term fluctuation (SF) measures are less useful than false positives (FP). This is because the former are strongly correlated with the extent of the glaucomatous visual field damage (rather than the patient's fundamental performance);¹² the measures increase with increasing size and number of scotomata, certainly until the field is moderately damaged, *i.e.*, a mean deviation (MD) in excess of approximately -15dB. VF damage more severe than this level is often associated with reducing levels of variability, again, mostly unrelated to the patients fundamental performance, but mainly because of the limited (remaining) dynamic range of the perimeter. Excessive FP responses, however, always indicate an intrinsically poor performance as the patient is indicating a stimulus is seen when none has been presented. For detection of progressive field loss, when a series of fields is available, the Glaucoma Progression Analysis (GPA) of the Humphrey perimeter automatically excludes VFs with \geq 15% FP responses from the baseline or follow-up series. Notwithstanding the automated removal of fields with excessive FPs, the clinician can also judge the reliability of a visual field and, if it is clearly unreliable, consider removing it from an analysis series, weighing the disadvantage of losing data against the advantage of having only more reliable data.

Short-wavelength perimetry (SWAP)

This perimetry technique features a blue stimulus on yellow background with a higher background bowl luminance than during conventional SAP. The theoretical advantage underpinning this mode of visual function testing is the relatively



Fig. 2. Result of SITA SWAP test showing a superior arcuate/nasal step defect.

less dense matrix of blue cones serving the central visual field: this 'reduced redundancy' may lead to earlier glaucomatous losses being detectable using shorter wavelength stimuli. The SWAP test has a longer test duration than SAP, although a SITA version of SWAP has been developed which shortens the test duration. Research work by several groups has highlighted higher long-term fluctuation than SAP, and probably more a marked confounding effect of cataract. The higher long-term fluctuation characteristic of SWAP theoretically reduces the appeal of SWAP in the detection of VF progression.

There have been published reports which suggested that SWAP is able to detect glaucomatous progression prior to SAP. More recent work by Van de Schoot *et al.* has not supported this:¹³ in a study of 416 ocular hypertensive subjects, 24 eyes of 21 subjects showed conversion using SAP. Of these eyes, 22 did not show earlier conversion in SWAP than in SAP. SAP even demonstrated earlier conversion than SWAP in 15 cases. In only two eyes did SWAP show earlier conversion to glaucoma as SWAP in a large majority of eyes.

SWAP is now considered less valuable for the detection, and monitoring, of glaucomatous progression.



Fig. 3. FDT MATRIX test result from a patient with a superior hemifield defect.

Frequency doubling technology (FDT) perimetry

This rapid visual function test exploits the frequency doubling illusion. Early work has demonstrated a sensitivity of 85%, and a specificity of 90% for the detection of 'early glaucoma' using the HFA as gold standard.¹⁴

There has been limited work to ascertain if FDT is suitable for detecting progression. A recent study by Xin et al. enrolled 33 glaucoma patients (55 eyes).¹⁵ The following tests were performed at two baseline and follow-up exams: Matrix FDT, 24-2 HVF, mf VEP, OCT and stereo-photographs. There was 21.1 (\pm 1.8 months) follow-up. For HVF there were significant changes in MD in eight (14.5%) eyes. For FDT, there were significant changes in MD in 13 (23.6%) eyes. Only five eyes showed changes in MD for both HVF and FDT. Each test showed progression in some eyes, but agreement among tests on which eyes showed progression was poor. In a further study by Fan *et al.*,¹⁶ in eyes with SAP within normal limits of patients with OAG, FDT detected visual field loss in almost two of every three of these eyes and also predicted to some extent future visual field loss on SAP. However, a study has not yet been performed looking at the predictive value of SAP in eyes with normal FDT. Studies comparing FDT against SAP, in eyes with glaucoma defined by structural damage to the optic disc, find that the diagnostic precision of FDT is similar to,¹⁷ or slightly better than,¹⁸ SAP.

A further study,¹⁹ compared the prevalence of functional progression using SAP compared with FDT (C-20/N-30 programmes) in sixty-five patients who were followed for a median of 3.5 years (median number of examinations, 9).

32 (49%) patients were found to have progressing visual fields with FDT, and 32 (49%) patients with SAP. Only 16 (25%) patients showed progression with both methods.

There is only limited evidence, to date, guiding the use of FDT in the monitoring of glaucomatous progression: the data suggest that there is little or no difference in the facility of the SAP and FDT perimeter to measure progression.

High pass resolution perimetry: HPRP

High pass resolution perimetry (HPRP) is a functional test which involves ringshaped stimuli on a monitor with background luminance of 20 cd/m². The measured threshold is the smallest ring resolved by the subject at 50 retinal locations in central 30 degrees. It is thought that the HPRP response correlates directly with ganglion cell density.²⁰ The test is fast, five minutes/eye, and acceptable to patients.²¹ There is only very limited evidence supporting the use of HPRP to detect glaucomatous visual function progression.

In a study reported by Chauhan *et al.*,²² POAG patients were observed for a median of 4.5 years. Fifty-seven patients (50.4%) did not show progression with either technique. Twenty-four patients (21.2%) showed progression with HPRP alone, whereas 6 (5.3%) showed progression with SAP alone. The remaining 26 patients (23.0%) showed progression with both techniques.

There is currently insufficient evidence to support the use of HPRP to monitor glaucomatous functional progression.

Motion sensitivity

Motion sensitivity measures the sensitivity of the patient to a moving stimulus within the central visual field. Tests of motion, lacking any resolution component, constitute a 'hyperacuity' test,²³ and are more robust to the effects of cataract and blur.²⁴ An early version of the test, which tested a single visual field location, did show some potential value in the early detection of functional motion defects which preceded SAP defects with a sensitivity of 75%, and a specificity of 84%.²⁵ More recent work has described further development of a multi-location motion sensitivity test,²⁶ but there is no published work, as yet, describing use in the monitoring of glaucoma progression.

There is currently insufficient evidence to recommend the use of motion sensitivity in monitoring visual field progression.

Advanced disease: SAP stimulus size and 10-2

Advanced glaucomatous visual field loss presents additional challenges to the monitoring of ongoing functional loss. Use of the standard HFA 24-2, or 30-2,

testing patterns will inevitably result in large areas of the tested field showing zero sensitivity, and correspondingly low 'resolution' to detect ongoing VF loss in the remaining few central points that do demonstrate measurable sensitivity. Clearly, many of these patients with MD worse than, perhaps, -20dB, will already have severe functional defects, so may already have experienced maximal intra-ocular pressure (IOP) lowering treatment, *e.g.*, surgery. None-theless, in some patients it will be desirable to continue to monitor even a very small (< 10 degrees) central remaining visual field for ongoing visual field loss. Options include using a larger angular size stimulus, *i.e.*, size V, instead of the standard size III, and/or a more densely populated testing grid, *e.g.*, HFA 10-2. However, at this time, the evidence supporting either of these strategies is neither extensive nor conclusive:

SAP size V versus size III

Size III may overestimate loss in advanced disease (and may underestimate loss in early disease), but is currently used as the perimetric standard because it is probably a reasonable compromise. Gilpin et al. tested ten healthy subjects on the Humphrey Field Analyzer using Goldmann stimulus sizes I-V to determine the effect of varying the area of the stimulus upon threshold:²⁷ an increased total fluctuation was observed for Goldmann stimulus sizes I (3.69 dB) and II (3.17 dB) and a similar fluctuation for stimulus sizes IV (2.64 dB) and V (2.51 dB) as compared to stimulus size III (2.52 dB). The study suggested no advantage results in reduced threshold fluctuation by changing the Goldmann stimulus from a size III when testing normal individuals on the HFA. Wall et al. reported research findings comparing ten patients with glaucoma and five age-matched control volunteers who were tested with the HFA which was used to measure frequency-ofseeing curves.²⁸ At two visual field locations on 24-2, stimuli were presented in 2-dB intervals to at least 10 dB on either side of the estimated program threshold. This protocol was performed for each of three stimulus sizes (Goldmann sizes I, III, and V). For the patients with glaucoma, one test location was chosen in an area of normal visual field sensitivity, the other in an area of 10 to 20 dB loss. Variability was lowest at the abnormal sensitivity test location in glaucoma using a size V stimulus. Differences between the V to III and V to I stimuli were statistically significant (size V = 2.9 dB, III = 10.1 dB, I = 10.1 dB). The conclusion was that the use of size V stimuli in SAP reduces variability in tests of moderately damaged and normal sensitivity test locations in subjects with glaucoma.

Value of HFA 10-2 testing pattern

There is, perhaps surprisingly, little research into the value of 10-2 in advanced glaucoma cases. Much *et al.* reported on 84 eyes of 64 patients who satisfied inclusion criteria with an average follow-up of 8.3 ± 3.1 years.²⁹ During the study period, 14 eyes lost more than three lines of visual acuity. Of these 14, 8 eyes progressed to a visual acuity of 20/200

or worse. Seven eyes lost 3 dB or more from the MD that could be reproduced over two visual fields. They concluded that most treated patients with end-stage glaucoma, whilst quite commonly losing lines of BCVA, did not demonstrate a progressive loss of the central visual field during long-term follow-up. Fujishiro et al. reported on 27 eyes of 27 OAG patients with a best-corrected visual acuity (BCVA) of $\geq 40/200$ and a mean total deviation of test locations of the 10-2 program of the Humphrey VF analyzer of \leq -20 dB preoperatively.³⁰ Intraocular pressure (IOP), VF parameters of the 10-2 program, and BCVA were examined for 12 months after trabeculectomy. IOP decreased from 19.7 ± 5.8 to 9.7 ± 2.6 mmHg (P < 0.001) over one year postoperatively. The slopes of all VF parameters did not significantly differ from zero (P > 0.33), and none of the presumed factors significantly correlated with the slopes of those parameters (P > 0.14). There were two eyes (7%) and one eye (4%) with ≥ 2 lines of deterioration in BCVA at one and 12 months, after surgery with no apparent causes. The group concluded that trabeculectomy resulted in little change in the central 10-degree VF, but significant decrease in BCVA without apparent causes might occur approximately 5% of the cases.

In conclusion, there is not very much evidence available supporting the adoption of a size V target in testing advanced glaucoma cases; there is, however, a clear need for more research into this topic, since this may ultimately prove to be a useful option in some patients. The research that is available does suggest that loss of BCVA is not uncommon in advanced glaucoma, but does not necessarily correspond with measured loss on HFA 10-2 pattern testing. As neither 'size V' nor '10-2' VFs can be analyzed within an existing series of 24-2, or 30-2, HFAs to identify progression, the clinician needs to weigh the benefit of the additional information gained from a change in VF strategy against the loss of facility to determine progression from prior data.

II. Data acquisition in a clinical setting

Nomdo Jansonius, David F. Garway-Heath

Summary

Following the collection of baseline data, low- and moderate-risk glaucoma patients can be monitored with perimetry at a fairly low frequency of typically one test per year provided (1) the baseline fields have been collected over a shorter period and (2) the frequency of testing is increased as soon as progression is suspected to have occurred. High-risk patients should be tested more frequently; patients who have been stable for some time can be monitored at lower rates.

Background information

Introduction

This chapter comprises the 'acquisition in clinical practice' section of the functional progression detection consensus. Since most glaucoma patients are taken care of by general ophthalmologists in many health care systems, the rules given here are aimed to be simple, robust and safe, and are presented in a limited number of easy-to-digest statements. These statements are summarized in the consensus statements presented elsewhere. Below some rationale and evidence for the proposed advice will be given.

About evidence

Consensus statements should be embedded as much as possible in evidence. The evidence hierarchy in medicine is often given to start with systematic reviews and meta-analyses of RCTs, followed by the individual RCTs themselves. In perimetry, these types of evidence are rare and, in fact, may not be able to answer many of the important questions. In perimetric progression detection, mathematical modeling is a commonly-used and valuable tool. This can be accepted as being evidence, as long as several requirements have been fulfilled. First, the inevitable assumptions must be clearly stated and reasonable, and adequately discussed. Second, estimates of model parameters must be based on sound experimental data or reasonable assumptions (see first requirement). Third, the effects of small perturbations or larger deviations from the original parameter values on the final conclusions must be clear (sensitivity analysis), that is, measurement variability must be addressed rather than that only averages of parameter values are used.

Studies versus clinical experience

The costs of perimetry are minor compared to total costs in clinical/research studies. Hence, high perimetric rates are used in order to maximize information yield. In clinical settings, with limited resources and elderly patients that have to travel, and so on, it is worthwhile to look for cost-effective perimetric rates. Moreover, it is important to realize that too frequent perimetry may result in the number of falsely-identified progression cases (false-positives) exceeding the true positive cases of progression, and thus may reduce quality of care; test frequencies appropriate to good clinical care are needed.

Another important difference is that a clinician uses additional clinical information to estimate the prior probability of progression (the likelihood that any given patient may be progressing, before the test result is known) and thus to make decisions and to weigh the need of frequent perimetry. Examples are IOP, disc hemorrhages, disease stage and patient age. In a research study, these additional features are covariates in a multivariate analysis, and, to prevent bias, they should not be part of the outcome measure (progression status) nor should they influence the decision of a treatment change. Studies reveal the risk factors; clinicians use them to optimize care.

For these two reasons perimetric schemes are different in research studies and clinical practice: clinicians have a different job to do.

Acquisition and interpretation influence each other

This chapter is about acquisition. It should be realized that data acquisition and interpretation/analysis mutually influence each other, and treating them independently is to some extent artificial (for example, the number of fields needed for a certain decision depends on the analysis algorithm used; the other way round, the false-positive frequency resulting from the analysis algorithm dictates a minimum required prior probability of change (likelihood of stability), and hence, a minimum follow-up duration (because the prior probability increases with time).

To derive some rules for visual field acquisition in clinical practice, it is assumed that analysis will at least comprise (1) the detection of events; (2) the estimation of a rate (velocity) of progression (ROP); and (3) the timely detection of fast progressors. Most event detection algorithms require two baseline fields and three follow-up fields. These should be collected before clinically important change has occurred in fast progressors. The uncertainty (confidence limits) in a ROP measurement should be much smaller than the range of ROPs found in glaucoma patients (otherwise the measurement does not add any information). This often requires a follow-up of more than five years,³¹ but depends somewhat on the actual ROP and the frequency and spacing of the visual fields. In a shorter period, a measurement of the ROP may be used to *identify* rapidly progressing patients,³² but the estimate of the true ROP is poor. However, the major factor contributing to precise estimates of ROP is duration of follow-up, so that it is difficult to obtain a precise ROP estimate in a period as short as two years. When the ROP is calculated, the precision (confidence intervals for the velocity of change) is also calculated, so the clinician can judge the reliability of the slope (progression velocity) estimate.

Visual field testing in the initial period should be designed to catch rapid progression and provide data for subsequent measurement of ROP over longer periods.

Data acquisition in a clinical setting

New patients/baseline data collection

In patients in whom lifetime risk of visual disability is low, at least two reliable fields should be collected in the first six months; high risk patients may require three fields in the first six months. The reason for this advice is that most event detection algorithms require two baseline fields (EMGT criterion/GPA-I;³³ NPA;^{34,35} GCP³⁶). In perimetrically naive subjects, learning may occur during the initial field;³⁷ a further baseline field should be made in the case of obvious learning. In the Humphrey 'glaucoma progression analysis' (GPA) software, significant learning effects are identified automatically (if all fields are from compatible strategies) and the software warns the user to seek an alternative baseline. In GPA2, the first field is removed automatically if a learning effect is identified. As always, the clinician should judge the fields for reliability and especially fields with high false-positive errors or rim artifacts should be discarded.

Note: Because of this initial learning and of residual learning (small further improvement after the first field), 'progression' within the baseline should alert the clinician to the possibility of rapid progression. A monotonic decrease of the mean deviation (MD) within the baseline may denote this. Here, the clinician should continue frequent visual field testing rather than slowing down to lower frequencies.

Note: The specificity of one of the event detection algorithms, the 'non-parametric progression analysis' (NPA;³⁴ see below) can be improved (false-positive identification reduced) by taking three baseline fields. A good baseline is no waste of resources – you can never go back to make a better one!

Follow-up visual-field test frequency: adaptive testing

For decades, clinicians were used to performing one visual field per year, almost irrespective of individual risks and test results. Several studies have shown that higher perimetric frequencies were better for an optimal information yield.^{32,38,39} These studies assumed the tests to be equally spaced in time. However, clustering of tests may be more efficient ('wait and see')⁴⁰ and higher frequencies of testing are not needed in stable patients, due to the fact that, according to Bayesian mathematics, only fields with suspected progression need confirmation/ falsification. This is the essence of 'adaptive testing.'41 Adaptive testing implies that most patients can be monitored with perimetry at a fairly low frequency as long as (1) a baseline has been made over a short period; and (2) the frequency is increased as soon as progression is suspected to occur. A further field should be performed soon after suspected progression is identified to confirm/refute the progression; a single field with no statistical difference from baseline is sufficient to refute progression. A more detailed analysis⁴² revealed that adaptive testing combines the information yield (ability to identify progression) of four equally-spaced fields per year ('optimal')³⁹ with the costs (number of fields and false positive identification) of two fields per year. Figure 4 shows the effects of wait and see and adaptive testing on the timing of visual field tests.

What follows is a *general rule* for frequency of testing, which needs to be *adapted* in the context of the patient by considering the severity of visual field loss and the presence of (other) risk factors or signs for progression (see elsewhere in consensus document), and life expectancy.⁴³ The timing of visual field tests is determined using the rules of adaptive testing. In adaptive testing, the

| x | | x | | x | | x | x | | x | x | |
|------|-------|--------------------|----------|--------|---------|---------|----------|------|----------|------------|------|
| 7 e | qual | ly-sp | aced vis | sual f | ields, | made : | in 2 yea | irs | | | |
| x | 1 | x | 1 | x | | x | x | i. | x | × | |
| the | 14 | field | may nee | ed to | be dis | carded | because | e of | learning | : 6 fields | left |
| x | 1 | B | B | | × | - | x | 1 | x | × | |
| 2** | and | 3 rd fi | eld are | base | line; l | baselin | e made : | in 6 | months | | |
| x | | в | в | | 5 | | P | | L | | |
| x | | в | в | | x | | s | | P | L | |
| x | | B | B | | * | | × | | S | р | |
| ever | nt: : | 3 suc | cessive | FU fi | ields w | orse ti | nan BL (| susp | ected/po | ssible/lik | ely) |
| x | | в | в | | 1 | 1.0 | | - 1 | SPL | | 7. |
| dete | ectio | on is | more et | ficie | ent if | FU fiel | lds are | clus | tered: w | ait-and-se | e |
| x | 1 | в | B | | | | 27 | T. | x | | |
| if t | the t | first | FU fiel | d is | stable | : no ne | ed to r | epea | t: adapt | ive testin | g |

Fig. 4. Effects of wait and see and adaptive testing on the timing of visual field tests.

next scheduled visual field is performed sooner if progression is suspected on the basis of an 'event' analysis. Here, an event is defined as the occurrence of a measurable change from a predefined baseline.

After the baseline, and in the absence of a suspicion of progression within the baseline (see above: new patients/baseline data collection section), the perimetric frequency can be reduced to typically one test per year in low and medium risk patients. As long as a field made during follow-up is considered to be stable according to the event-detection algorithm used (see below), the frequency can be kept low. When progression is suspected according to the event-detection algorithm used, the field should be repeated within a shorter period. To minimize false-positive 'flagging' of progression, progression can only be diagnosed if confirmed. Failure to confirm progression is sufficient to consider perimetry stable.

Note: A single field suggesting progression is called 'suspected progression'. If confirmed once, it is called 'possible progression' and if confirmed twice 'likely progression' (three successive fields worse than baseline). Reducing the interval before the next field may be initiated after either suspected or possible progression, depending – amongst other things – on the 'possible progression' algorithm used (see below). For GPA, reducing the test interval after 'suspected progression' is advisable because of the very low specificity of GPA 'likely progression'. In that case, a single confirmation is sufficient to reach likely progression. For NPA, accelerating may be initiated already after 'suspected

progression', but in that case two confirmations are needed to reach likely progression. The specificity of NPA 'likely progression' is 90% with two baseline fields and 95% with three baseline fields (see above); hence, three baseline fields are needed to ensure a specificity comparable to that of GPA.^{11, 44} This is an example where acquisition and interpretation influence each other. All this is indicative as there is currently insufficient evidence to provide a definite threshold for repeating a test to confirm progression.

Note: The base rate in adaptive testing is one test per year and is intended for low- and intermediate-risk patients. High-risk patients should be tested more frequently. Although several risk factors for progression have been established (see chapter 4 on Risk Factors, page 101), it is not possible to establish individual progression risks reliably. However, fine-tuning becomes possible with time. In patients without an event in five years, monitoring may be performed at lower rates (for example, by doubling the interval used in the initial five years).

Note: The base rate in adaptive testing of one test per year is not arbitrary, but follows from Bayesian mathematics, specificity data regarding event-detection algorithms, and observational data regarding the incidence of events. The prevalence/prior probability of what you want to observe should be higher than 100-specificity. A measurable event (confirmed progression) occurs, with current event-detection algorithms, in about 10% of the patients per year (treated arm of Early Manifest Glaucoma Trial (GPA);45 Groningen Longitudinal Glaucoma Study (NPA)³⁵). This suggests a prior probability of 10%, but even the likely progression used in these studies does not guarantee a very high positive predictive value,³⁴ and thus some (about half) of the 10% with a measurable event may still be false positives. Thus, if we assume a specificity of 95%, testing frequencies higher than yearly will result in too many false-positive findings. In advanced disease and poor control, the prior probability of progression is higher and the consequence of progression is more important; in adaptive testing this has been implemented by a shortening of the base interval for testing (from one year to, e.g., six months). Similarly, the base interval can (and should) be extended to up to two years in early and well-controlled glaucoma that has been stable for some time.

Note: Only fields with suspected or possible progression need confirmation/ falsification. This is because of the low prior probability of progression (typically 10% per year or less). A single test suggesting stability reduces the probability of progression to a few percent (probability of stability almost 100%). No need for further testing! This conclusion is largely independent of the assumed sensitivity and specificity – because of the low prior probability. A single test suggesting progression increases the probability of progression to, for example, 20%. This is obviously not sufficient to make a management decision, and a repeat test is needed. Experimental data showed that approximately 40% of patients returned to a stable field after an initial confirmation,^{35,46} indicating that two confirmations are needed. If we would confirm/refute progression with the next field taken at the base frequency of one test per year, instead of testing sooner, a delay to decision-making would result. This is the basis of adaptive testing: if stable, perform the next test according to the base frequency; if suspected progression, reduce the test interval to confirm or refute progression. In this way, the information yield is optimized for a given number of tests.

Note: When progression is flagged by an 'event' algorithm, consider the time between baseline and the event. A short interval indicates that progression is likely to be rapid; a long interval indicates that progression may be very slow and may not require intervention. Moreover, false-positive 'flagging' of progression can occur and this becomes more likely the longer a patient is followed. It is, therefore, important to consider all other clinical factors (such as intraocular pressure control, imaging results, presence or absence of disc hemorrhages) when interpreting a statistical flagging of progression.

Note: If no event occurs within five years, MD progression is likely to be slower than 0.5 dB/year. During the initial follow-up period (which may be several years), estimates of the true *rate* of progression are usually imprecise; a patient may be *identified* as progressing, because the velocity of progression is statistically significant, but the true velocity of progression may be faster or slower. Some perimeters (*e.g.*, the Humphrey perimeter) provide the estimated velocity of progression and the 95% range of possible progression velocities; clinicians should interpret this range of possible velocities in the context of all clinical data.

Event-detection algorithms

Table 1 below shows the characteristics of some event-detection algorithms. Table 2 gives the definitions of suspected, possible and likely progression for GPA, GCP and NPA.

| Algorithm | Total deviation (TD) or pattern deviation (PD) based | MD range where the algorithm can be used | Pros and cons |
|-------------------------|---|--|---|
| GPA | PD | 0 to -15 dB | Specificity depends on variability of individual patient; on average, relatively high specificity; HFA only; not for advanced disease |
| GCP | TD | Entire range | Specificity depends on variability of individual patient; HFA only; not available for SITA |
| NPA if applied to MD | TD | Entire range | Specificity equal for all patients and disease stages; specificity relatively low: consider making a third baseline field; applicable to all perimeters |

| Table 1. | Characteristics | of commonl | v used event | detection | algorithms |
|----------|-----------------|------------|--------------|-----------|------------|
| | | | | | |

Note: In the Humphrey GPA software, if the baseline MD is ≤ 15 dB or > 5 dB, the software adds a disclaimer that the baseline MD is out of range. For a
given point, if the sensitivity is ≤ 15 dB or > 5 dB, then the 'change' for that point is set to 'No information' (X) for follow-up examinations.

Note: Algorithms based on total-deviation analysis are prone to confounding by media opacities (see next section).

Note: NPA can also be applied to the VFI and, in early glaucoma, up to an MD of approximately -10 dB, also to the pattern standard deviation (PSD) global index.

Note: GPA and GCP are perimeter-specific. In the Octopus, no event-detection algorithms in the restricted sense exist; here, linear regression on the MD is performed right from the beginning and a slope significant at the P < 0.05 level is considered an event (with a specificity of 95% for each time the analysis is performed). NPA can be used on all perimeters that provide a global monotonic measure of glaucomatous damage (like mean deviation, mean defect or VFI).

| | Suspected progression | Possible progression | Likely progression |
|---------|--|---|---|
| GPA/GCP | \geq 3 open triangles | \geq 3 half-open triangles | \geq 3 black triangles |
| NPA | 1 field with MD < lowest MD of baseline fields | 2 consecutive fields with MD < lowest MD of baseline fields | 3 consecutive fields with MD < lowest MD of baseline fields |

Table 2. Criteria for suspected, possible and likely progression

Note: \geq 3 open triangles is quite common by chance and thus hardly indicative for progression; therefore 'possible progression' requires confirmation in a shorter interval with GPA/GCP (see above).

After diagnosing progression

After an event has been diagnosed, two questions remain. First: is it glaucoma that caused the change? Second: what should be done?

Cause of progression?

The major confounding factor in clinical practice is the development of cataract or posterior capsule opacification. This occurs especially if total deviation analysis is used. Factors that make an optical explanation of the observed progression less likely are:

- 1. Equal damage in total and pattern deviation plot
- 2. Individual test locations with normal sensitivity
- 3. Increase in PSD
- 4. Absence of media opacities

And factors that make an optical explanation of the observed progression more likely:

1. No increase in PSD in the case of an MD better than -10 dB

Neither these rules, nor the application of pattern deviation analysis, facilitate the identification of localized subcapsular posterior cataracts, retinal lesions or disturbances of the higher visual pathways. Slit lamp, ophthalmoscope, and alertness for homonymous and bi-temporal patterns remain indispensable.

Especially in the case of doubt, the prior probability of progression should be taken into account. Factors that influence the prior probability of progression are IOP, glaucoma stage, age, and *e.g.* the occurrence of splinter hemorrhages. However, these factors are at least partially already discounted in the base interval of adaptive testing because they contribute to the classification of a patient in high, intermediate or low risk.

What should be done?

After confirmed progression has been identified, **a treatment change** may be considered. Factors that may contribute to the decision to change treatment are the glaucoma stage, the rate of progression (or time to event), the location of the scotoma(ta) and its progression, the patient's life expectancy,⁴³ the patients preference (some may prefer 'to be on the safe side' or to refrain from treatment as much as possible) and the potential impact (such as safety or tolerability) of the next therapeutic step. Following a significant change in treatment (such as surgery), **a new baseline** must be defined. For the new baseline, the last two fields can be used (*i.e.*, the two fields confirming progression); no need to record additional fields for this! If the event occurred beyond five years after the initial diagnosis or the previous treatment change, the rate of progression can be determined.

Some final remarks

Adaptive testing and fast progressors

With the aforementioned recommendations, six fields (five if the first, learning, field needs to be excluded) will be present already after 1.5 years of follow-up in fast progressors: the baseline fields, one field performed a year after finalizing the baseline and two confirmations a short interval following the observed deterioration. If the test interval is shortened after 'possible progression', as is advocated for GPA, confirmation will take 1.5 to 2.5 years (depending on whether the patient's first visual field can be used). These time periods are in line with existing recommendations and should allow for a timely detection of fast progressors.³² Hence, the approach presented here seems to be an acceptable trade-off, since testing more frequently than this would lead to more false-positive 'flagging' of progression. Within the first five years of follow-up, the estimation of the ROP is usually imprecise, however, in patients with an event within two years, or more than one event in five years, clinicians should be aware of rapid progression. If no event occurs within five years, progression is typically slow (below the median progression rate). Nevertheless, an event will occur sooner or later when there is little or no true progression because the specificity of event-detection algorithms decreases with increasing length of follow-up (every time a new field during follow-up is analyzed for progression, there is an opportunity for a false-positive identification of progression). Following an event, and with a sufficient number of tests and duration of follow-up (typically five years), a ROP, with corresponding confidence limits, can be determined and the management of the patient can be based on this rate and confidence limits, rather than solely on the occurrence of the event itself.

Finally

Although this chapter is about data acquisition rather than analysis, acquisition and analysis are interdependent and from the text above it is clear that the major future research question is a better event-detection algorithm. An ideal algorithm has a high specificity (without compromising sensitivity), a specificity that is based on patient-specific variability rather than variability based on a population, and can be used over the entire disease severity range and with all perimeters.

III. How to measure/detect functional change; statistical approaches

Anders Heijl, Boel Bengtsson

Introduction

The aim of this section is to discuss different methods to assess functional glaucoma progression, to present consensus statements, and to find support from the literature and possible evidence for the usefulness of the different methods.

Trend vs event analyses

Trend analysis is used to measure/quantify progression, and is typically performed by linear regression analysis of a summary visual field index, where the coefficient of the slope denotes 'the rate of progression'. Trend analyses can also be performed at individual test points or parts in the field. Event analysis is designed to detect progression, and is typically performed by comparing followup fields with baseline fields. To flag progression, confirmed deterioration is required in consecutive tests. Focal or regional metrics show the location of the progression, while summary/global metrics show the overall progression over time. This is a simple and comprehensive way to evaluate progression, but it is not particularly sensitive to small local changes.

Local trend analyses for detection of progression have lower sensitivity, but better specificity than event analysis.⁴⁷⁻⁴⁹ Likewise global trend analyses detect progression later than event analyses,⁵⁰ however, the intension with trend analyses is not to detect but to measure progression.

All methods available today, both event and trend analyses, for perimetric progression are insufficient at advanced stages of field loss because of truncation (flooring) effects.

Both trend and event analyses have been available in perimeters since the late eighties.

Linear vs non-linear fits in trend analysis

Several papers suggest that linear regression slopes best describe glaucoma progression in treated patients when regressing mean sensitivity, mean deviation, mean defect or the visual field index over time.⁵¹⁻⁵⁴ A recently published paper by Caprioli and co-workers suggest that an exponential fit should be more appropriate than a linear fit,⁵⁵ which is true at locations or in fields reaching the floor. Thus, this effect is probably caused by truncation. Other global indices describing dispersion of sensitivity values in the field, e.g., pattern standard deviation and loss variance, are similar in normal and in perimetrically blind eyes with a course best described by a second-degree polynomial curve. These two indices, therefore, cannot be used for estimating rate of progression.

Pointwise vs summary parameters

Pointwise and summary parameters are both needed, but for different purposes. Pointwise parameters show the location of the progression. Progression at paracentral points is considerably more clinically important, and also more reliable, than progression at peripheral points. Summary parameters are excellent for measuring general rate of progression, and are used/plotted in easily comprehensible tools to identify patients progressing at rates that threaten quality of life.

Pattern deviation vs total deviation (vs hybrid Visual Field Index)

Total deviation is the deviation from the age corrected normal threshold value, while pattern deviation in addition is corrected for general reduction of sensitivity. The purpose of introducing the pattern deviation concept was to reduce effects on visual field interpretation caused by media opacities.⁵⁶ Entirely diffuse sensitivity loss is rare in glaucoma,⁵⁷ but at least at the stage of moderate glaucomatous field loss a diffuse component is added to the localized loss. This means that basing progression on numerical pattern deviation values only will underestimate sensitivity loss caused by glaucoma.^{58,59} The visual field index identifies glaucomatous loss in pattern deviation probability maps, but calculates defect depth using numerical total deviation values. A study comparing rate of progression calculated by mean deviation values (mean deviation is a weighted mean of all numerical total deviation values) and by the visual field index, showed similar rates in pseudophakic glaucoma eyes, while rate of progression was smaller with the visual field index than with mean deviation in eyes with increasing cataract.⁶⁰

Clinical routine vs clinical trials

Simplicity is important for clinical routine. Interpretation of trend analyses of a summary index over time is rather intuitive, or can at least be easily taught/ learned.

Commercially available progression analyses should be recommended for clinical management.

Validated techniques (event analyses) for detection of progression are suitable for clinical trials (event analysis generally detect progression earlier than trend analysis). The techniques applied in clinical trials are not always suitable for clinical routine, because of differences in testing frequencies, because trial endpoints may be complicated and/or include difficult calculations, or because trials may have been designed for particular stages of glaucoma, et cetera.

Estimating criterion specificity

How can we assess specificity for methods detecting or measuring functional progression? Random test-retest variability may be determined in glaucomatous people at different stages of disease by re-testing patients with intervals short enough that no measurable progression may have occurred. This was done when developing glaucoma change probability maps. The short time interval used, *e.g.*, about one month, may have resulted in smaller variations than would be typical with much longer test intervals.

In the change probability maps each test point has a risk of 5% to falsely be flagged as significantly deteriorated. Considering the relatively large number of test points, 52 in the 24-2 pattern, or 74 in 30-2 pattern, one should expect to have several test point falsely flagged as significantly deteriorated by chance alone. By requiring a certain number of test points to be flagged repeatedly as significantly deteriorated in consecutive tests, specificity increases considerably.

In trend analyses a significant negative slope is often regarded as a sign of progression, but an almost flat slope with just a minimal negative gradient can be statistically significant, and not clinically significant, if the scatter across the regression line is minimal. One should, therefore, consider the gradient of the slope when assessing possible regression.

Finding a valid reference standard when studying specificity of different progression criteria is problematic. Computer simulations have been used⁴⁷ and also consensus by expert observers,¹¹ but such agreement among observers have been reported to be not particular good.^{49,61}

Evidence

Progression trend of global indices tends to be fairly linear in treated patients, except in those developing very advanced loss where the effect of truncation change the course of the slope.

Specificity is difficult to determine because of lack of reliable reference standards. Randomizing test sequence is one possible approach to assure that true progression is not falsely classified as non-progression.

IV. Use of visual field testing in clinical trials

Douglas R. Anderson

Introduction: Clinical Research

The traditional 'clinical trial' is a comparison of two groups with two different managements; the principles are the same whenever two groups are compared over a period of time. Some principles apply even when there is only one group, for example to document the range of rates by which glaucoma progresses in a specific group of people.

Measurements of changes in structure or of visual function (or electrophysiologic function) may be appropriate outcome measures of whether the condition is progressing. Other research may aim to determine outcome in terms of the deterioration of the ability to perform tasks, or to enjoy life. Although very important, these impairment or disability outcomes are not included in the scope of the present discussion.

The basis for visual fields as an indicator of progression

Visual field testing is used to measure how function changes (presumably for the worse) over time.

Event analysis and rate analysis

Visual fields are important in *diagnosis* and in determining the *impairment* of the individual; but here we focus on progression, that is use of a *change in visual field measurement* as a means of *determining change (worsening) of the glaucomatous damage.* This analysis of functional changes (usually worsening) over time may be done by tabulating 'Events' or by calculating 'Rates of Change' over time.

Analysis by 'events'

An 'event' represents the point in time when a presumably continuous subclinical deterioration of visual function crosses a threshold amount of change compared to some baseline and that there is a certain statistical likelihood that the apparent change in genuine.

To be meaningful, an event (a change from baseline) must be statistically significant. In clinical care of individuals, the event must also be of a magnitude to be consequential to the patient's present or future lifestyle. However, for many clinical studies, the event may not have to be of a consequential magnitude as long as it is statistically significant and is specific (consistently different from the baseline). For example, in the untreated arm of some recent studies, small changes must be detected for ethical reasons, but also specificity must be maintained (in order to avoid false positive determinations of progression events).

Comparing studies

In an effort to satisfy requirements of particular studies, the definition of an 'event' varies among studies. Because the definitions of progression differ, the incidence of progression events cannot be compared between studies. Additionally, the studies involve different populations, perhaps with meaningful differences in the type of glaucoma or the stages of disease in the cohorts.

Therefore, the outcome of treatment for a group in one study cannot be compared to the outcome of another treatment in a group in a different study (different event criteria, different makeup of cohorts studies).

When different criteria that constitute an 'event' are applied to the same data, they may yield similar or yield different incidence-frequencies of progression or developing glaucoma. Even when the incidence frequency is the same, two different criteria often do not identify the same individuals as progressing.

Specific example:⁵⁹ In OHTS, the criterion used for visual fields was 'conversion' from a normal field to an abnormal one. When an event analysis criterion for 'progression' is applied instead, the treated and untreated groups are still demonstrably different, but the two criteria do not identify the same individuals as having developed glaucoma. The presumed explanation is that some individuals started barely within normal limits, and changed slightly to become abnormal ('converted'), without meeting event criteria for progression, while perhaps others were highly normal at baseline, could be shown to have progressed, but didn't 'convert' to having diagnosable glaucoma, being still in the normal range. Hence, Venn diagrams show poor agreement between the two criteria with regard to which individuals are identified, even though the two different criteria yield the same relative incidence of endpoint events.

When visual field tests are performed regularly to probe whether progression has occurred, the specificity of the criterion becomes important. As an increasing number of tests are performed (either on one patient by virtue of long follow up, or as a consequence of having large cohorts and hence more examinations), it becomes increasingly likely that a statistically significant event will occur falsely.⁴² To overcome this problem, confirmation of some sort is required. It would make sense that as the number of follow-up tests increases, the number of confirmations required to be increased to maintain specificity (or that other signs of progression are required to accompany the visual field event). Another solution is to require lower p-values as additional tests are performed. The fear of losing sensitivity might be mitigated by the fact that, if it takes a long time for a statistically significant event to occur and, therefore, is in need multiple confirmations, it is likely that the progression is slow and time expended in confirmations is of little consequence.

Event analysis is developed from all the re-test values found on re-testing at locations with a given baseline value on the first test (or averaged baseline tests). Because the cohort includes individuals who are highly variable, significant deviation from the baseline includes the highly variable individuals, which helps ensure that progression is not flagged because of deviant values in a highly variable individual, improving the overall specificity. However, were it possible to know that a particular individual has low variability, it is theoretically possible to detect a smaller change with higher statistical certainty. The mean of duplicate or triplicate baseline tests gives a somewhat more credible starting value, but gives a poor estimate of the individual's variability. This is the basis for 'non-parametric progression analysis' (NPA).³⁴ However, individual variability of testing is not estimated accurately from baseline tests, and population test-retest variance is used. In contrast, when the rate of decline of a variable (to be discussed below) is determined, the repeatability of an individual patient is automatically taken into account; more test results are required to achieve significance of the trend when reproducibility is poor than when reproducibility is good.

Ageing changes

Visual deterioration with age is a confounder. It is undoubtedly due to a change in the anatomy and physiology of the eye and nervous system (the optical pathway from cornea to retina, and the neural pathway from the photoreceptors, through the visual cortex, to the region of cognition). Changes with age can be considered to tissue deteriorations of various sorts, but they are not the disease under study, that is, glaucoma. Usually an age-related normative data set is used to overcome the average age-related deterioration, and abnormality is expressed as a 'deviation' from the mean value of the measurement among people of that age. Further correction can be made for any diffuse loss due to diseases of age (like cataract) that may be more pronounced in some individuals, for example by making use of the 'pattern deviation' values. However, this correction for uniform diffuse loss from most age-related disease also removes any uniform general dysfunction caused by glaucoma. Thus, only information from those regions that deteriorate to a greater degree than any general deterioration will contribute to a recognizable 'event' of progression due to glaucoma. Without these corrections for age, for general visual deterioration, or both, 'events' defined as a fixed amount of decline at more than a defined number of points will occur without ongoing progressive increase of glaucomatous damage. For the most part, however, with the corrections presently developed and used widely, changes due to age or disease such as cataract do not interfere with evaluation glaucomatous progression. They do not correct for diseases that produce local visual deficiencies, examples of which are macular degeneration, chorioretinal scars, retinal branch vascular occlusion, and lesions along the neural pathway.

In light of their deficiencies, why do we use event criteria? Defining 'events' does have the advantage of permitting a well-established statistical method to be used, that is, the 'life table' (Kaplan-Meier) analysis with enhancements for multivariate analysis. In this way, comparison of two groups possible in a manner familiar and easily understood.

Insufficient data are available to judge whether statistical analyses comparing study outcomes by 'event' analysis are more or less powerful for showing statistical significance of a difference between two groups than a comparison of rates of decline of a variable.

Rate (or trend) analysis

There are two rates. *Incidence rate* (or cumulative frequency) of events is the number who convert to glaucoma or reach some other threshold criterion (expressed as events per time, or percent per year). In contrast, *Rate of change* in some quantity may be expressed as the number of dB lost per unit time (ΔdB / year). In the previous section we dealt with events, including incidence 'rates'. Now we deal with a fundamentally different 'rate', a trend for change over time.

Trend analysis may take several forms, but is an attempt to estimate a rate of change of some *measurement* (visual threshold, thickness of retinal nerve fiber layer, and so on) that is presumed to have a *direct relationship to the underlying damage* or disease mechanisms (death of axons, failure of axons to transmit impulse, changes in astroglia physiology, loss of support from lamina cribrosa, and other unknown injuries). However, confounders, such as cataract development, should be considered.

Studying the trend of the visual threshold measurement is useful. Global summary measures are not the only clinically relevant parameter for visual impairment, but also bilaterally, diffuse versus local loss, location of loss, etc. Rates (rather than artificial 'events') have an inherent interest as a clinically relevant parameter, because for clinical purposes the rate, combined with location of the worsening defects, life expectancy, and so on, can be combined to decide whether more assertive therapy is needed. In the context of research studies, there may be room for theoretical and empirical work to find ways to use rates more effectively in clinical studies.

The visual field variable usually studied is one of the global indices, a number derived from all the tested locations. However, trend analysis is also used on individual locations, or on anatomically logical groups of tested locations. Most statisticians seem to feel that in a regression analysis, an estimate of the slope with decent confidence requires six or more data points, which coincides with empirical experience.³² Greater power (confidence in the slope esitmate) is obtained if three tests are performed at baseline and another trio at the end of the follow-up (say, two or three years), rather than six tests evenly distributed through the time.⁴⁰

In addition to the number of tests, the time between tests in relation to the rapidity of the decline is important. Six tests one day apart will likely not give a meaningful estimate. The range of time over which the slope is meaningfully estimated for an individual will depend on the test-retest variance and the actual slope of the change in the variable being analyzed.

In principle, if two groups are being compared, it may not be necessary that the rates of each individual be quantified accurately if a difference between the average rate in the two groups can be shown.⁶² Development of such a method would be equivalent to signal averaging, in which noisy variation is removed to reveal the average trend.

It does not seem well established whether loss of axons in untreated glaucoma is loss of a fixed number of axons per year or a fixed percentage of the remaining axons (or neither). Empirical data suggest that at least one summary statistic of visual fields (MD) has a linear decline in progressive individuals under treatment for glaucoma, but further work on these issues (linear or nonlinear degree of damage over time, and linear or non-linear relationship between amount of damage and measured variables) is needed.

At some time-point a rate of decline becomes statistically significant. One strategy for analysis might be to consider reaching statistical significance is an 'event', and to use statistics designed for event analysis. Another strategy might be to deal directly with rates, or statistical significance of a difference in rates between two cohorts being compared.

If there is a change in management, the next visual field test could be the beginning of another series to be evaluated with a trend analysis from that time onward, as new tests are obtained, which requires patience to obtain a sufficient number of tests over a sufficient passage of time to show a change in the rate of deterioration. Alternatively, there are statistical procedures that will determine more objectively whether there is a change is the downward slope at a particular time, and an effort might be made to relate this tipping point in time to a change in glaucoma management, to a change in the patient's general health, or some other cause. If the field test results are variable, it may be difficult to decide whether two periods of time have different slopes, or alternatively that the decline is simply non-linear.

An advantage of trend analysis is that, in highly invariant individuals, the slope may be estimated reliably in a shorter time. Reliable measurements are thus of advantage when estimating the deterioration of an individual. For those individuals with high variability, reaching an endpoint may be delayed until there is enough decline to overcome the variance (while they would be at risk of a false positive progression event if event analysis is used; such individuals would be subject to false designations of progression if the population average variance was assumed, as is the case for most event analysis techniques). It has recently been proposed that rate of deterioration might be discerned in noisy data by assigning the average population test-retest variance,⁶³ but scientific evaluation of this approach is just beginning.

In many traditional applications, statistical analysis determines whether the slope is statistically different from zero, and the time when the slope became statistically different from zero is counted as a progression event. However, in the present context of comparing two groups, as in a clinical trial, the standard error of the average slopes of the two groups might be used to determine whether the average slopes are different. If most individuals in a cohort have slow deterioration, or none, they may dominate the averages and make distinction between the groups difficult to discern. In such instances, it may be advantageous to study 'events' and use Kaplan Meier life table analysis.

Bullet points

- In the context of a clinical study comparing two groups, the statistical task is to compare average rates between two groups, that is, to determine that the rates between the groups are different, not to determine the rate of each group. Use of the average deterioration in each group may overcome interference from variances that prevent estimates of the deterioration rate of particular individuals.
- Comparison of rates may be a comparison between two periods of time (before and after an intervention, for example) rather than a comparison of two cohorts.
- A potential advantage of rate analysis of an individual is that individual differences in variances is automatically taken into account when determining statistical significance of the slope (that is, whether the slope differs from zero or not).
- A potential disadvantage when comparing two groups is that the average slope may be dominated by many who have little or no progression.
- Development and empirical testing of statistical methods that utilize slopes is needed to determine whether they have advantage over Kaplan Meier event analysis for comparing two groups and the optimal method for doing so.

Reference cohorts in research

Determination of progression and comparison of two or more cohorts requires statistical analysis, which ultimately requires control or knowledge of variances. These include population variance, as well as measurement variances, including repeatability and reproducibility. In some settings, variances are reduced by including only subjects with low FP or FL rates, for example. This may permit closer determination of relationships of structure and function, or may more cleanly determine that two groups differ.

In other contexts, exclusion of individuals with high retest variance will mean that the scientific results may not be applicable individuals who do not provide reproducible fields. In this way, the results cannot be generalized to the broader population. If a large proportion of otherwise eligible subjects is excluded, the results may not apply with certainty to the broader population.

It is easy to overlook that studies performed on selected patients may well not apply to those who would not have been eligible for the study. At the same time, complete understanding of the results may require that instances in which the apparent progression was not due to glaucoma.

Bullet points

- In performing clinical studies, it is important to consider the clinical context in which the results will likely be applied, and not to exclude patients to whom the study results might be applied by clinicians not conversant with the eligibility requirements used for the study.
- There may be times when the scientific question permits selection of subjects in order to reduce the unwanted impact of variable and unreliable field tests, or the effects of age and non-glaucomatous disease. However, for other scientific studies, such selection of subjects for study may limit the applicability of the findings to the general population, particularly if a large proportion of volunteers are considered ineligible to participate.
- Even in studies meant to have results that can be generalized, it is wise to identify individuals in whom visual decline is not caused by glaucoma, but by cataract, macular degeneration, diabetes, other vascular disease, intracranial disease, or other causes.

V. Research priorities for functional assessment of progression

William H. Swanson

Bullet points

- Determine appropriate ranges of stimulus contrasts for size III, and develop new stimuli with larger ranges of appropriate stimulus contrasts.
- Improve the interface between perimetrist and device, and between patient and device.
- Develop alternate methods for selecting stimulus locations in order to avoid extensive testing of blind areas and to focus on areas of interest.

A century and a half of clinical perimetry has produced a powerful tool that nothing else can match: we treat patients with glaucoma with the goal of preventing loss of vision, and nothing else can assess visual loss from glaucoma as well as perimetry does. Yet there are several research areas that could allow us to make this good tool even better. In the latter part of the twentieth century there were efforts to detect perimetric defects earlier than conventional perimetry ('pre-perimetric' glaucoma), but over the past decade it has become clear that conventional perimetry is already good enough,⁶⁴ and that in many patients perimetric defects are found before glaucomatous optic neuropathy is detected.^{65,66} What we need is improved ability to detect progression of glaucomatous defects, because test-retest variability is quite high in scotomata.^{67,68}

The first century of perimetry involved the doctor testing the patient, and with Goldmann's standardization⁶⁹ it became possible for trained perimetrists to provide reliable and repeatable findings that trained doctors could assess. However, it could take months to train a new perimetrist to give repeatable and reliable results, and two perimetrists could obtain significantly different results on the same patient.⁷⁰ Automated perimetry had the goal that different perimetrists would obtain similar results from the same patient, yet as it has moved towards this goal it has seen declines in the repeatability within scotomata. What could make a good tool better, for assessing progression, would be to reduce test-retest variability in defects while retaining perimetry's good ability to detect visual loss. This will involve improved selection of stimuli and test locations, better training of perimetrists, better selection and training of patients, and improved interfaces between the patient, perimetrist, and perimeter.

Conventional automated perimetry uses stimuli that Goldmann based on the methods and laws of psychophysics of the first half of the twentieth century, and with modern display systems we have the opportunity to use new stimuli to reduce variability by utilizing the knowledge of contemporary spatial vision and neurophysiology. Perimetric testing in patients with glaucoma emphasizes technology, but we need to improve the interface between the technician and perimeter, and between the patient and the perimeter.

Automated perimetry was standardized at a time when computing power was limited, and, for a given patient, the doctor had to choose one of several available sets of test locations. Regular grids of locations (30-2, 10-2, 24-2, 60-4) made it possible to compute an interpolated grayscale map of the measured sensitivities, providing clinicians with a visual portrayal that could be compared to the isopters measured with kinetic perimetry. The success of these comparisons lead to widespread adoption of automated perimetry, and emphasis shifted from the interpolated grayscale map to regular grids of probability maps. Statistical analyses have tended to focus on how many adjoining locations show losses, without reference to nerve fiber layer maps. However, glaucomatous scotomata are more likely to follow nerve fiber patterns than locations on a regular grid, so we need a new assessment of choice of stimulus locations.

Stimuli

What is conventional today was new in its time. Perimetry began in the midnineteenth century with a physical test object moved to determine the 'perimeter' of the visual field, and was useful for characterizing hemianopsias, ring scotoma, an enlarged blind spot and concentric constriction. By the start of the twentieth century, smaller test objects were being used to measure more subtle defects in the central visual field, allowing detection of arcuate defects. By the mid-twentieth century physical stimuli had been replaced by increments of light produced by an optical system, allowing standardization by using the psychophysical standards of the time.

Basic spatial vision research today uses display systems instead of optical systems, and emphasizes low contrasts. The automation of perimetry left us with a single Goldmann stimulus (size III) and another log unit of contrasts.⁷¹ The utility of these high contrasts is not clear. and adds to test-retest variability in defects. In the 21st century we can use the tools and knowledge of basic psychophysics to develop improved perimetric stimuli.

Goldmann focused on differential light sensitivity for describing thresholds, while contemporary psychophysics focuses on stimulus contrast for describing thresholds. Basic vision science has found that the human visual system has the greatest sensitivity to stimuli that are patches of sinusoidal gratings,⁷² and with appropriate choice of parameters these can be detected at contrasts near 3% throughout the central visual field.⁷³ By comparison, for size III stimulus the contrast required for detection in normal eyes ranges from 10% contrast ('35 dB') to 100% contrast ('25 dB'). In scotomata, very high contrasts are used, such 1000% ('15 dB') and 10,000% ('5 dB').

The use of high contrasts may be a primary cause of high test-retest variability.⁷⁴ Psychophysical algorithms assume near-threshold linearity: near threshold, the internal responses mediating detection increase linearly with contrast. This is appropriate for low contrasts, where retinal ganglion cell responses increase linearly with stimulus contrast. However, at high contrasts the responses of ganglion cells become nonlinear, increasing more and more slowly to increase in contrast.⁷⁵ A ganglion cell response may increase by a factor of 3 when stimulus contrast increases from 10% ('35 dB') to 30% ('30 dB'), but only by a factor 1.5 when contrast increases from 100% ('25 dB') to 3000% ('20 dB') and may show no increase at all from 10,000% ('15 dB') to 30,000% ('10 dB').⁷⁶

When stimulus contrast is kept below 100%, test-retest variability remains low.⁷⁷ By using perimetric stimuli for which mean normal contrast threshold is near 3%, we could more easily avoid high contrasts. In damaged areas, where contrast sensitivity is low, it may be more useful to increase stimulus size rather than use high stimulus contrasts. When evaluating new stimuli, we want to assess effects of lens opacity, pupillary miosis, stray light, and refractive error, as well as normal between-subject variability and test-retest variability in defects. For the size III stimulus, we need to determine appropriate ranges of stimulus contrasts, and assess use of an increase in size in order to avoid high contrasts

(0 to 15 dB). We also need to develop new indices that are related to ganglion cell loss or functional impairment rather than stimulus contrasts, and can be compared across stimuli. Assessment of external validity is important – multiple sites should evaluate the same test.

Interface

In clinical perimetry today it is not unusual for a technician to leave the room while a patient is being tested, or to supervise several patients simultaneously. We need more research to determine the components of technician activity which impact the test outcome. We also need research on identifying which patients who need perimetry are likely to perform the task well, and which may require more diligent monitoring than others.

Some perimeters have gaze tracking, but do not use this to adjust the position of the stimulus or to reject a stimulus presentation where an eye movement or lid closure may have affected performance. We need better use of gaze tracking.

False positive and false negative rates have traditionally been used in psychophysics to assess subject performance, but in perimetry today neither index is very reliable. High false negative rates in patients may simply be due to shallow frequency-of-seeing (FOS) curves, so stimulus development that resulted in steeper FOS curves could allow estimation of false negative rates. False positive rates can be estimated by 'catch trials' in which no stimulus is shown, but in order to have accurate estimates large numbers of catch trials are needed and this increases test duration. Response times are used in some instruments to assess false positive rates, but problems have been found with this approach as well.⁷⁸ Research is needed to improve assessment of false positive rates.

The first century of perimetry began with measuring just an outer isopter, the perimeter of the visual field, using a large bright test object. When use of smaller and dimmer stimuli added detection of scotomata in the central visual field, the measurement of isopters by trained perimetrists ensured that much of the time patients were seeing and responding to stimuli. When perimetry was automated, the use of fixed grids of test locations lead to the unfortunate result that automated perimetry takes longer in patients with extensive loss, and that these patients spend much of the test not seeing most stimuli while patients free of field loss would see about half of the stimuli. A patient with a superior hemifield defect would need to be tested with the 24-2 to assess progression in the inferior hemifield, yet a 10-2 field would help assess progression in the superior field near fixation. We need a new assessment of choice of visual field locations.

Test locations

We need to develop alternate methods for selecting stimulus locations in order to avoid extensive testing of blind areas and to focus on areas of interest. If the test locations were adapted to the individual patient, then for a patient with a superior hemifield defect many locations would be in the inferior hemifield, and a number would be in the macula, and a few large bright stimuli would be used to check that the blind superior hemifield was still non-seeing. Choice of locations could be based on an outer isopter measured on the first visit, data from prior visits, or suprathreshold perimetry. However, the standard for automated perimetry today is to use a fixed grid of test locations and assess how sensitivity at these locations changes over time. In order to adapt location selection to individual patients, we need new methods for assessing change over time. New methods for selecting locations should also allow the clinician to identify non-glaucomatous causes of field loss (*e.g.*, pituitary adenoma).

Today, the standard grids test only the central visual field, a decision that was justified in terms of sensitivity and specificity – it was estimated that peripheral perimetry would cause only modest increases in sensitivity but would decrease specificity due to the wide variability in normal values for peripheral perimetry. However, for patients with severe field loss, some data outside the central visual field could help assess functional impairment.⁷⁹ For instance, in a patient with advanced disease, the presence of a residual temporal island can enhance mobility, so it would be useful for clinicians know whether a temporal island exists and whether disease progression is affecting it.

References

- 1. European Glaucoma Society. Terminology and guidelines for glaucoma. 3 ed. Savona, Italy: Dogma; 2008.
- 2. Heijl A, Krakau CET. An automatic perimeter for glaucoma visual field screening and control: Construction and clinical cases. Graefe's Arch Clin Exp Ophthalmol 1975; 197: 13-23.
- 3. Fankhauser F, Spahr J, Bebie H. Some aspects of the automation of perimetry. Surv Ophthalmol 1977; 22: 131-141.
- 4. Li SG, Spaeth GL, Scimeca HA, Schatz NJ, Savino PJ. Clinical experiences with the use of an automated perimeter (Octopus) in the diagnosis and management of patients with glaucoma and neurologic diseases. Ophthalmology 1979; 86: 1302-1316.
- 5. Keltner JL, Johnson CA. Effectiveness of automated perimetry in following glaucomatous visual field progression. Ophthalmology 1982; 89: 247-254.
- Heijl A, Asman P. A Clinical Study of Perimetric Probability Maps. Arch Ophthalmol 1989; 107: 198-203.
- 7. Asman P, Heijl A. Glaucoma Hemifield Test. Automated visual field evaluation. Arch Ophthalmol 1992; 110: 812-819.
- 8. Bengtsson B, Heijl A. Evaluation of a new perimetric threshold strategy, SITA, in patients with manifest and suspect glaucoma. Acta Ophthalmol Scand 1998; 76: 268-272.
- Gordon-Bennett PS, Ioannidis AS, Papageorgiou K, Andreou PS. A survey of investigations used for the management of glaucoma in hospital service in the United Kingdom. Eye (Lond) 2008; 22: 1410-1418.
- Myint J, Edgar DF, Kotecha A, Murdoch IE, Lawrenson JG. A national survey of diagnostic tests reported by UK community optometrists for the detection of chronic open angle glaucoma. Ophthalmic Physiol Opt 2011; 31: 353-359.
- 11. Heijl A, Bengtsson B, Chauhan BC, et al. A comparison of visual field progression criteria of 3 major glaucoma trials in early manifest glaucoma trial patients. Ophthalmology 2008; 115: 1557-1565.

- 12. Bengtsson B. Reliability of computerized perimetric threshold tests as assessed by reliability indices and threshold reproducibility in patients with suspect and manifest glaucoma. Acta Ophthalmol Scand 2000; 78: 519-522.
- 13. van der Schoot J, Reus NJ, Colen TP, Lemij HG. The ability of short-wavelength automated perimetry to predict conversion to glaucoma. Ophthalmology 2010; 117: 30-34.
- 14. Cello KE, Nelson-Quigg JM, Johnson CA. Frequency doubling technology perimetry for detection of glaucomatous visual field loss. Am J Ophthalmol 2000; 129: 314-322.
- Xin D, Greenstein VC, Ritch R, Liebmann JM, De Moraes CG, Hood DC. A comparison of functional and structural measures for identifying progression of glaucoma. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 2011; 52: 519-526.
- Fan X, Wu LL, Ma ZZ, Xiao GG, Liu F. Usefulness of frequency-doubling technology for perimetrically normal eyes of open-angle glaucoma patients with unilateral field loss. Ophthalmology 2010; 117: 1530-1537, e1531-1532.
- 17. Tafreshi A, Sample PA, Liebmann JM, et al. Visual function-specific perimetry to identify glaucomatous visual loss using three different definitions of visual field abnormality. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 2009; 50: 1234-1240.
- Racette L, Medeiros FA, Zangwill LM, Ng D, Weinreb RN, Sample PA. Diagnostic accuracy of the Matrix 24-2 and original N-30 frequency-doubling technology tests compared with standard automated perimetry. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 2008; 49: 954-960.
- Haymes SA, Hutchison DM, McCormick TA, et al. Glaucomatous visual field progression with frequency-doubling technology and standard automated perimetry in a longitudinal prospective study. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 2005; 46: 547-554.
- 20. Popovic Z, Sjöstrand J. The relation between resolution measurements and numbers of retinal ganglion cells in the same human subjects. Vision Res 2005; 45: 2331-2338.
- Dannheim F, Abramo F, Verlohr D. Comparison of automated conventional and spatial resolution perimetry in glaucoma. In: Heijl A (Ed.), Perimetry Update: 1988/89. Amsterdam: Kugler & Ghedini; 1989: pp. 383-392.
- 22. Chauhan BC, House PH, McCormick TA, LeBlanc RP. Comparison of conventional and high-pass resolution perimetry in a prospective study of patients with glaucoma and healthy controls. Arch Ophthalmol 1999; 117: 24-33.
- 23. Fitzke FW. Clinical psychophysics. Eye 1988; 2: S233-S241.
- 24. Bergin C, Redmond T, Nathwani N, et al. The Effect of Induced Intraocular Straylight on Perimetric Tests. Invest Ophthalmol & Vis Sci 2011; 52: 3676-3682.
- Baez KA, McNaught AI, Dowler JG, Poinoosawmy D, Fitzke FW, Hitchings RA. Motion detection threshold and field progression in normal tension glaucoma. Br J Ophthalmol 1995; 79: 125-128.
- Verdon-Roe GM, Westcott MC, Viswanathan AC, Fitzke FW, Garway-Heath DF. Exploration of the psychophysics of a motion displacement hyperacuity stimulus. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 2006; 47: 4847-4855.
- 27. Gilpin LB, Stewart WC, Hunt HH, Broom CD. Threshold variability using different Goldmann stimulus sizes. Acta Ophthalmol (Copenh) 1990; 68: 674-676.
- 28. Wall M, Kutzko KE, Chauhan BC. Variability in patients with glaucomatous visual field damage is reduced using size V stimuli. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 1997; 38: 426-435.
- 29. Much JW, Liu C, Piltz-Seymour JR. Long-term survival of central visual field in end-stage glaucoma. Ophthalmology 2008; 115: 1162-1166.
- Fujishiro T, Mayama C, Aihara M, Tomidokoro A, Araie M. Central 10-degree visual field change following trabeculectomy in advanced open-angle glaucoma. Eye (Lond) 2011; 25: 866-871.
- Jansonius NM. On the accuracy of measuring rates of visual field change in glaucoma. Br J Ophthalmol 2010; 94: 1404-1405.
- 32. Chauhan BC, Garway-Heath DF, Goni FJ, et al. Practical recommendations for measuring rates of visual field change in glaucoma. Br J Ophthalmol 2008; 92: 569-573.

- Heijl A, Leske MC, Bengtsson B, Hussein M. Measuring visual field progression in the Early Manifest Glaucoma Trial. Acta Ophthalmol Scand 2003; 81: 286-293.
- Jansonius NM. Bayes' theorem applied to perimetric progression detection in glaucoma: from specificity to positive predictive value. Graefes Arch Clin Exp Ophthalmol 2005; 243: 433-437.
- Wesselink C, Heeg GP, Jansonius NM. Glaucoma monitoring in a clinical setting: glaucoma progression analysis vs nonparametric progression analysis in the Groningen Longitudinal Glaucoma Study. Arch Ophthalmol 2009; 127: 270-274.
- Heijl A, Lindgren G, Lindgren A, et al. Extended empirical statistical package for evaluation of single and multiple fields in glaucoma: Statpac 2. In: Mills RP, Heijl A (Eds.), Perimetry Update 1990/91. Amsterdam: Kugler & Ghedini; 1991: pp. 303-315.
- 37. Heijl A, Bengtsson B. The effect of perimetric experience in patients with glaucoma. Arch Ophthalmol 1996; 114: 19-22.
- Viswanathan AC, Hitchings RA, Fitzke FW. How often do patients need visual field tests? Graefes Arch Clin Exp Ophthalmol 1997; 235: 563-568.
- Gardiner SK, Crabb DP. Frequency of testing for detecting visual field progression. Br J Ophthalmol 2002; 86: 560-564.
- 40. Crabb DP, Garway-Heath DF. Wait and See: Varying the Interval Between Visits to Get Better Estimates of the Rate of Visual Field Progression in Glaucoma. ARVO Meeting Abstracts 2009; 50: 1669.
- 41. Jansonius NM. Towards an optimal perimetric strategy for progression detection in glaucoma: from fixed-space to adaptive inter-test intervals. Graefe's Arch Clin Exp Ophthalmol 2006; 244: 390-393.
- 42. Jansonius NM. Progression detection in glaucoma can be made more efficient by using a variable interval between successive visual field tests. Graefe's Arch Clin Exp Ophthalmol 2007; 245: 1647-1651.
- 43. Wesselink C, Stoutenbeek R, Jansonius NM. Incorporating life expectancy in glaucoma care. Eye 2011; in press.
- 44. Artes PH, Sharpe GP, O'Leary N, Crabb DP. Visual Field Progression In Glaucoma: The Specificity of the Guided Progression Analysis Varies Considerably Between Individual Patients. ARVO Meeting Abstracts 2011; 52: 4148.
- 45. Heijl A, Leske MC, Bengtsson B, Hyman L, Hussein M. Reduction of intraocular pressure and glaucoma progression: results from the Early Manifest Glaucoma Trial. Arch Ophthalmol 2002; 120: 1268-1279.
- 46. Lee AC, Sample PA, Blumenthal EZ, Berry C, Zangwill L, Weinreb RN. Infrequent confirmation of visual field progression. Ophthalmology 2002; 109: 1059-1065.
- 47. Vesti E, Johnson CA, Chauhan BC. Comparison of different methods for detecting glaucomatous visual field progression. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 2003; 44: 3873-3879.
- 48. Kovalska M, Grieshaber MC, Schötzau A, et al. Detection of visual field progression in glaucoma. Klin Monbl Augenheilkd 2008; 225: 342-345.
- 49. Viswanathan AC, Crabb DP, McNaught AI, et al. Interobserver agreement on visual field progression in glaucoma: a comparison of methods. Br J Ophthalmol 2003; 87: 726-730.
- Casas-Llera P, Rebolleda G, Muñoz-Negrete FJ, Arnalich-Montiel F, Pérez-López M, Fernández-Buenaga R. Visual field index rate and event-based glaucoma progression analysis: comparison in a glaucoma population. Br J Ophthalmol 2009; 93: 1576-1579.
- 51. Mikelberg FS, Schulzer M, Drance SM, Lau W. The rate of progression of scotomas in glaucoma. Am J Ophthalmol 1986; 101: 1-6.
- McNaught AI, Crabb DP, Fitzke FW, Hitchings RA. Modelling series of visual fields to detect progression in normal-tension glaucoma. Graefes Arch Clin Exp Ophthalmol 1995; 233: 750-755.
- Kwon YH, Kim CS, Zimmerman MB, Alward WL, Hayreh SS. Rate of visual field loss and long-term visual outcome in primary open-angle glaucoma. Am J Ophthalmol 2001; 132: 47-56.

- Bengtsson B, Patella VM, Heijl A. Prediction of glaucomatous visual field loss by extrapolation of linear trends. Arch Ophthalmol 2009; 127: 1610-1615.
- 55. Caprioli J, Mock D, Bitrian E, et al. A method to measure and predict rates of regional visual field decay in glaucoma. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 2011; 52: 4765-4773.
- 56. Bengtsson B, Lindgren A, Heijl A, Lindgren G, Asman P, Patella M. Perimetric probability maps to separate change caused by glaucoma from that caused by cataract. Acta Ophthalmol Scand 1997; 75: 184-188.
- 57. Asman P, Heijl A. Diffuse visual field loss and glaucoma. Acta Ophthalmol Copenh 1994; 72: 303-308.
- 58. Artes PH, Nicolela MT, LeBlanc RP, Chauhan BC. Visual field progression in glaucoma: total versus pattern deviation analyses. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 2005; 46: 4600-4606.
- Artes PH, Chauhan BC, Keltner JL, et al. Longitudinal and cross-sectional analyses of visual field progression in participants of the Ocular Hypertension Treatment Study. Arch Ophthalmol 2010; 128: 1528-1532.
- 60. Bengtsson B, Heijl A. A visual field index for calculation of glaucoma rate of progression. Am J Ophthalmol 2008; 145: 343-353.
- 61. Iester M, Corallo G, Capris E, Capris P. Agreement in detecting glaucomatous visual field progression by using guided progression analysis and Humphrey overview printout. Eur J Ophthalmol 2011; 21: 573-579.
- 62. Medeiros FA, Zangwill LM, Weinreb RN. Improved Prediction of Rates of Visual Field Loss in Glaucoma Using Empirical Bayes Estimates of Slopes of Change. J Glaucoma Mar 16, 2011 (Epub ahead of print).
- 63. Kovalska MP, Bürki E, Schoetzau A, Orguel SF, Orguel S, Grieshaber MC. Clinical evaluation of a novel population-based regression analysis for detecting glaucomatous visual field progression. Klin Monbl Augenheilkd 2011; 228: 311-317.
- 64. Sample PA, Medeiros FA, Racette L, et al. Identifying glaucomatous vision loss with visualfunction-specific perimetry in the diagnostic innovations in glaucoma study. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 2006; 47: 3381-3389.
- Strouthidis NG, Scott A, Peter NM, Garway-Heath DF. Optic disc and visual field progression in ocular hypertensive subjects: detection rates, specificity, and agreement. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 2006; 47: 2904-2910.
- Artes PH, Chauhan BC. Longitudinal changes in the visual field and optic disc in glaucoma. Prog Retin Eye Res 2005; 24: 333-354.
- Heijl A, Lindgren A, Lindgren G. Test-retest variability in glaucomatous visual fields. Am J Ophthalmol 1989; 108: 130-135.
- Henson DB, Chaudry S, Artes PH, Faragher EB, Ansons A. Response variability in the visual field: comparison of optic neuritis, glaucoma, ocular hypertension, and normal eyes. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 2000; 41: 417-421.
- 69. Goldmann H. Fundamentals of exact perimetry. 1945. Optom Vis Sci 1999; 76: 599-604.
- 70. Trobe JD, Acosta PC, Shuster JJ, Krischer JP. An evaluation of the accuracy of communitybased perimetry. Am J Ophthalmol 1980; 90: 654-660.
- Swanson WH, Sun H, Lee BB, Cao D. Author response: frequency-doubling technology and parasol cells. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 2011; 52: 3759-3760.
- 72. Watson AB, Barlow HB, Robson JG. What does the eye see best? Nature 1983; 302: 419-422.
- 73. Pointer JS, Hess RF. The contrast sensitivity gradient across the human visual field: with emphasis on the low spatial frequency range. Vision Res 1989; 29: 1133-1151.
- Gardiner SK, Swanson WH, Demirel S, McKendrick AM, Turpin A, Johnson CA. A twostage neural spiking model of visual contrast detection in perimetry. Vision Res 2008; 48: 1859-1869.
- 75. Kaplan E, Shapley RM. The primate retina contains two types of ganglion cells, with high and low contrast sensitivity. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1986; 83: 2755-2757.

- Swanson WH, Sun H, Lee BB, Cao D. Responses of primate retinal ganglion cells to perimetric stimuli. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 2011; 52: 764-771.
- 77. Artes PH, Hutchison DM, Nicolela MT, LeBlanc RP, Chauhan BC. Threshold and variability properties of matrix frequency-doubling technology and standard automated perimetry in glaucoma. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 2005; 46: 2451-2457.
- Newkirk MR, Gardiner SK, Demirel S, Johnson CA. Assessment of false positives with the Humphrey Field Analyzer II perimeter with the SITA Algorithm. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 2006; 47: 4632-4637.
- 79. Lovie-Kitchin JE, Soong GP, Hassan SE, Woods RL. Visual field size criteria for mobility rehabilitation referral. Optom Vis Sci 2010; 87: E948-957.



Chris Leung (co-Chair and section 2 Leader).



Linda Zangwill (section 2 co-Leader).



Esther Hoffman.



Robert N. Weinreb and Chris Leung.











Makoto Araie



Christopher Leung Linda Zangwill

Chris Girkin

Bal Chauhan

Chris Bowd



Harsha Rao



Claude Burgoyne Tae-Woo Kim

Tanuj Dada



Antonio Martinez Michael Kook Garcia





Jost Jonas



Ki-Ho Park



Kyung Rim Sung Remo Susanna Andreas Boehm Gadi Wollstein



2. STRUCTURE

Christopher Leung, Linda Zangwill, Chris Girkin, Bal Chauhan, Makoto Araie, Chris Bowd, Harsha Rao, Claude Burgoyne, Tae-Woo Kim, Tanuj Dada, Antonio Martinez Garcia, Michael Kook, Jost Jonas, Ki-Ho Park, Kyung Rim Sung, Remo Susanna, Andreas Boehm, Gadi Wollstein

Section leader: Christopher Leung Co-leaders: Chris Girkin, Linda Zangwill Contributors: Makoto Araie, Andreas Boehm, Chris Bowd, Claude Burgoyne, Balwantray Chauhan, Tanuj Dada, David F. Garway-Heath, David Greenfield, Esther Hoffmann, Jost Jonas, Tae-Woo Kim, Michael Kook, Antonio Martinez Garcia, Felipe A. Medeiros, Ki-Ho Park, Harsha Rao, Joel Schuman, Kyung Rim Sung, Remo Susanna, Ningli Wang, Gadi Wollstein

2.1 Technologies for measurement of optic disc and retinal nerve fiber layer (RNFL) parameters

Linda Zangwill, Chris Bowd, Claude Burgoyne, Tae-Woo Kim, Harsha Rao

Consensus statements

- Serial optic disc stereo-photography and RNFL photography are valuable and enduring methods for monitoring structural progression. *Comment:* Stereoscopic clinical examination of optic disc and RNFL may be useful to detect change in comparison with a baseline photograph. *Comment:* Subjective estimates of cup/disc ratio only detect large changes in cupping and are insufficient for monitoring structural changes.
- Color fundus photography is the preferred imaging modality to identify disc hemorrhages and parapapillary atrophy. *Comment:* Disc hemorrhages and beta-zone PPA are known risk factors for glaucoma progression.
- 3. Changes in beta-zone parapapillary atrophy can signal glaucoma progression. *Comment:* Methods for evaluating changes in PPA require further validation and include fundus photography, CLSO, and SDOCT.

4. Several imaging instruments, including confocal scanning laser ophthalmoscopy, scanning laser polarimetry, and optical coherence tomography objectively provide reproducible measurements and quantitative assessment of the optic disc and RNFL change.

Comment: The detection of glaucoma progression by comparing sketches or descriptions of cup disc ratio in the clinical chart is generally not suitable for an early detection of progression and may be replaced by imaging techniques and/or optic disc photography.

Comment: Imaging instruments provide progression detection analyses that can determine whether change is greater than the measurement variability of an individual eye.

- There are several structural components of longitudinal change detection that likely contribute to the variability of measurements. *Comment:* These include variation in clinical disc margin visibility, intersession variation and accuracy of segmentation algorithms, variation in vascular blood volume and reference plane anatomy, and longitudinal image registration.
- 6. Image quality can influence our ability to detect structural change. *Comment:* Automated quality indices vary by instrument and are often proprietary with little information available about how they are constructed. *Comment:* Poor quality images can lead to either false positive or false negative results.

Comment: For patient management decisions, clinicians should review the quality of images included in glaucomatous progression assessment.

7. More than one good quality baseline image facilitates progression analysis. *Comment:* Some instruments automatically acquire several baseline images during one imaging session.

2.1.1 Optic disc stereophotography / Red-free RNFL photography (Tae-Woo Kim)

Background

Optic disc stereophotography and red-free RNFL photography have been used as a standard examination to diagnose and monitor the structural damage in glaucoma.

It is generally considered that early optic disc and RNFL changes can be detected before the first sign of glaucomatous visual field changes.

Notching and narrowing of the neuroretinal rim, and enlargement of cupping are the findings seen in the disc stereo photography in glaucomatous eyes. Disc hemorrhage is also an early sign of glaucomatous damage and it is acknowledged that disc hemorrhage is associated with glaucoma progression.

On the RNFL photographs, glaucomatous damage is observed in the form of localized defects, diffuse loss, or in combination. RNFL examination may provide

more information about minor loss of axons than evaluation of the optic disc where axons are densely packed and serial nerve fiber layer examination is more sensitive than disc evaluation in the detection of progressive glaucoma damage.

Image quality and what influences it

Media clarity and patient cooperation is essential to obtain good quality image for both disc stereo photography and red-free RNFL photography. It is more difficult to obtain good quality image for red-free RNFL photography, as it is highly vulnerable to the effects of media opacity, and scanty fundus pigmentation (fundus pigmentation forms background contrast).

Detecting change

Detection of change can be accomplished by comparison of the serial photographs. Detecting change may be facilitated by comparing the trajectory of the blood vessels on the optic disc between disc stereo photographs. Subjective estimates of cup/disc ratio only detect large changes in cupping and are insufficient for monitoring structural changes.

Color fundus photography is the preferred imaging modality to identify disc hemorrhages, PPA and the changes in PPA.When disc hemorrhage is observed, it can be considered that the eye is at an increased risk of progression. Presence of beta-zone PPA and enlargement of beta-zone PPA also have been shown to be associated with glaucoma progression.

On the red-free photographs, the change may be observed as expansion or deepening of the existing defects or emergence of new defects.

Strengths and limitations

Using photography, it is possible to detect and record the disc hemorrhage. For the red-free RNFL photography, defining progression is straightforward when expansion of the existing defect or a new localized defects is found especially in eyes with localized defect.

However, assessment for progressive change is largely subjective for optic disc and RNFL photography. Intraobserver and interobserver agreement in the detection of glaucomatous progression of the optic disc on disc stereo photographs among the glaucoma specialists are only slight to fair. For the red-free RNFL photography, deepening of the existing defect and progressive change in diffuse loss is often difficult to detect. Serial comparison of red-free photography may be hampered by increasing media opacity such as cataract in elderly patients.

References

- 1. Quigley HA, Katz J, Derick RJ, Gilbert D, Sommer A. An evaluation of optic disc and nerve fiber layer examinations in monitoring progression of early glaucoma damage. Ophthalmology 1992; 99: 19-28.
- 2. Sommer A, Katz J, Quigley HA, et al. Clinically detectable nerve fiber atrophy precedes the onset of glaucomatous field loss. Arch Ophthalmol 1991; 109: 77-83.
- Azuara-Blanco A, Katz LJ, Spaeth GL, Vernon SA, Spencer F, Lanzl IM. Clinical agreement among glaucoma experts in the detection of glaucomatous changes of the optic disk using simultaneous stereoscopic photographs. Am J Ophthalmol 2003; 136: 949-950.
- Coleman AL, Sommer A, Enger C, Knopf HL, Stamper RL, Minckler DS. Interobserver and intraobserver variability in the detection of glaucomatous progression of the optic disc. J Glaucoma 1996; 5: 384-389.
- Jampel HD, Friedman D, Quigley H, et al. Agreement among glaucoma specialists in assessing progressive disc changes from photographs in open-angle glaucoma patients. Am J Ophthalmol 2009; 147: 39-44 e31.
- 6. Kim SH, Park KH. The relationship between recurrent optic disc hemorrhage and glaucoma progression. Ophthalmology 2006; 113: 598-602.
- 7. Siegner SW, Netland PA. Optic disc hemorrhages and progression of glaucoma. Ophthalmology 1996; 103: 1014-1024.
- Airaksinen PJ, Tuulonen A, Werner EB. Clinical evaluation of the optic disc and retinal nerve fiber layer. In: Ritch R, Shields MB, Krupin T (Eds.) The Glaucomas. Vol. 1. St. Louis: Mosby 1996, pp. 617-657.
- 9. Budde WM, Jonas JB. Enlargement of parapapillary atrophy in follow-up of chronic openangle glaucoma. Am J Ophthalmol 2004; 137: 646-654.
- 10. Teng CC, De Moraes CG, Prata TS, et al. Beta-zone parapapillary atrophy and the velocity of glaucoma progression. Ophthalmology 2010; 117: 909-915.
- 11. Uchida H, Ugurlu S, Caprioli J. Increasing peripapillary atrophy is associated with progressive glaucoma. Ophthalmology 1998; 105: 1541-1545.
- 12. Lee EJ, Kim TW, Weinreb RN, et al. β-zone parapapillary atrophy and the rate of retinal nerve fiber layer thinning in glaucoma. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 2011; 52: 4422-4427.

2.1.2 Confocal scanning laser ophthalmoscopy (Chris Bowd)

Background

Recent developments in HRT technology include the Glaucoma Probability Score (GPS), which is based on a contour line-independent modeling of the optic nerve head based on horizontal and vertical curvature, cup area, cup depth and cup steepness.¹ The HRT software uses a Bayesian machine learning classifier to compare the modeled optic nerve head to those from healthy and glaucoma eyes and provides a probability of class membership in the form of a likelihood of damage score. Evidence suggests that the GPS can discriminate between healthy and glaucomatous eyes about as well as the Moorfields Regression Analysis (MRA), without the need for a subjectively placed contour line (which results in less than perfect inter and intraobserver placement agreement²). However, similar to the MRA, the false-positive rate is high for large discs and the sensitivity is low for smaller discs.^{3,4} A method to correct this effect by using quantile

in place of linear regression has been described.⁵ Evidence also suggests that the GPS can serve as a predictor of conversion to glaucomatous visual field defects or progression based on stereophotograph assessment in suspect eyes, with hazard ratios similar to those of stereophotograph assessment.⁶ However, a very recent study suggests that GPS cannot discriminate between baseline measurements from stable eyes and eyes that eventually progress based on SAP GPA or stereophotograph assessment⁷ (see also ref. 8). Change in GPS over time (linear regression) is in moderate agreement with change in rim area and change in visual sensitivity.⁹ It is not clear if change in GPS over time is in agreement with glaucomatous progression detected using standard techniques (*e.g.*, SAP GPA, masked assessment of serial stereophotographs).

- GPS can discriminate between healthy and glaucoma eyes as well as MRA, although both are currently hampered by the effect of disc size on the diagnostic accuracy.
- GPS likely is predictive of future conversion to visual field defects in suspect eyes and may be predictive of progressive glaucomatous optic neuropathy in suspect eyes.
- Change over time in GPS is associated with change over time in other HRT parameters and change in visual sensitivity.

Image quality and what influences it

HRT image quality is described objectively using mean pixel height standard deviation (MPHSD). There is no consensus in the literature regarding a suggested acceptable/unacceptable MPHSD cut-off. However, the instrument manufacturer suggests that an acceptable cut-off for good/poor image quality is 40 µm. Mean pixel height standard deviation increases test-retest variability.^{10,11} In addition, there is evidence suggesting that increased MPHSH results in smaller rim area and deeper cup area measurements.¹² The latter study also suggests that increased age, high myopia, increased visual impairment, blindness and cataract are associated with increased MPHSD (*i.e.*, decreased image quality) (see also ref. 13).

- Mean pixel height standard deviation (MPHSD) provides an objective measurement of HRT image quality.
- There is no consensus in the literature regarding an acceptable MPHSD. The instrument manufacturer suggests a cut-off of 40 μ m.
- Increased age and visual impairment likely increase MPHSD.
- Higher MPHSD, indicating worse quality images, increases test-retest variability and may result in inaccurate measurements for some optic disc structures.

Detecting change

HRT change detection is accomplished by assessing change over time of normalized parameters provided by the clinical print-out or by using the Topographic Change Analysis (TCA).¹⁴ TCA compares the variability within a baseline examination to that between baseline and follow-up examinations. By using a nested three-way ANOVA model that accounts for the effects of topograph scan variability, scan time (i.e., baseline or follow-up), and location of topograph height measurements as model factors, TCA describes significant, repeatable change on the superpixel (4 X 4 pixels) level. Super-pixel change is defined as change greater than the variability within baseline exams in three consecutive, or three of four consecutive scans etc. (depending on the number of available scans). Studies show that TCA can detect change detectable by standard techniques, although the agreement is far from perfect (e.g., refs. 15-18). This could be related to the fact that a specific definition of progression based on TCA has not been established, although several studies have suggested cut-offs (e.g., refs. 14, 16, 17, 19). It has also been suggested that cut-off should vary based on disease severity at baseline. HRT progression by TCA also is predictive of VF change.²⁰ Other techniques are under development/investigation, but are not commercially available.²¹⁻²³

Strengths and limitations

HRT TCA is the most well developed and tested progression detection analysis available for optical imaging techniques. Limitations of TCA are the lack of a clinically usable (*i.e.*, well tested and available) cut-off to define progression and also the inability to interpret areas of improvement (*i.e.*, local increases in retinal height that may be associated with adjacent decreases in height).

References

- Swindale NV, Stjepanovic G, Chin A, Mikelberg FS. Automated analysis of normal and glaucomatous optic nerve head topography images. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 2000; 41: 1730-1742.
- 2. Garway-Heath DF, Poinoosawmy D, Wollstein G, et al. Inter- and intraobserver variation in the analysis of optic disc images: comparison of the Heidelberg retina tomograph and computer assisted planimetry. Br J Ophthalmol 1999; 83: 664-669.
- Zangwill LM, Jain S, Racette L, et al. The effect of disc size and severity of disease on the diagnostic accuracy of the Heidelberg Retina Tomograph Glaucoma Probability Score. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 2007; 48: 2653-2660.
- Coops A, Henson DB, Kwartz AJ, Artes PH. Automated analysis of heidelberg retina tomograph optic disc images by glaucoma probability score. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 2006; 47: 5348-5355.
- 5. Artes PH, Crabb DP. Estimating normative limits of Heidelberg Retina Tomograph optic disc rim area with quantile regression. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 2010; 51: 355-361.

2. Structure

- Alencar LM, Bowd C, Weinreb RN, Zangwill LM, Sample PA, Medeiros FA. Comparison of HRT-3 glaucoma probability score and subjective stereophotograph assessment for prediction of progression in glaucoma. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 2008; 49: 1898-1906.
- Bowd C, Lee I, Medeiros FA, et al. Predicting Glaucomatous Progression from Baseline HRT and SAP Measurements Using Relevance Vector Machine (RVM) Classifiers [ARVO abstract]. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 2011; 52; E-Abstract 4136.
- 8. Strouthidis NG, Gardiner SK, Owen VM, Zuniga C, Garway-Heath DF. Predicting progression to glaucoma in ocular hypertensive patients. J Glaucoma 2010; 19: 304-309.
- 9. Strouthidis NG, Demirel S, Asaoka R, Cossio-Zuniga C, Garway-Heath DF. The Heidelberg retina tomograph Glaucoma Probability Score: reproducibility and measurement of progression. Ophthalmology 2010; 117: 724-729.
- Strouthidis NG, White ET, Owen VM, Ho TA, Garway-Heath DF. Improving the repeatability of Heidelberg retina tomograph and Heidelberg retina tomograph II rim area measurements. Br J Ophthalmol 2005; 89: 1433-1437.
- 11. Strouthidis NG, White ET, Owen VM, Ho TA, Hammond CJ, Garway-Heath DF. Factors affecting the test-retest variability of Heidelberg retina tomograph and Heidelberg retina tomograph II measurements. Br J Ophthalmol 2005; 89: 1427-1432.
- 12. Zheng Y, Cheung CY, Wong TY, Wong W, Loon SC, Aung T. Determinants of image quality of Heidelberg Retina Tomography II and its association with optic disc parameters in a population-based setting. Am J Ophthalmol 2011; 151: 663-670.
- Zangwill L, Irak I, Berry CC, Garden V, de Souza Lima M, Weinreb RN. Effect of cataract and pupil size on image quality with confocal scanning laser ophthalmoscopy. Arch Ophthalmol 1997; 115: 983-990.
- Chauhan BC, Blanchard JW, Hamilton DC, LeBlanc RP. Technique for detecting serial topographic changes in the optic disc and peripapillary retina using scanning laser tomography. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 2000; 41: 775-782.
- 15. Chauhan BC, Hutchison DM, Artes PH, et al. Optic disc progression in glaucoma: comparison of confocal scanning laser tomography to optic disc photographs in a prospective study. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 2009; 50: 1682-1691.
- Chauhan BC, McCormick TA, Nicolela MT, LeBlanc RP. Optic disc and visual field changes in a prospective longitudinal study of patients with glaucoma: comparison of scanning laser tomography with conventional perimetry and optic disc photography. Arch Ophthalmol 2001; 119: 1492-1499.
- Bowd C, Balasubramanian M, Weinreb RN, et al. Performance of confocal scanning laser tomograph Topographic Change Analysis (TCA) for assessing glaucomatous progression. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 2009; 50: 691-701.
- O'Leary N, Crabb DP, Mansberger SL, et al. Glaucomatous progression in series of stereoscopic photographs and Heidelberg retina tomograph images. Arch Ophthalmol 2010; 128: 560-568.
- Artes PH, Chauhan BC. Criteria for Optic Disc Progression With the Topographical Change Analysis of the Heidelberg Retina Tomograph [ARVO abstract). Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 2006; 47; E-Abstract 4349.
- Chauhan BC, Nicolela MT, Artes PH. Incidence and Rate of Glaucomatous Visual Field Progression After Optic Disc Change Measured With Scanning Laser Tomography [ARVO abstract]. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 2009; 50; E-Abstract 2574.
- 21. Patterson AJ, Garway-Heath DF, Strouthidis NG, Crabb DP. A new statistical approach for quantifying change in series of retinal and optic nerve head topography images. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 2005; 46: 1659-1667.
- 22. Balasubramanian M, Bowd C, Weinreb RN, et al. Clinical evaluation of the proper orthogonal decomposition framework for detecting glaucomatous changes in human subjects. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 2010; 51: 264-271.

23. Balasubramanian M, Zabic S, Bowd C, et al. A framework for detecting glaucomatous progression in the optic nerve head of an eye using proper orthogonal decomposition. IEEE Trans Inf Technol Biomed 2009; 13: 781-793.

2.1.3 Scanning laser polarimetry (Chris Bowd)

Background

Since the last optical imaging-related consensus meeting, GDx with variable corneal compensation (GDx VCC) has been in widespread clinical use and within the past five or so years, GDx with enhanced corneal compensation (GDx ECC) has been introduced. GDx VCC provided a relatively large number of artifactladen images, called atypical scans. Atypical scans are scans with an atypical birefringence (i.e., retardance) pattern (ABP) that is not representative of RNFL thickness patterns found histologically (i.e., increased birefringence superiorly and inferiorly, indicating thicker RNFL compared to decreased birefringence temporally and nasally, indicating thinner RNFL). Rather, in addition to high birefringence superiorly and inferiorly, scans with ABP display increased birefringence in the temporal and nasal quadrants in radial patterns centered on and surrounding the entire optic disc (e.g., refs. 1, 2). With GDx ECC software, the corneal polarization compensator is automatically adjusted (biased) so that the combined retardation magnitude from the cornea and the compensating retarder is approximately 55 nm with a vertical slow axis of polarization. This adjustment bias serves to boost the signal to overcome low sensitivity that can make retardation measurements susceptible to optical and electronic noise. After image acquisition, the bias is subtracted to yield the RNFL retardation values.^{3,4} Studies have shown that cross-sectional measurement variability is lower using ECC⁵, discrimination between healthy and glaucoma eyes is better using ECC⁶ or when considering the presence of ABPs,^{7,8} and ECC increases the strength of association with OCT-measured RNFL thickness9 and visual sensitivity (measured using standard automated perimetry).¹⁰ Typical Scan Scores (TSS, representing evidence of atypical scans) are more stable over time using ECC compared to VCC (although this likely is related to a restricted range of TSS using ECC), suggesting that GDx ECC might be better than GDx VCC for detecting true glaucomatous progression because variable TSS result in variable RNF thickness measurements.¹¹

- GDx VCC has become the SLP standard over the past years.
- GDx VCC results in a significant percentage of eyes with atypical birefringence (retardation) patterns (ABP).
- GDx ECC was developed to reduce ABP.
- GDx ECC performs better than GDx VCC cross-sectionally (better discrimination between healthy and glaucoma eyes, stronger association with results from other RNFL measurement techniques and SAP).

Image quality and what influences it

The primary image quality issue is the presence of ABPs and this issue seems to have been largely solved by GDx ECC. However, evidence suggests that the removal of cataract or posterior capsule opacification (or LASIK procedures¹²) can change GDx measured RNFL thickness¹³⁻¹⁵ (and can also change TSS score^{14,15}) indicating a need for a new post-procedure baseline when investigating progression in these situations. In addition, presence of parapapillary atrophy within the scanned region can lead to incorrect RNFL thickness measurement,^{16,17} and changes in measurement reproducibility.¹⁸

- The presence of cataract or posterior capsule opacification can result in incorrect GDx-measured RNFL thickness. After removal, a post-proceudre baseline likely is required for progression analyses.
- LASIK can affect GDx-measured RNFL thickness unless corneal compensation measurements are repeated.
- The presence of parapapillary atrophy within the scanned region can result in incorrect GDx-measured RNFL thickness. Imaging areas of PPA should be avoided by using larger scan circles.

Detecting change

Guided Progression Analysis (GPA) is available for progression detection in GDx. GPA can be run in two different modes depending on the number of images obtained: Fast Mode and Extended Mode. Fast Mode requires acquisition of a single image at baseline and at each follow-up visit, and Extended Mode requires acquisition of three images for each visit. In Fast Mode, progression is defined as a change in baseline outside of the limits of variability derived from a sample population and included in the GDx normative database. In Extended Mode, progression is defined as variability that exceeds the within-subject variability calculated from the three baseline images (similar to HRT Topographic Change Analysis). Using Fast Mode GPA, one study reported 0.50 sensitivity (17 of 34 eyes, +LR = 12.5) for detecting known progression defined using standard techniques (SAP GPA or masked serial stereophotograph assessment). Specificity in 434 stable (by SAP GPA or photo assessment) suspect eyes was 0.96 and specificity in 22 healthy eyes was 1.0.19 Another study used the Fast Mode GPA to detect change using GDx VCC and GDx ECC and showed significant change in six eyes (8.8%) and eight eyes (11.8%), respectively. Agreement between techniques was moderate (kappa ranged between 0.41 and 0.57).²⁰ Finally, evidence suggests that the rate of GDx VCC-measured RNFL loss is greater in progressing eyes than in stable eyes (by SAP GPA or photo assessment). Although in both cases, RNFL thinning was observed over a median follow up of approximately four years.²¹

- GDx GPA can detect progression defined as population-based or withinsubject variability.
- Sensitivity and specificity using GDx GPA are acceptable.
- Eyes with known progression by SAP GPA or masked stereophotograph assessment show a greater rate of RNFL loss than apparently stable eyes.

Strengths and limitations

The fact that GDx (VCC and ECC) can detect progression in eyes that show known progression is a strength. In addition, it seems that the low variability in measurements allows the detection of age-related change (or alternately, diseaserelated change in suspect eyes apparently stable by current methods). Also, the availability of Fast Mode and Enhanced Mode GPA allows the application of change detection to archival data, no matter the number of images obtained at each visit. However, there are limitations. First, VCC and ECC measurements are not compatible (see Section I above), so when switching instruments, a new baseline is required for GPA analyses. Also, when using GDx VCC in particular, ABPs can have a significant effect on detection of progressive RNFL loss. Eyes with chronic atypical birefringence patterns, fluctuations of these patterns over time, or both may show changes in measurements that can appear falsely as glaucomatous progression or can mask true changes.²² It is possible that this issue has been remedied by ECC. Finally, it is likely that the progression detection techniques using GDx are not optimized because the cut-offs to define progression may not be ideal (are somewhat arbitrary).

- Using GDx GPA or tracking change over time allows detection of glaucomatous progression in eyes with known progression using standard techniques.
- RNFL thickness over time is observable in eyes that are apparently stable by standard techniques, possibly suggesting early change detection.
- Presence and fluctuation of typical scan patterns in GDx VCC images can confound progression detection.

References

- Bagga H, Greenfield DS, Feuer WJ. Quantitative assessment of atypical birefringence images using scanning laser polarimetry with variable corneal compensation. Am J Ophthalmol 2005; 139: 437-446.
- 2. Sehi M, Guaqueta DC, Feuer WJ, Greenfield DS. Scanning laser polarimetry with variable and enhanced corneal compensation in normal and glaucomatous eyes. Am J Ophthalmol 2007; 143: 272-279.
- 3. Reus NJ, Zhou Q, Lemij HG. Enhanced imaging algorithm for scanning laser polarimetry with variable corneal compensation. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 2006; 47: 3870-3877.
- 4. Zhou Q, Knighton. Nerve Fibre Analyzer GDx: New Techniques. In: Iester M, Garway-Heath D, Lemij H (Eds.), Optic Nerve Head and Retinal Nerve Fibre Analysis. Savona, Italy: Dogma 2005, pp.117-119.

- 5. Toth M, Hollo G. Enhanced corneal compensation for scanning laser polarimetry on eyes with atypical polarisation pattern. Br J Ophthalmol 2005; 89: 1139-1142.
- Medeiros FA, Bowd C, Zangwill LM, Patel C, Weinreb RN. Detection of glaucoma using scanning laser polarimetry with enhanced corneal compensation. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 2007; 48: 3146-3153.
- 7. Bowd C, Medeiros FA, Weinreb RN, Zangwill LM. The effect of atypical birefringence patterns on glaucoma detection using scanning laser polarimetry with variable corneal compensation. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 2007; 48: 223-227.
- 8. Da Pozzo S, Marchesan R, Canziani T, Vattovani O, Ravalico G. Atypical pattern of retardation on GDx-VCC and its effect on retinal nerve fibre layer evaluation in glaucomatous eyes. Eye 2006; 20: 769-775.
- 9. Schi M, Ume S, Greenfield DS. Scanning laser polarimetry with enhanced corneal compensation and optical coherence tomography in normal and glaucomatous eyes. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 2007; 48: 2099-2104.
- 10. Bowd C, Tavares IM, Medeiros FA, Zangwill LM, Sample PA, Weinreb RN. Retinal nerve fiber layer thickness and visual sensitivity using scanning laser polarimetry with variable and enhanced corneal compensation. Ophthalmology 2007; 114: 1259-1265.
- 11. Grewal DS, Sehi M, Cook RJ, Greenfield DS. The Impact of Retardance Pattern Variability on Nerve Fiber Layer Measurements over Time using GDx with Variable and Enhanced Corneal Compensation. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 2011; 52: 4516-4524.
- Zangwill LM, Abunto T, Bowd C, Angeles R, Schanzlin DJ, Weinreb RN. Scanning laser polarimetry retinal nerve fiber layer thickness measurements after LASIK. Ophthalmology 2005; 112: 200-207.
- Dada T, Behera G, Agarwal A, Kumar S, Sihota R, Panda A. Effect of cataract surgery on retinal nerve fiber layer thickness parameters using scanning laser polarimetry (GDxVCC). Indian J Ophthalmol 2010; 58: 389-394.
- Garcia Medina JJ, Garcia Medina M, Shahin M, Pinazo Duran MD. Posterior capsular opacification affects scanning laser polarimetry examination. Graefes Arch Clin Exp Ophthalmol 2006; 244: 520-523.
- Garcia-Medina JJ, Garcia-Medina M, Dorta SG, Pinazo-Duran MD, Gallego-Pinazo R, Zanon-Moreno VC. Effect of posterior capsular opacification removal on scanning laser polarimetry measurements. Graefes Arch Clin Exp Ophthalmol 2006; 244: 1398-1405.
- Bozkurt B, Irkec M, Gedik S, et al. Effect of peripapillary chorioretinal atrophy on GDx parametersin patients with degenerative myopia. Clin Experiment Ophthalmol 2002; 30: 411-414.
- 17. Dada T, Gadia R, Aggarwal A, Dave V, Gupta V, Sihota R. Retinal nerve fiber layer thickness measurement by scanning laser polarimetry (GDxVCC) at conventional and modified diameter scans in normals, glaucoma suspects, and early glaucoma patients. J Glaucoma 2009; 18 :448-452.
- Kunimatsu S, Tomidokoro A, Saito H, Aihara M, Tomita G, Araie M. Performance of GDx VCC in eyes with peripapillary atrophy: comparison of three circle sizes. Eye (Lond) 2008; 22: 173-178.
- Alencar LM, Zangwill LM, Weinreb RN, et al. Agreement for detecting glaucoma progression with the GDx guided progression analysis, automated perimetry, and optic disc photography. Ophthalmology 2010; 117: 462-470.
- 20. Grewal DS, Sehi M, Greenfield DS. Detecting glaucomatous progression using GDx with variable and enhanced corneal compensation using Guided Progression Analysis. Br J Oph-thalmol. 2011; 95: 502-508.
- Medeiros FA, Alencar LM, Zangwill LM, et al. Detection of progressive retinal nerve fiber layer loss in glaucoma using scanning laser polarimetry with variable corneal compensation. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 2009; 50: 1675-1681.
- 22. Medeiros FA, Alencar LM, Zangwill LM, Sample PA, Susanna R, Jr., Weinreb RN. Impact of atypical retardation patterns on detection of glaucoma progression using the GDx with variable corneal compensation. Am J Ophthalmol 2009; 148: 155-163 e151.

2.1.4 Optical coherence tomography (time-domain /spectral-domain) (Harsha Rao)

Background

Though the spectral domain OCT (SDOCT) has gained popularity during the last couple of years, time domain OCT (TDOCT, Stratus OCT) remains a useful device for detection of progression. Major limitations of TDOCT include slow acquisition times and interpolation of data. Some of these limitations have been largely addressed by the SDOCT technology now. Advantages of SDOCT over TDOCT are shorter image acquisition times that lead to reduced eye-motion artifacts, acquisition of more data points to allow three dimensional imaging and scan registration from session to session, and higher resolution with precise segmentation of retinal layers.¹⁻³ OCT technology is evolving rapidly and it is likely that numerous software and hardware advancements will be made in the near future.

Both TDOCT and SDOCT devices have been shown to provide reproducible measurements in normal and glaucomatous eyes.⁴⁻²⁰ A few of the above studies also evaluated the inter-test variability of SDOCT measurements and were found to be excellent.^{14,18,20} For the RNFL measurements, average RNFL measurement showed the best reproducibility while the nasal RNFL measurement was the least reproducible.^{5,8-10,12}

Reproducibility estimates have been reported to be better with SDOCT compared to TDOCT devices.²¹

Reproducibility was better in normal eyes compared to glaucomatous eyes.^{5,12} No relationship was found between the severity of glaucoma and variability of OCT RNFL measurements,^{14-15,22-23} while the variability of ONH parameters were found to be affected by the severity of glaucomatous damage.²³

Image quality and what influences it

Some of the important attributes of image quality are signal strength, centration errors and segmentation errors. Low signal strength affects the measurements with both TDOCT²⁴⁻²⁶ and SDOCT devices.²⁷ Scans with lower signal strengths are also reported to have significantly greater artifacts compared to scans with good signal strengths.²⁸ SDOCT has been reported to provide better scan quality compared to TDOCT.²⁹

Detecting change

While comparing the progression rates by Stratus OCT and perimetry over a median follow-up of 4.7 years, Wollstein *et al.* found that 22% eyes progressed on OCT (defined as a reproducible mean RNFL thinning of $> 20 \ \mu$ m) while

only 9% of eyes progressed on visual fields (defined as a reproducible drop in visual field mean deviation of at least 2 dB).³⁰

Currently, Stratus OCT has a progression detection algorithm called Guided Progression Analysis (GPA) which evaluates and compares scans acquired longitudinally and reports a summary analysis after considering the expected testretest variability. The corresponding rate of change and a p value are provided. Evaluating GPA, Medeiros *et al.*³¹ found that Stratus OCT RNFL parameters discriminated between eyes progressing by visual fields or optic disc photographs and eyes that remained stable by these methods and performed significantly better than ONH and macular thickness parameters in detecting change over time. Leung *et al.* also demonstrated the utility of GPA in determining progression and found that the RNFL thickness decline with time did not agree very well with the decline of visual field index on perimetry.³² Leung *et al.* also showed that the fast RNFL scans were preferable in following up glaucoma patients for detection of progression.³³

Strengths and limitations

Strengths of OCT technology are their ability to measure structural parameters without the need for a reference plane or magnification correction, and their ability to image all three scanning areas namely, RNFL, ONH and macula. Limitations are the influence of signal strength on the measurements and the non-compatibility of current SDOCT technology with the earlier OCT technologies.

References

- Wojtkowski M, Srinivasan V, Ko T, et al. Ultrahigh-resolution, high-speed, Fourier domain optical coherence tomography and methods for dispersion compensation. Opt Express 2004; 12: 2404-2422.
- 2. Wojtkowski M, Srinivasan V, Fujimoto JG, et al. Three-dimensional retinal imaging with high-speed ultrahigh-resolution optical coherence tomography. Ophthalmology 2005; 112: 1734-1746.
- 3. Nassif N, Cense B, Park B, et al. In vivo high-resolution video-rate spectral-domain optical coherence tomography of the human retina and optic nerve. Opt Express 2004; 12: 367-376.
- 4. Schuman JS, Pedut-Kloizman T, Hertzmark E, et al. Reproducibility of nerve fiber layer thickness measurements using optical coherence tomography. Ophthalmology 1996; 103: 1889-1898.
- 5. Blumenthal EZ, Williams JM, Weinreb RN, et al. Reproducibility of nerve fiber layer thickness measurements by use of optical coherence tomography. Ophthalmology 2000; 107: 2278-2282.
- Carpineto P, Ciancaglini M, Zuppardi E, et al. Reliability of nerve fiber layer thickness measurements using optical coherence tomography in normal and glaucomatous eyes. Ophthalmology 2003; 110: 190-195.
- Gurses-Ozden R, Teng C, Vessani R, et al. Macular and retinal nerve fiber layer thickness measurement reproducibility using optical coherence tomography (OCT-3). J Glaucoma 2004; 13: 238-244.
- Budenz DL, Chang RT, Huang X, et al. Reproducibility of retinal nerve fiber thickness measurements using the stratus OCT in normal and glaucomatous eyes. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 2005; 46: 2440-2443.
- 9. Pueyo V, Polo V, Larrosa JM, et al. [Reproducibility of optic nerve head and retinal nerve fiber layer thickness measurements using optical coherence tomography]. Arch Soc Esp Oftalmol 2006; 81: 205-211.
- Budenz DL, Fredette MJ, Feuer WJ, Anderson DR. Reproducibility of peripapillary retinal nerve fiber thickness measurements with stratus OCT in glaucomatous eyes. Ophthalmology 2008; 115: 661-666, e4.
- 11. Gonzalez-Garcia AO, Vizzeri G, Bowd C, et al. Reproducibility of RTVue retinal nerve fiber layer thickness and optic disc measurements and agreement with Stratus optical coherence tomography measurements. Am J Ophthalmol 2009; 147: 1067-1074, 74 e1.
- 12. Li JP, Wang XZ, Fu J, et al. Reproducibility of RTVue retinal nerve fiber layer thickness and optic nerve head measurements in normal and glaucoma eyes. Chin Med J (Engl) 2010; 123: 1898-1903.
- Vizzeri G, Weinreb RN, Gonzalez-Garcia AO, et al. Agreement between spectral-domain and time-domain OCT for measuring RNFL thickness. Br J Ophthalmol 2009; 93: 775-781.
- Garas A, Vargha P, Hollo G. Reproducibility of retinal nerve fiber layer and macular thickness measurement with the RTVue-100 optical coherence tomograph. Ophthalmology 2010; 117: 738-746.
- 15. Lee SH, Kim SH, Kim TW, et al. Reproducibility of retinal nerve fiber thickness measurements using the test-retest function of spectral OCT/SLO in normal and glaucomatous eyes. J Glaucoma 2010; 19: 637-642.
- 16. Wu H, de Boer JF, Chen TC. Reproducibility of Retinal Nerve Fiber Layer Thickness Measurements Using Spectral Domain Optical Coherence Tomography. J Glaucoma 2010 (Epub ahead of print).
- Cremasco F, Massa G, Goncalves Vidotti V, et al. Intrasession, intersession, and interexaminer variabilities of retinal nerve fiber layer measurements with spectral-domain OCT. Eur J Ophthalmol 2010; 21: 264-270.
- Mansoori T, Viswanath K, Balakrishna N. Reproducibility of peripapillary retinal nerve fibre layer thickness measurements with spectral domain optical coherence tomography in normal and glaucomatous eyes. Br J Ophthalmol 2011; 95: 685-688.
- Langenegger SJ, Funk J, Toeteberg-Harms M. Reproducibility of Retinal Nerve Fiber Layer Thickness Measurements using the Eye Tracker and Retest Function of Spectralis SDOCT in Glaucomatous and Healthy Control Eyes. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 2011; 52: 3338-3344.
- Mwanza JC, Chang RT, Budenz DL, et al. Reproducibility of peripapillary retinal nerve fiber layer thickness and optic nerve head parameters measured with cirrus HD-OCT in glaucomatous eyes. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 2010; 51: 5724-5730.
- Leung CK, Cheung CY, Weinreb RN, et al. Retinal nerve fiber layer imaging with spectraldomain optical coherence tomography: a variability and diagnostic performance study. Ophthalmology 2009; 116: 1257-1263, 63 e1-2.
- 22. Leung CK, Cheung CY, Lin D, et al. Longitudinal variability of optic disc and retinal nerve fiber layer measurements. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 2008; 49: 4886-4892.
- 23. DeLeon Ortega JE, Sakata LM, Kakati B, et al. Effect of glaucomatous damage on repeatability of confocal scanning laser ophthalmoscope, scanning laser polarimetry, and optical coherence tomography. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 2007; 48: 1156-1163.
- 24. Samarawickrama C, Pai A, Huynh SC, et al. Influence of OCT signal strength on macular, optic nerve head, and retinal nerve fiber layer parameters. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 2010; 51: 4471-4475.
- 25. Cheung CY, Leung CK, Lin D, et al. Relationship between retinal nerve fiber layer measurement and signal strength in optical coherence tomography. Ophthalmology 2008; 115: 1347-1351, 51 e1-2.

- Wu Z, Huang J, Dustin L, Sadda SR. Signal strength is an important determinant of accuracy of nerve fiber layer thickness measurement by optical coherence tomography. J Glaucoma 2009; 18: 213-216.
- Rao HL, Kumar AU, Babu JG, et al. Predictors of normal optic nerve head, retinal nerve fiber layer, and macular parameters measured by spectral domain optical coherence tomography. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 2011; 52: 1103-1110.
- Asrani S, Edghill B, Gupta Y, Meerhoff G. Optical coherence tomography errors in glaucoma. J Glaucoma 2010; 19: 237-242.
- 29. Moreno-Montanes J, Olmo N, Alvarez A, et al. Cirrus high-definition optical coherence tomography compared with Stratus optical coherence tomography in glaucoma diagnosis. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 2010; 51: 335-343.
- 30. Wollstein G, Schuman JS, Price LL, et al. Optical coherence tomography longitudinal evaluation of retinal nerve fiber layer thickness in glaucoma. Arch Ophthalmol 2005; 123: 464-470.
- Medeiros FA, Zangwill LM, Alencar LM, et al. Detection of glaucoma progression with stratus OCT retinal nerve fiber layer, optic nerve head, and macular thickness measurements. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 2009; 50: 5741-5748.
- Leung CK, Cheung CY, Weinreb RN, et al. Evaluation of retinal nerve fiber layer progression in glaucoma: a study on optical coherence tomography guided progression analysis. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 2010; 51: 217-222.
- Leung CK, Cheung CY, Weinreb RN, et al. Evaluation of Retinal Nerve Fiber Layer Progression in Glaucoma A Comparison between the Fast and the Regular Retinal Nerve Fiber Layer Scans. Ophthalmology 2011; 118: 763-767.

2.1.5 Limitations of imaging technologies to detect progression (Claude Burgoyne)

Several structural components of longitudinal change detection that likely contribute to the variability of measurements have not been formally assessed. These include variation in clinical disc margin visibility and disagreement as to what the clinician sees as the disc margin by clinical examination, within clinical disc photographs and within SDOCT B-Scans.¹⁻⁵ Intersession variation and accuracy of segmentation algorithms⁶⁻¹⁴ and reference plane anatomy¹⁵⁻¹⁷ are beginning to be studied but their effect on progression detection have not been formally assessed. At the present time strategies for longitudinal image registration vary between manufacturers and the effects of these strategies on the sensitivity and specificity of longitudinal change detection have not been assessed.

- 1. Manassakorn A, Ishikawa H, Kim JS, et al. Comparison of optic disc margin identified by color disc photography and high-speed ultrahigh-resolution optical coherence tomography. Arch Ophthalmol 2008; 126: 58-64.
- Barkana Y, Harizman N, Gerber Y, Liebmann JM, Ritch R. Measurements of optic disk size with HRT II, Stratus OCT, and funduscopy are not interchangeable. Am J Ophthalmol 2006; 142: 375-380.

- 3. Strouthidis NG, Yang H, Reynaud J, Grimm J, Gardiner S, Fortune B, Burgoyne CF. Comparison of Clinical and Spectral Domain Optical Coherence Tomography Optic Disc Margin Anatomy. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 2009; 50: 4709-4718. PMCID: PMC2751811.
- 4. Strouthidis NG, Grimm J, Williams G, et al. A Comparison of Optic Nerve Head Morphology Viewed by Spectral Domain Optical Coherence Tomography and By Serial Histology. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 2010; 51: 1464-1474.
- 5. Savini G, Zanini M, Carelli V, et al. Correlation between retinal nerve fibre layer thickness and optic nerve head size: an optical coherence tomography study. Br J Ophthalmol 2005; 89: 489-492.
- 6. Agoumi Y, Sharpe GP, Hutchison DM, et al: Laminar and Prelaminar Tissue Displacement During Intraocular Pressure Elevation in Glaucoma Patients and Healthy Controls. In: Oph-thalmology. vol. In press, 2010/07/27 edn; 2010.
- 7. Fortune B, Wang L, Cull G, Cioffi GA. Intravitreal colchicine causes decreased RNFL birefringence without altering RNFL thickness. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 2008; 49: 255-261.
- 8. Nakano N, Hangai M, Nakanishi H, et al. Macular Ganglion Cell Layer Imaging in Preperimetric Glaucoma with Speckle-Noise-Reduced Spectral-Domain Optical Coherence Tomography. Ophthalmology 2011; Accepted for Publication.
- 9. Hong S, Kim CY, Seong GJ. Adjusted Peripapillary Retinal Nerve Fiber Layer Thickness Measurements Based on the Optic Nerve Head Scan Angle. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 2010.
- 10. Tan O, Li G, Lu AT, et al. Mapping of macular substructures with optical coherence tomography for glaucoma diagnosis. Ophthalmology 2008; 115: 949-956.
- 11. Tan O, Chopra V, Lu AT, et al. Detection of macular ganglion cell loss in glaucoma by Fourier-domain optical coherence tomography. Ophthalmology 2009; 116: 2305-2314, e2301-2302.
- 12. Fortune B, Cull GA, Burgoyne CF. Retinal Nerve Fiber Layer Birefringence Declines Prior to Thickness After Onset of Experimental Glaucoma or Optic Nerve Transection in Non-Human Primates. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 2008; 49.
- Schuman JS, Pedut-Kloizman T, Pakter H, et al. Optical Coherence Tomography and Histologic Measurements of Nerve Fiber Layer Thickness in Normal and Glaucomatous Monkey Eyes. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 2007; 48: 3645-3654.
- 14. Hu Z, Abramoff MD, Kwon YH, Lee K, Garvin M. Automated Segmentation of Neural Canal Opening and Optic Cup in 3-D Spectral Optical Coherence Tomography Volumes of the Optic Nerve Head. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 2010.
- 15. Asaoka R, Strouthidis NG, Kappou V, Gardiner SK, Garway-Heath DF. HRT-3 Moorfields reference plane: effect on rim area repeatability and identification of progression. Br J Oph-thalmol 2009; 93: 1510-1513.
- 16. Strouthidis NG, Fortune B, Yang H, Sigal IA, Burgoyne CF. Longitudinal Change Detected by Spectral Domain Optical Coherence Tomography in the Optic Nerve Head and Peripapillary Retina in Experimental Glaucoma. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 2011; 52: 1206-1219.
- 17. Strouthidis NG, Yang H, Williams G, et al. 3D Histomorphometric and Ocular Coherence Tomographic (OCT) Planarity of Bruch's Membrane Opening (BMO) in Non-Human Primate (NHP) Eyes. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 2008; 49.

2.1.6 Influence of image quality on structural measurements (Linda Zangwill)

Background

Automated image quality scores and / or indices are now provided on all imaging instruments. The quality scores are usually visible during image acquisition so that operators and technicians know whether the images acquired meet manufacturer's quality criteria. The quality scores are also included on standard printouts for change detection analysis so that clinicians can determine whether the image is of sufficient quality to include in clinical management decisions.

The calculations used to construct the quality scores vary by instrument and are often proprietary in nature with little specific information available about how they are constructed. In general, the quality scores incorporate measures of both the signal strength and noise. However, each instrument calculates the summary measures of the image signal and noise differently. For example, one SDOCT instrument uses the maximum signal strength in an OCT scan relative to the maximum strength of the background noise. Other SDOCT instruments use various measures of signal and noise to calculate their quality score.

It is important to note that not all image quality concerns can be identified objectively or represented in a summary quality score. For example, floaters and software segmentation failures in optical coherence tomography images are often not identified by the automated quality scores. It is therefore important that clinicians do not solely rely on the automated quality score for assessment of image quality. Rather, clinicians should subjectively review images in conjunction with the image quality score to determine whether the image is of sufficient quality to be used for detection of glaucoma management decisions.

The proportion of images obtained that are of poor quality will vary by the operator, patient characteristics (lens opacity, eye movement, etc.) and instrument. Since the proportion of images that were excluded from studies due to poor quality is reported in only a limited number of publications,¹⁻⁴ it is difficult to estimate the frequency of obtaining poor quality images in both research and clinical settings.

- 1. Automated quality assessment scores, now available on most imaging instruments, provide important information on whether a scan is of sufficient quality to be used in clinical management decisions.
- 2. Image quality can influence RNFL and optic nerve head measurements. Comment: There is consistent evidence that image quality can influence RNFL and optic nerve head measurements. Specifically, HRT stereometric parameters are significantly affected by mean pixel height standard deviation – a measure of quality,⁵ Stratus OCT RNFL and optic nerve head measurements are influenced by image signal strength.⁶⁻⁹ Evidence of signal strength influencing RNFL thickness with SDOCT is less consistent; some studies suggests that signal strength can influence SDOCT RNFL thickness measurements even in the 'good quality' range.¹¹ In addition, a recent SDOCT study (using RTVue FD-OCT) reported that optic nerve head parameters were significantly affected by the scan quality (RTVue signal strength) and scans with low signal strength are likely to be falsely classified as glaucomatous.³ Moreover, 'Scan quality within the range recommended as acceptable by the manufacturer of each imaging device does not affect the glaucomatom.

discriminating ability of GDx or HRT but does affect Stratus OCT glaucoma discrimination.'¹² This may at least in part be due to consistent evidence that Stratus OCT scans with higher signal strengths are associated with greater RNFL thickness measurements¹³⁻¹⁷ and macular thickness measurements.

Estimates of the proportion of scans with segmentation algorithm failures are few, but suggest that the problem is not small.¹⁸⁻²⁰ Specifically, evidence from Stratus OCT suggests that automated segmentation algorithms may fail, particularly in eyes with pathology.¹⁸⁻²⁰ In addition, there is evidence to suggest that algorithm failures in delineating retinal thickness are more frequent in Stratus OCT (detected in 69.2% of scans) than Cirrus OCT examinations (detected in 25% of scans), but remain a problem with both technologies.¹⁹ It is likely that as software algorithms improve, the frequency of segmentation algorithm failures will decrease.

3. Poor quality images can lead to either over-detection (false positive) or under-detection (false negative) of structural change.

Comment: Inconsistency in segmentation algorithm over time can result in inaccurate assessment of structural progression. In addition, changes in the existence and location of artifacts (floaters, atypical scan pattern, etc.) over time can lead to erroneous detection of change or false negative results. For example, changes in GDx atypical scan pattern over time can result in inaccurate assessment - both over and under-detection of change.²¹ For this reason, it has been suggested to include only scans with a typical scan score of 80 or higher in change analysis.^{21,22} Floaters, particularly when occurring within the optic disc for optic nerve head measurements, and along RNFL measurement circles can also reduce the accuracy of the optic nerve head and RNFL measurements.

Scan placement can also influence the accuracy of measurements and ability to detect change over time. Evidence suggests that scan placement can affect Stratus OCT regional RNFL thickness measurements, while the global RNFL thickness measurements remain relatively robust.¹⁶

4. For patient management decisions, clinicians should review the automated quality scores as well as subjectively assess the quality of images included in glaucomatous progression assessment.

- 1. Budenz DL, Chang RT, Huang X, Knighton RW, Tielsch JM. Reproducibility of retinal nerve fiber thickness measurements using the stratus OCT in normal and glaucomatous eyes. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 2005; 46: 2440-2443.
- Deleon-Ortega JE, Arthur SN, McGwin G, Jr., Xie A, Monheit BE, Girkin CA. Discrimination between glaucomatous and nonglaucomatous eyes using quantitative imaging devices and subjective optic nerve head assessment. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 2006; 47: 3374-3380.
- Rao HL, Kumar AU, Babu JG, Kumar A, Senthil S, Garudadri CS. Predictors of normal optic nerve head, retinal nerve fiber layer, and macular parameters measured by spectral domain optical coherence tomography. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 2011; 52: 1103-1110.

2. Structure

- Medeiros FA, Zangwill LM, Bowd C, Weinreb RN. Comparison of the GDx VCC scanning laser polarimeter, HRT II confocal scanning laser ophthalmoscope, and stratus OCT optical coherence tomograph for the detection of glaucoma. Arch Ophthalmol 2004; 122: 827-837.
- 5. Strouthidis NG, White ET, Owen VM, Ho TA, Hammond CJ, Garway-Heath DF. Factors affecting the test-retest variability of Heidelberg retina tomograph and Heidelberg retina tomograph II measurements. Br J Ophthalmol 2005; 89: 1427-1432.
- Samarawickrama C, Pai A, Huynh SC, Burlutsky G, Wong TY, Mitchell P. Influence of OCT signal strength on macular, optic nerve head, and retinal nerve fiber layer parameters. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci; 51: 4471-4475.
- Cheung CY, Leung CK, Lin D, Pang CP, Lam DS. Relationship between retinal nerve fiber layer measurement and signal strength in optical coherence tomography. Ophthalmology 2008; 115: 1347-1351, 1351 e1-2.
- 8. van Velthoven ME, van der Linden MH, de Smet MD, Faber DJ, Verbraak FD. Influence of cataract on optical coherence tomography image quality and retinal thickness. Br J Oph-thalmol 2006; 90: 1259-1262.
- Ching HY, Wong AC, Wong CC, Woo DC, Chan CW. Cystoid macular oedema and changes in retinal thickness after phacoemulsification with optical coherence tomography. Eye (Lond) 2006; 20: 297-303.
- Balasubramanian M, Bowd C, Vizzeri G, Weinreb RN, Zangwill LM. Effect of image quality on tissue thickness measurements obtained with spectral domain-optical coherence tomography. Opt Express 2009; 17: 4019-4036.
- 11. Kang SH, Hong SW, Im SK, Lee SH, Ahn MD. Effect of myopia on the thickness of the retinal nerve fiber layer measured by Cirrus HD optical coherence tomography. Invest Oph-thalmol Vis Sci; 51: 4075-4083.
- 12. Sung KR, Wollstein G, Schuman JS, et al. Scan quality effect on glaucoma discrimination by glaucoma imaging devices. Br J Ophthalmol 2009; 93: 1580-1584.
- 13. Wu Z, Huang J, Dustin L, Sadda SR. Signal strength is an important determinant of accuracy of nerve fiber layer thickness measurement by optical coherence tomography. J Glaucoma 2009; 18: 213-216.
- 14. Stein DM, Wollstein G, Ishikawa H, Hertzmark E, Noecker RJ, Schuman JS. Effect of corneal drying on optical coherence tomography. Ophthalmology 2006; 113: 985-991.
- 15. Wu Z, Vazeen M, Varma R, et al. Factors associated with variability in retinal nerve fiber layer thickness measurements obtained by optical coherence tomography. Ophthalmology 2007; 114: 1505-1512.
- 16. Vizzeri G, Bowd C, Medeiros FA, Weinreb RN, Zangwill LM. Effect of signal strength and improper alignment on the variability of stratus optical coherence tomography retinal nerve fiber layer thickness measurements. Am J Ophthalmol 2009; 148: 249-255, e1.
- 17. El-Ashry M, Appaswamy S, Deokule S, Pagliarini S. The effect of phacoemulsification cataract surgery on the measurement of retinal nerve fiber layer thickness using optical coherence tomography. Curr Eye Res 2006; 31: 409-413.
- Domalpally A, Danis RP, Zhang B, Myers D, Kruse CN. Quality issues in interpretation of optical coherence tomograms in macular diseases. Retina 2009; 29: 775-781.
- Krebs I, Falkner-Radler C, Hagen S, et al. Quality of the threshold algorithm in age-related macular degeneration: Stratus versus Cirrus OCT. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 2009; 50: 995-1000.
- Ortega Jde L, Kakati B, Girkin CA. Artifacts on the optic nerve head analysis of the optical coherence tomography in glaucomatous and nonglaucomatous eyes. J Glaucoma 2009; 18: 186-191.
- 21. Medeiros FA, Alencar LM, Zangwill LM, Sample PA, Susanna R, Jr., Weinreb RN. Impact of atypical retardation patterns on detection of glaucoma progression using the GDx with variable corneal compensation. Am J Ophthalmol 2009; 148: 155-163, e1.
- Bagga H, Greenfield DS, Feuer WJ. Quantitative assessment of atypical birefringence images using scanning laser polarimetry with variable corneal compensation. Am J Ophthalmol 2005; 139: 437-446.

2.2 Reproducibility of digital imaging instruments

Chris Girkin, Tanuj Dada, Antonio Martinez Garcia, Michael Kook

Consensus statements

1. Measurement variability influences the ability of any device to detect progression.

Comment: There is a wide range of reproducibility estimates in the literature for SLP, CSLO, and OCT. Although studies of comparisons of instruments within the same patient populations are limited, these techniques likely provide data of similar reproducibility.

Comment: Overall, SDOCT has better reproducibility than TDOCT.

2. There is a lack of consensus in the literature as to whether reproducibility changes across disease severity and this may vary across measured anatomic structures and techniques.

2.2.1 Overview (Chris Girkin)

What are the relative reproducibility of the imaging devices?

The HRT III, TDOCT and GDx-VCC all have similar levels of measurement variability when compared within the some study population (Table 1).

Does SDOCT provide better reproducibility?

Spectral Domain OCT compares favorably across multiple studies compared to TDOCT. (Average ICC (SDOCT = 0.97), average ICC (SDOCT = 0.81) (Table 2).)

Table 1. Comparision of reproducibility of HRT, GDx, and TDOCT in the same study population

| | RC | ICC | Sensitivity to Change | | |
|-----------------------|---------------------|------|-----------------------|--|--|
| HRT 3 Global Rim Area | 0.22mm ² | 0.97 | 10.2 | | |
| GDx-vcc NFI | 4.7 μm | 0.98 | 11.3 | | |
| TD OCT RNFL | 11.7 μm | 0.97 | 9.3 | | |

(From: Leung CK, Cheung CY, Lin D, *et al.* Longitudinal variability of optic disc and retinal nerve fiber layer measurements. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 2008; 49: 4886.)

| Study | Measurements | Subjects | OCT | ICC | CV (%) | IV(µm) |
|--|---------------|----------|-----|------|-----------|--------|
| Schuman <i>et al.</i> ¹ | Average RNFLT | Glaucoma | TD | 0.56 | NA | NA |
| Blumenthal et al. ² | Average RNFLT | Glaucoma | TD | NA | 13.0 | 5.8 |
| Carpineto P et al. ³ | Average RNFLT | Glaucoma | TD | 0.52 | NA | NA |
| Gurses-Ozden et al.4 | Average RNFLT | Healthy | TD | NA | 6.9 | NA |
| Budenz et al. ⁵ | Average RNFLT | Glaucoma | TD | 0.98 | 3.7 | 5.2 |
| Pueyo et al.6 | Average RNFLT | Glaucoma | TD | NA | 9.6 | NA |
| Budenz et al.7 | Average RNFLT | Glaucoma | TD | 0.96 | 5.2 | 6.6 |
| Menke M et al. ⁸ | Average RNFLT | Healthy | SD | 0.95 | 2.9 | NA |
| Cettomai D et al.9 | Average RNFLT | MS | TD | 0.91 | NA | NA |
| González-García A et al. ¹⁰ | Average RNFLT | Glaucoma | SD | 0.97 | 1.9 | 4.6 |
| Vizzeri G et al.11 | Average RNFLT | Glaucoma | SD | 0.98 | 1.6 | NA |
| Antón A et al. ¹² | Average RNFLT | Glaucoma | TD | 0.94 | 4.4 | NA |
| Leung CK et al.13 | Average RNFLT | Glaucoma | TD | 0.87 | 3.6 | 11.1 |
| Leung CK et al.13 | Average RNFLT | Glaucoma | SD | 0.96 | 1.8 | 4.86 |
| Garas A et al. ¹⁴ | Average RNFLT | Glaucoma | SD | 0.99 | 2.2 | 3.7 |
| Lee S et al. ¹⁴ | Average RNFLT | Glaucoma | SD | 0.99 | 2.0 | 3.8 |
| Mwanza JC et al. ¹⁵ | Average RNFLT | Glaucoma | SD | 0.99 | 1.9 | 3.9 |
| Li JP et al. ¹⁶ | Average RNFLT | Healthy | SD | 0.95 | 3.9 | 8.3 |
| Wu H et al. ¹⁷ | Average RNFLT | Glaucoma | SD | 0.95 | 1.7 | 2.3 |
| Cremasco F et al. ¹⁸ | Average RNFLT | Glaucoma | SD | 0.99 | 3.7 | NA |
| Mansoori T et al. ¹⁹ | Average RNFLT | Glaucoma | SD | 0.99 | 4.0 | NA |
| Langenegger SJ ²⁰ | Average RNFLT | Glaucoma | SD | 0.99 | 2.7 | NA |

Table 2. Reproducibility/variability characteristics of publications with SD and TD OCT

Abbreviations: OCT= optical coherence tomography; ICC= Intraclass correlation coefficient; CV= coefficient of variations; IV= Intratest variability; TD= time domain; SD= spectral domain; MS= Multiple sclerosis.

Is there an effect of disease severity on reproducibility?

Numerous publications have examined the reproducibility of instrument across disease severity with conflicting results. Some studies show no change in reproducibility of rim area (HRT) and RNFL thickness (GDx and TDOCT) while others show an increase in variability with disease severity.

- Schuman JS, Pedut-Kloizman T, Hertzmark E, Hee MR, Wilkins JR, Coker JG, et al. Reproducibility of nerve fiber layer thickness measurements using optical coherence tomography. Ophthalmology 1996; 103: 1889-1898.
- Blumenthal EZ, Williams JM, Weinreb RN, Girkin CA, Berry CC, Zangwill LM. Reproducibility of nerve fiber layer thickness measurements by use of optical coherence tomography. Ophthalmology 2000; 107: 2278-2282.

- Carpineto P, Ciancaglini M, Zuppardi E, Falconio G, Doronzo E, Mastropasqua L. Reliability of nerve fiber layer thickness measurements using optical coherence tomography in normal and glaucomatous eyes. Ophthalmology 2003; 110: 190-195.
- Gürses-Ozden R, Teng C, Vessani R, Zafar S, Liebmann JM, Ritch R. Macular and retinal nerve fiber layer thickness measurement reproducibility using optical coherence tomography (OCT-3). J Glaucoma 2004; 13: 238-244.
- Budenz DL, Chang RT, Huang X, Knighton RW, Tielsch JM. Reproducibility of retinal nerve fiber thickness measurements using the stratus OCT in normal and glaucomatous eyes. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 2005; 46: 2440-2443.
- 6. Pueyo V, Polo V, Larrosa JM, Mayoral F, Ferreras A, Honrubia FM. Reproducibility of optic nerve head and retinal nerve fiber layer thickness measurements using optical coherence tomography. Arch Soc Esp Oftalmol 2006; 81: 205-211.
- Budenz DL, Fredette MJ, Feuer WJ, Anderson DR. Reproducibility of peripapillary retinal nerve fiber thickness measurements with stratus OCT in glaucomatous eyes. Ophthalmology 2008; 115: 661-666.
- Menke MN, Knecht P, Sturm V, Dabov S, Funk J. Reproducibility of nerve fiber layer thickness measurements using 3D fourier-domain OCT. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 2008; 49: 5386-5391.
- Cettomai D, Pulicken M, Gordon-Lipkin E, Salter A, Frohman TC, Conger A, et al. Reproducibility of optical coherence tomography in multiple sclerosis. Arch Neurol 2008; 65: 1218-1222.
- González-García AO, Vizzeri G, Bowd C, Medeiros FA, Zangwill LM, Weinreb RN. Reproducibility of RTVue retinal nerve fiber layer thickness and optic disc measurements and agreement with Stratus optical coherence tomography measurements. Am J Ophthalmol 2009; 147: 1067-1074.
- Vizzeri G, Weinreb RN, Gonzalez-Garcia AO, Bowd C, Medeiros FA, Sample PA, et al. Agreement between spectral-domain and time-domain OCT for measuring RNFL thickness. Br J Ophthalmol 2009; 93: 775-781.
- 12. Antón A, Castany M, Pazos-Lopez M, Cuadrado R, Flores A, Castilla M. Reproducibility of measurements and variability of the classification algorithm of Stratus OCT in normal, hypertensive, and glaucomatous patients. Clin Ophthalmol 2009; 3: 139-145.
- Garas A, Vargha P, Holló G. Reproducibility of retinal nerve fiber layer and macular thickness measurement with the RTVue-100 optical coherence tomograph. Ophthalmology 2010; 117: 738-746.
- 14. Lee SH, Kim SH, Kim TW, Park KH, Kim DM. Reproducibility of retinal nerve fiber thickness measurements using the test-retest function of spectral OCT/SLO in normal and glaucomatous eyes. J Glaucoma 2010; 19: 637-642.
- 15. Mwanza JC, Chang RT, Budenz DL, Durbin MK, Gendy MG, Shi W, et al. Reproducibility of peripapillary retinal nerve fiber layer thickness and optic nerve head parameters measured with cirrus HD-OCT in glaucomatous eyes. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 2010; 51: 5724-5730.
- Li JP, Wang XZ, Fu J, Li SN, Wang NL. Reproducibility of RTVue retinal nerve fiber layer thickness and optic nerve head measurements in normal and glaucoma eyes. Chin Med J (Engl) 2010; 123: 1898-1903.
- Wu H, de Boer JF, Chen TC. Reproducibility of Retinal Nerve Fiber Layer Thickness Measurements Using Spectral Domain Optical Coherence Tomography. J Glaucoma 2010; Sep 16. [Epub ahead of print].
- Cremasco F, Massa G, Gonçalves Vidotti V, Pedroso de Carvalho Lupinacci A, Costa VP. Intrasession, intersession, and interexaminer variabilities of retinal nerve fiber layer measurements with spectral-domain OCT. Eur J Ophthalmol 2010; 21: 264-270.
- Mansoori T, Viswanath K, Balakrishna N. Reproducibility of peripapillary retinal nerve fibre layer thickness measurements with spectral domain optical coherence tomography in normal and glaucomatous eyes. Br J Ophthalmol 2011; Jan 8. [Epub ahead of print].

 Langenegger SJ, Funk J, Toeteberg-Harms M. Reproducibility of Retinal Nerve Fiber Layer Thickness Measurements using the Eye Tracker and Retest Function of Spectralis(R) SD-OCT in Glaucomatous Eyes and Healthy Controls. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 2011; Feb 17. [Epub ahead of print].

2.2.2 Confocal scanning laser ophthalmoscopy (Michael Kook)

For the HRT 1, the ICC ranged between 0.79 and 0.99 for intraobserver intraimage evaluation and between 0.56 and 1 for intraobserver interimage evaluation. The ICC ranged between 0.54 and 0.99 for interobserver intraimage and between 0.65 and 0.97 for the interobserver interimage evaluation. Interimage evaluation showed a higher variability than intraimage evaluation in both of interobserver (p = 0.012) and intraobserver evaluation (p = 0.028 and P = 0.031 for the two observers).¹

For the factors that influenced the HRT variability, the regional variability of topographic measurements correlated with the steepness of the corresponding region and is highest at the edge of the optic disc cup and along vessels.² The quality and variability of the images was associated with pupil size³ and density of nuclear and posterior subcapsular cataracts.^{4,5} In addition, HRT measurements were influenced by changes in intraocular pressure^{6,7} and cardiac cycle.⁸ Intervisit variability was generally higher than intravisit variability.¹

With the HRT 2, the variability in healthy subjects was reportedly less than 12% in all but three parameters, with rim area being the least variable parameter.⁹ The mean standard deviation for one pixel of the total image is about 30 microns in glaucoma patients and 25 microns in healthy subjects.^{10,11}

Intervisit variability data over a clinically relevant time period with multiple measurements would be more important and useful to use in determining the true 'biological' change or progression over time in a given device. For the HRT 3, in terms of longitudinal variability, the coefficient of variation and ICC for global rim area were 0.22 mm² (95% CI:0.19-0.24 mm²), and 0.97(95% CI:0.95-0.98) respectively including both normal and glaucoma subjects. For normal subjects only, the coefficient of variation was 0.13 (95% CI:0.11-0.15) while that of glaucomatous patients was 0.28 (95% CI:0.24-0.32).¹²

For the glaucoma probability Score (GPS) of HRT 3, there was heteroskedasticity. The variance of repeat tests is not equal across the range of the variable. There seemed to be high reproducibility (tight distribution around the mean difference) at low and high GPS scores and poor reproducibility (wide distribution around the mean difference) in between. Reproducibility of GPS was better at its extremes(-0.01 ± 0.20 for GPS 0-0.30, and 0.02 ± 0.09 for GPS 0.78-1.00) than in its mid range (0.07 ± 0.54 for GPS 0.30-0.78).¹³

References

- 1. Miglior S, Albe E, Guareschi M, et al., Intraobserver and interobserver reproducibility in the evaluation of optic disc stereometric parameters by Heidelberg retina tomography. Oph-thalmology 2002; 109: 1072-1077.
- 2. Brigatti L, Weitzman M, Caprioli J. Regional test-retest variability of confocal scanning laser tomography. Am J Ophthalmol 1995; 120: 433-440.
- 3. Tomita G, Honbe K, Kitazawa Y, Reproducibility of measurements by laser scanning tomography in eyes before and after pilocarpine treatment. Graefes Arch Clin Exp Ophthal 1994; 232: 406-408.
- 4. Zangwill LM, Berry CC, Weinreb RN. Optic disc topographic measurements after pupil dilation. Ophthalmology 1999; 106: 1751-1755.
- 5. Zangwill L, et al. Effect of cataract and pupil size on image quality with confocal scanning laser ophthalmoscopy. Arch Ophthalmol 1997; 115: 983-990.
- 6. Azuara-Blanco A, et al. Effects of short term increase of intraocular pressure on optic disc cupping. Br J Ophthalmol 1998; 82: 880-883.
- 7. Bowd C, et al. Optic disk topography after medical treatment to reduce intraocular pressure. Am J Ophthalmol 2000; 130: 280-286.
- 8. Chauhan BC, McCormick TA. Effect of the cardiac cycle on topographic measurements using confocal scanning laser tomography. Graefes Arch Clin Exp Ophthalmol 1995; 233: 568-572.
- 9. Verdonick N, et al. Short-term intra-individual variability in Heidelberg Retina Tomograph 2. Bull Soc Belge Ophthalmol 2002; 286: 51-57.
- 10. Weinreb RN, et al. Effect of repetitive imaging on topographic measurements of the optic nerve head. Arch Ophthalmol 1993; 111: 636-638.
- 11. Chauhan BC, et al. Test-retest variability of topographic measurements with confocal scanning laser tomography in patients with glaucoma and control subjects. Am J Ophthalmol 1994; 118: 9-15.
- 12. Leung CK, Cheung CY, Lin D, et al. Longitudinal variability of optic disc and retinal nerve fiber layer measurements. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 2008; 49: 4886-4892.
- Strouthidis NG, Demirel S, Asaoka Ryo, et al. The Heidelberg retina tomography glaucoma probability score, Reproducibility and measurement of progression. Ophthalmology 2010; 117: 724-729.

2.2.3 Scanning laser polarimetry (Tanuj Dada)

Variability of corneal polarization axis and magnitude

Mai *et al.*¹ investigated the longitudinal corneal birefringence (corneal polarization axis [CPA] and corneal polarization magnitude [CPM]) variability in scanning laser polarimetry with variable corneal compensation and its effect on retinal nerve fiber layer measurements with polarimetry images obtained every six months for 3.2 years in 16 healthy eyes, 38 eyes with ocular hypertension, and 53 eyes with glaucoma in 107 white participants. The CPA and CPM measurement variability showed no trend with time and did not differ between diagnostic groups. It did not appear to be affected by age. With more than 90% of the CPA and CPM measurement variability within the range of \pm 5 degrees or \pm 5 nm, no significant effect on the retinal nerve fiber layer measurements was observed. The CPA and CPM measurement variability did not differ between groups, showed no trend over time, was independent of subject age, and did not seem to systematically affect retinal nerve fiber layer reproducibility.

Intersession reproducibility of GDxVCC

Iacono *et al.*² assessed the intersession reproducibility of retinal nerve fiber layer (RNFL) thickness measurements on scanning laser polarimetry with variable corneal compensation (GDx-VCC) in a sample of 29 healthy subjects and 29 glaucoma patients at one week interval. GDx-VCC parameters considered were TSNIT average and standard deviation (SD), superior and inferior average (SA, IA), Nerve Fiber Indicator. Coefficient of variation was <6% for TSNIT average, SA and IA in both groups. Corresponding values for TSNIT SD in healthy subjects and in glaucoma patients were 13.7 and 11.4%, respectively, whereas for Nerve Fiber Indicator they were 82.9 and 13.3%. Intraclass correlation coefficient ranged from 0.794 to 0.907 in healthy subjects and from 0.924 to 0.972 in glaucoma patients. In healthy subjects, TSNIT average, SA and IA intersession difference was 5% or less in 55-69% of eyes, whereas the value for TSNIT SD was 34.5%. Corresponding values in glaucomatous eyes ranged from 69 to 79.3% for TSNIT average, SA and IA and was 37.9% for TSNIT SD. Intersession reproducibility of RNFL thickness measurements on GDx-VCC is high, both in healthy and in glaucomatous eyes. In a few cases, however, intersession variation may be larger than 10%. Caution is necessary while interpreting these changes during follow up, in order to separate physiological variability from real RNFL thickness variations.

RNFL measurement repeatability of GDxECC

Mai *et al.*³ investigated the measurement repeatability of the various standard retinal nerve fiber layer (RNFL) parameters in scanning laser polarimetry (SLP) with enhanced corneal compensation (ECC) in 16 healthy eyes, 32 eyes with ocular hypertension (OHT), and 35 glaucomatous eyes. SLP ECC imaging was performed three times on the same day. Intraeye within-subject standard deviation (Sw), repeatability coefficient, and the two-way mixed intraclass correlation coefficient for various standard RNFL parameters in SLP ECC were evaluated. In glaucomatous eyes, the Sw and repeatability coefficient for the nerve fiber indicator and temporal-superior-nasal-inferior-temporal average were statistically significantly higher than in healthy eyes and eyes with OHT. The Sw values for various parameters were generally considerably less than 9% of the measurement spectrum. RNFL measurements by SLP ECC had, in general, a good measurement repeatability, although some parameters seemed to be less stable in glaucomatous eyes than in healthy eyes and eyes with OHT. SLP ECC may therefore probably be employed for the detection of glaucomatous progression.

Longitudinal Variability of RNFL measurements with GDxVCC

Leung et al.⁴ evaluated the longitudinal variability of optic disc and retinal nerve fiber layer (RNFL) measurements obtained from Stratus OCT, GDxVCC and HRT 3. Forty-five normal and 43 glaucomatous eyes of 88 subjects were analyzed in this longitudinal study. Three separate measurements taken over an average period of 8.8 ± 1.2 months were used to evaluate measurement variability. Reproducibility coefficient, coefficient of variation, intraclass correlation coefficient (ICC), and sensitivity to change [(97.5 percentile value -2.5 percentile value)/2 x within-subject standard deviation (Sw)] of the global measures were calculated. Low variability was found for RNFL measurements. The reproducibility coefficient, ICC, and sensitivity to change for OCT average RNFL thickness, GDx VCC TSNIT average, and HRT global rim area were 11.7 microm (95% confidence interval [CI]: 10.5-12.9 microm), 0.97 (0.96-0.98), 10.2 (9.2-11.4); 4.7 microm (4.2-5.1 microm), 0.98 (0.97-0.99), 11.3 (10.2-12.6); and 0.22 mm² (0.19-0.24 mm²), 0.97 (0.95-0.98), 9.3 (8.4-10.4), respectively. Longitudinal RNFL and neuroretinal rim measurements obtained with OCT, SLP, and CSLO have low variability. As the measurement variability does not change with the severity of glaucoma, these parameters are useful for assessment of glaucoma progression.

Longitudinal Retardance Pattern Variability

Grewal et al.5 evaluated the impact of retardance pattern variability on retinal nerve fiber layer (RNFL) measurements over time using scanning laser polarimetry with variable (GDxVCC) versus enhanced corneal compensation (GDxECC) in 51 glaucoma suspect and 35 glaucomatous eyes with four years of follow-up participating in Advanced Imaging in Glaucoma Study. Typical scan score (TSS) values were extracted as a measure of retardance image quality; atypical retardation pattern (ARP) was defined as TSS < 80. TSS fluctuation over time was measured using three parameters: change in TSS from baseline, absolute difference (maximum - minimum TSS value), and TSS variance. Linear mixed-effects models that accommodated the association between the two eyes were constructed to evaluate the relationship between change in TSS and RNFL thickness over time. There was significantly greater fluctuation in TSS values over time using GDxVCC compared with GDxECC as measured using the absolute difference (18.40 \pm 15.35 vs 2.50 \pm 4.69 units, p < 0.001), TSS variance $(59.63 \pm 87.27 \text{ vs } 3.82 \pm 9.63 \text{ units}, p < 0.001)$, and change in TSS from baseline (-0.83 \pm 11.2 vs 0.25 \pm 2.9, p = 0.01). The change in TSS over time significantly (p = 0.006) influenced the TSNIT average RNFL thickness using GDxVCC but not GDxECC. The authors concluded that longitudinal images obtained with GDxECC have significantly less variability in TSS values and retardance patterns, and reduced bias produced by ARP on RNFL progression assessment.

Effect of severity of glaucoma on intrasession variability

Garas et al.⁶ evaluated the influence of pupil dilation on repeatability of scanning laser polarimetry with variable (GDx-VCC) and enhanced (GDx-ECC) corneal compensation, in different stages of glaucoma. One eye of each of 37 Caucasian participants [14 healthy and ocular hypertensive subjects with mean deviation (MD) < 2 dB, 11 glaucoma patients with MD 6 to 12 dB, and 12 glaucoma patients with MD > 15 dB] was imaged five times with both GDx-VCC and GDx-ECC, before and after pupil dilation. No statistically significant alteration was found for any parameter or most coefficients of variation in any group, or in the total study population, due to pupil dilation. Intrasession variability was below 6 µm for all parameters and all groups irrespective of corneal compensation and pupil dilation. By using GDx-ECC, a statistically significant trend for higher coefficient of variation values in more severe stages of glaucoma was found, irrespective of pupil dilation (Jonckheere-Terpstra test, P < 0.026, for all parameters). With GDx-VCC, this trend was not seen for two of the three parameters before pupil dilation, but did appear for all parameters in mydriasis (P < 0.002). The authors concluded that repeatability of GDx-VCC and GDx-ECC is similar, and is satisfactory for clinical purposes; it is only minimally influenced by pharmacological mydriasis. However, repeatability of the measurement decreases with increasing severity of glaucoma. This characteristic is better detectable with GDx-ECC than with GDx-VCC.

GDX vs OCT repeatability

Garas et al.⁷ compared repeatability of measurements of peripapillary retinal nerve fiber layer thickness (RNFLT) made using the RTVue-100 Fourier-domain optical coherence tomograph against repeatability of those made using scanning laser polarimetry with variable corneal compensation or enhanced corneal compensation (GDx-VCC and GDx-ECC, respectively) in one eye of each of 37 participants (14 normal and ocular hypertensive subjects, 11 patients with moderate, and 12 with severe glaucoma; groups 1, 2, and 3, respectively) was imaged using the RTVue Optic Nerve Head Map scan, GDx-VCC, and GDx-ECC, each five times on the same day. The coefficient of variation (CV) were compared. The average RNFLT CV was significantly lower with RTVue (2.11%) than with GDx-ECC (3.22%, P = 0.004), for all participants. For temporal quadrant RNFLT in all participants, and group 1, CV with RTVue (4.88% and 3.30%) was significantly lower than with GDx-ECC (7.40% and 5.88%; P =0.004), and tended to be lower than with GDx-VCC (6.81% and 5.80%; P =0.011 and 0.016, respectively). For all participants, CV for inferior quadrant RNFLT was significantly lower with RTVue (3.49%) than with GDx-VCC (5.20%, P = 0.002). For average peripapillary RNFLT and temporal quadrant RNFLT, repeatability of RTVue was better than that of GDx-ECC, and tended to be better than that of GDx-VCC.

References

- 1. Mai TA, Lemij HG. Longitudinal measurement variability of corneal birefringence and retinal nerve fiber layer thickness in scanning laser polarimetry with variable corneal compensation. Arch Ophthalmol 2008; 126: 1359-1364.
- 2. Iacono P, Da Pozzo S, Fuser M, Marchesan R, Ravalico G. Intersession reproducibility of retinal nerve fiber layer thickness measurements by GDx-VCC in healthy and glaucomatous eyes. Ophthalmologica 2006; 220: 266-271.
- Mai TA, Reus NJ, Lemij HG. Retinal nerve fiber layer measurement repeatability in scanning laser polarimetry with enhanced corneal compensation. J Glaucoma 2008; 17: 269-274.
- 4. Leung CK, Cheung CY, Lin D, Pang CP, Lam DS, Weinreb RN. Longitudinal variability of optic disc and retinal nerve fiber layer measurements. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 2008; 49: 4886-4892.
- Grewal DS, Sehi M, Cook RJ, Greenfield DS; Advanced Imaging in Glaucoma Study Group. The Impact of Retardance Pattern Variability on Nerve Fiber Layer Measurements over Time using GDx with Variable and Enhanced Corneal Compensation. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 2011; Feb 4. [Epub ahead of print]
- Garas A, Tóth M, Vargha P, Holló G. Influence of pupil dilation on repeatability of scanning laser polarimetry with variable and enhanced corneal compensation in different stages of glaucoma. J Glaucoma 2010; 19: 142-148.
- Garas A, Tóth M, Vargha P, Holló G. Comparison of repeatability of retinal nerve fiber layer thickness measurement made using the RTVue Fourier-domain optical coherence tomograph and the GDx scanning laser polarimeter with variable or enhanced corneal compensation. J Glaucoma 2010; 19: 412-417.

2.2.4 Optical coherence tomography (Antonio Martinez Garcia)

Reproducibility of optical coherence tomography

Optical coherence tomography (OCT) is a high-resolution imaging technique that allows *in-vivo* measurements of the retinal nerve fiber layer (RNFL) in cross section. However, for the instrument to measure the presence of glaucoma or its progression accurately, it first must be shown to be reproducible.

The NFL thickness measurements of normal and glaucomatous eyes using OCT have proved to provide adequate reproducibility. Schuman *et al.*¹ used an OCT technique that performed circular scans around the center of the optic disc using a 2.9-, 3.4-, and 4.5-mm circle diameter and reported that reproducibility, as measured by intraclass correlation coefficients, ranged from 0.42 to 0.57 in normal and glaucoma patients, respectively. Blumenthal *et al.*² reported a coefficient of variation (CV) of 13.0%. Nevertheless, this found that the CV was significantly smaller in the normal eyes (7%, p = 0.02) than in glaucomatous eyes. Additionally, this study found that the coefficient of variation was larger in the temporal and nasal quadrants than in the superior and inferior quadrants. Carpineto *et al.*³ in 2003 found similar results to those found by Schuman *et al.*¹ Gürses-Ozden *et al.*,⁴ using a OCT-3 (software version A1.1, Carl Zeiss Meditec, Inc., Dublin, CA), reported, in patients with glaucoma, a CV for mean total RNFL thickness measurements that ranged from 6.9 +/- 6.4%

to 8.0 +/- 3.5% for operators 1 and 2 in fast and regular RNFL protocols. The CV, with the OCT-3, for mean total RNFL thickness measurements ranged from the 2.9% observed by Menke *et al.*⁸ to the 9.6% reported by Pueyo *et al.*⁶ On the other hand, reproducibility with the OCT-3, for mean total RNFL thickness measurements, as measured by Intraclass correlation coefficients, ranged from 0.91 reported by Cettomai *et al.*⁹ to 0.98 found by Budenz *et al.*⁵

The average retinal nerve fiber layer thickness measurement showed the best reproducibility figures.^{5-7,9} However, different studies referred the nasal quadrant as the least reproducible.^{2,5-7} Superior quadrant was found to be the least reproducible in a study with patients affected by multiple sclerosis.⁹ Reproducibility with the Spectral domain OCT, for mean total RNFL thickness measurements, as measured by Intraclass correlation coefficients, ranged from 0.95 reported by Menke *et al.*⁸ to 0.99 found by different authors.^{13-15,18-20}

Additionally, the CV for the mean total RNFL measurements ranged from 1.6%¹¹ to 4.0%.¹⁹ Different studies have shown that time domain OCT (TD OCT) intrasession variability is low,^{5-7,9,12} with the tendency for the measurements in glaucomatous eyes to be more variable.^{5,7}

Nevertheless, it seems that the new spectral domain OCT (SD OCT) technology provides better reproducibility/variability figures in both healthy^{8,10,16} and glaucomatous eyes.^{10,11,13-15,17-21}

- Schuman JS, Pedut-Kloizman T, Hertzmark E, Hee MR, Wilkins JR, Coker JG, et al. Reproducibility of nerve fiber layer thickness measurements using optical coherence tomography. Ophthalmology 1996; 103: 1889-1898.
- Blumenthal EZ, Williams JM, Weinreb RN, Girkin CA, Berry CC, Zangwill LM. Reproducibility of nerve fiber layer thickness measurements by use of optical coherence tomography. Ophthalmology 2000; 107: 2278-2282.
- Carpineto P, Ciancaglini M, Zuppardi E, Falconio G, Doronzo E, Mastropasqua L. Reliability of nerve fiber layer thickness measurements using optical coherence tomography in normal and glaucomatous eyes. Ophthalmology 2003; 110: 190-195.
- Gürses-Ozden R, Teng C, Vessani R, Zafar S, Liebmann JM, Ritch R. Macular and retinal nerve fiber layer thickness measurement reproducibility using optical coherence tomography (OCT-3). J Glaucoma 2004; 13: 238-244.
- Budenz DL, Chang RT, Huang X, Knighton RW, Tielsch JM. Reproducibility of retinal nerve fiber thickness measurements using the stratus OCT in normal and glaucomatous eyes. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 2005; 46: 2440-2443.
- Pueyo V, Polo V, Larrosa JM, Mayoral F, Ferreras A, Honrubia FM. Reproducibility of optic nerve head and retinal nerve fiber layer thickness measurements using optical coherence tomography. Arch Soc Esp Oftalmol 2006; 81: 205-211.
- 7. Budenz DL, Fredette MJ, Feuer WJ, Anderson DR. Reproducibility of peripapillary retinal nerve fiber thickness measurements with stratus OCT in glaucomatous eyes. Ophthalmology 2008; 115: 661-666.
- Menke MN, Knecht P, Sturm V, Dabov S, Funk J. Reproducibility of nerve fiber layer thickness measurements using 3D fourier-domain OCT. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 2008; 49: 5386-5391.

- Cettomai D, Pulicken M, Gordon-Lipkin E, Salter A, Frohman TC, Conger A, et al. Reproducibility of optical coherence tomography in multiple sclerosis. Arch Neurol 2008; 65:1218-1222.
- González-García AO, Vizzeri G, Bowd C, Medeiros FA, Zangwill LM, Weinreb RN. Reproducibility of RTVue retinal nerve fiber layer thickness and optic disc measurements and agreement with Stratus optical coherence tomography measurements. Am J Ophthalmol 2009; 147: 1067-1074.
- Vizzeri G, Weinreb RN, Gonzalez-Garcia AO, Bowd C, Medeiros FA, Sample PA, et al. Agreement between spectral-domain and time-domain OCT for measuring RNFL thickness. Br J Ophthalmol 2009; 93: 775-778.
- 12. Antón A, Castany M, Pazos-Lopez M, Cuadrado R, Flores A, Castilla M. Reproducibility of measurements and variability of the classification algorithm of Stratus OCT in normal, hypertensive, and glaucomatous patients. Clin Ophthalmol 2009; 3: 139-145.
- Leung CK, Cheung CY, Weinreb RN, Qiu Q, Liu S, Li H, Xu G, Fan N, Huang L, Pang CP, Lam DS. Retinal nerve fiber layer imaging with spectral-domain optical coherence tomography: a variability and diagnostic performance study. Ophthalmology 2009; 116: 1257-1263, 1263.e1-2.
- Garas A, Vargha P, Holló G. Reproducibility of retinal nerve fiber layer and macular thickness measurement with the RTVue-100 optical coherence tomograph. Ophthalmology 2010; 117: 738-746.
- 15. Lee SH, Kim SH, Kim TW, Park KH, Kim DM. Reproducibility of retinal nerve fiber thickness measurements using the test-retest function of spectral OCT/SLO in normal and glaucomatous eyes. J Glaucoma 2010; 19: 637-642.
- Mwanza JC, Chang RT, Budenz DL, Durbin MK, Gendy MG, Shi W, et al. Reproducibility of peripapillary retinal nerve fiber layer thickness and optic nerve head parameters measured with cirrus HD-OCT in glaucomatous eyes. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 2010; 51: 5724-5730.
- Li JP, Wang XZ, Fu J, Li SN, Wang NL. Reproducibility of RTVue retinal nerve fiber layer thickness and optic nerve head measurements in normal and glaucoma eyes. Chin Med J (Engl) 2010; 123: 1898-1903.
- Wu H, de Boer JF, Chen TC. Reproducibility of Retinal Nerve Fiber Layer Thickness Measurements Using Spectral Domain Optical Coherence Tomography. J Glaucoma 2010; Sep 16. [Epub ahead of print].
- Cremasco F, Massa G, Gonçalves Vidotti V, Pedroso de Carvalho Lupinacci A, Costa VP. Intrasession, intersession, and interexaminer variabilities of retinal nerve fiber layer measurements with spectral-domain OCT. Eur J Ophthalmol 2010; 21: 264-270.
- 20. Mansoori T, Viswanath K, Balakrishna N. Reproducibility of peripapillary retinal nerve fibre layer thickness measurements with spectral domain optical coherence tomography in normal and glaucomatous eyes. Br J Ophthalmol 2011; Jan 8. [Epub ahead of print].
- 21. Langenegger SJ, Funk J, Toeteberg-Harms M. Reproducibility of Retinal Nerve Fiber Layer Thickness Measurements using the Eye Tracker and Retest Function of Spectralis[®] SD-OCT in Glaucomatous Eyes and Healthy Controls. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 2011; Feb 17. [Epub ahead of print].

2.3 How to detect and measure structural change?

Christopher Leung, Jost Jonas Ki-Ho Park, Kyung Rim Sung, Remo Susanna

Consensus statements

1. Event and trend based analyses are both useful for change detection. *Comment:* These analyses do not always concur.

- It is important to estimate the rate of structural progression for clinical management decisions. *Comment:* The rates of change obtained from measurements from optic disc, RNFL and macular parameters may vary from each other.
- 3. Quantitative assessment of optic disc and retinal nerve fibre layer (RNFL) with imaging instruments is useful and complementary for change detection. *Comment:* Data are limited on whether macular measurements may be useful for change detection.
- 4. Differences in technologies and scan protocols could influence the detection of progression even when the same structure is measured.
- 5. There is no clear consensus on which instruments or parameters are optimal to detect structural progression. As technologies evolve, new instruments and parameters which are clinically useful will emerge.

2.3.1 Trend versus event analyses (Kyung Rim Sung)

Event analysis (EA)

EA defines progression as a change that exceeds a certain predefined threshold compared with the baseline value. The threshold is generally determined by the measurement reproducibility, or the reproducibility coefficient. A number of factors may influence the measurement reproducibility of the optic disc and the retinal nerve fiber layer (RNFL). These include reliability of optic disc margin determination, accuracy of segmentation, location of reference plane, and precision of longitudinal image registration. There is a wide range of reproducibility estimates in the literature for scanning laser polarimetry (SLP), confocal scanning laser ophthalmoscopy (CSLO), and optical coherence tomography (OCT). Generally, measurement reproducibility employed in EA is determined by group data. However, some imaging devices estimate individual reproducibility coefficient for EA.

Since EA aims to detect 'change from baseline', more than one good quality baseline image facilitates progression analysis. Some instruments automatically acquire several baseline images during one imaging session.

Trend Analysis (TA)

TA examines change over a designated time period using regression analysis. TA generally requires more examinations to obtain a reliable regression slope. Compared with EA, TA has the advantage of computing the rate of change and thereby provides an assessment of disease prognosis (*i.e.*, how fast glaucoma is progressing) for individual eyes. It is important to estimate the rate of structural progression for clinical management decisions.

Theoretically, the rate of change of disease progression exceeds the rate of age-related change. Thus, knowledge of age-related change in healthy individuals

is important to evaluate disease progression. Such age-related change preferably comes from actual longitudinal data and not extrapolation from cross-sectional data. However, longitudinal analysis estimating age-related change has not been available.

There are very few studies comparing EA and TA for detection of glaucoma progression although it is generally believed that EA and TA are both useful for change detection. However, clinicians should be aware that these analyses do not always concur.

- 1. Wollstein G, Schuman JS, Price LL, Aydin A, Stark PC, Hertzmark E, Lai E, Ishikawa H, Mattox C, Fujimoto JG, Paunescu LA. Optical coherence tomography longitudinal evaluation of retinal nerve fiber layer thickness in glaucoma. Arch Ophthalmol 2005; 123: 464-470.
- Bowd C, Balasubramanian M, Weinreb RN, Vizzeri G, Alencar LM, O'Leary N, Sample PA, Zangwill LM. Performance of confocal scanning laser tomograph Topographic Change Analysis (TCA) for assessing glaucomatous progression. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 2009; 50: 691-701.
- 3. Lee EJ, Kim TW, Weinreb RN, Park KH, Kim SH, Kim DM. Trend-based analysis of retinal nerve fiber layer thickness measured by optical coherence tomography in eyes with localized nerve fiber layer defects. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 2011; 52: 1138-1144.
- 4. Leung CK, Cheung CY, Weinreb RN, Qiu K, Liu S, Li H, Xu G, Fan N, Pang CP, Tse KK, Lam DS. Evaluation of retinal nerve fiber layer progression in glaucoma: a study on optical coherence tomography guided progression analysis. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 2010; 51: 217-222.
- Medeiros FA, Zangwill LM, Alencar LM, Bowd C, Sample PA, Susanna R Jr, Weinreb RN. Detection of glaucoma progression with stratus OCT retinal nerve fiber layer, optic nerve head, and macular thickness measurements. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 2009; 50: 5741-5748.
- Medeiros FA, Zangwill LM, Alencar LM, Sample PA, Weinreb RN. Rates of progressive retinal nerve fiber layer loss in glaucoma measured by scanning laser polarimetry. Am J Ophthalmol 2010; 149: 908-915.
- Alencar LM, Zangwill LM, Weinreb RN, Bowd C, Sample PA, Girkin CA, Liebmann JM, Medeiros FA. A comparison of rates of change in neuroretinal rim area and retinal nerve fiber layer thickness in progressive glaucoma. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 2010; 51: 3531-3539.
- 8. Strouthidis NG, Demirel S, Asaoka R, Cossio-Zuniga C, Garway-Heath DF. The Heidelberg retina tomograph Glaucoma Probability Score: reproducibility and measurement of progression. Ophthalmology 2010; 117: 724-729.
- Asaoka R, Strouthidis NG, Kappou V, Gardiner SK, Garway-Heath DF. HRT-3 Moorfields reference plane: effect on rim area repeatability and identification of progression. Br J Ophthalmol 2009; 93: 1510-1513.
- 10. Fayers T, Strouthidis NG, Garway-Heath DF. Monitoring glaucomatous progression using a novel Heidelberg Retina Tomograph event analysis. Ophthalmology 2007; 114: 1973-1980.
- Sung KR, Wollstein G, Bilonick RA, Townsend KA, Ishikawa H, Kagemann L, Noecker RJ, Fujimoto JG, Schuman JS. Effects of age on optical coherence tomography measurements of healthy retinal nerve fiber layer, macula, and optic nerve head. Ophthalmology 2009; 116: 1119-1124.
- Alencar LM, Zangwill LM, Weinreb RN, Bowd C, Vizzeri G, Sample PA, Susanna R Jr, Medeiros FA. Agreement for detecting glaucoma progression with the GDx guided progression analysis, automated perimetry, and optic disc photography. Ophthalmology 2010; 117: 462-470.

- 13. Grewal DS, Sehi M, Greenfield DS. Detecting glaucomatous progression using GDx with variable and enhanced corneal compensation using Guided Progression Analysis. Br J Oph-thalmol 2011; 95: 502-508.
- O'Leary N, Crabb DP, Mansberger SL, Fortune B, Twa MD, Lloyd MJ, Kotecha A, Garway-Heath DF, Cioffi GA, Johnson CA. Glaucomatous progression in series of stereoscopic photographs and Heidelberg retina tomograph images. Arch Ophthalmol 2010; 128: 560-568.
- 15. Leung CK, Liu S, Weinreb RN, Lai G, Ye C, Cheung CY, Pang CP, Tse KK, Lam DS. Evaluation of retinal nerve fiber layer progression in glaucoma a prospective analysis with neuroretinal rim and visual field progression. Ophthalmology 2011; 118: 1551-1557.

2.3.2 Optic disc versus RNFL versus macular parameters (Jost Jonas, Remo Susana)

- If the diagnosis of glaucoma has been made, the most important remaining question is whether the disease is stable and the therapy and the compliance of the patient is sufficient, or whether the disease is progressive and the therapy, in relation to the life expectancy, has to be intensified. The earlier a progression of glaucoma is detected, the earlier the therapy can be adjusted.
- The progression of glaucomatous optic neuropathy is associated with changes in morphological and functional parameters. Which of these parameters are the most reliable ones for the detection of glaucoma progression may differ between open-angle glaucoma and angle-closure glaucoma, and also between different types of open-angle glaucoma and the different stages of the disease.
- The detection of glaucoma progression is facilitated by taking into account potential risk factors for it. These may include a high intraocular pressure, an advanced stage of glaucoma (including small neuroretinal rim, high c/d ratios, advanced visual field loss), type of glaucoma (angle-closure glaucoma versus open-angle glaucoma; pseudoexfoliative secondary chronic open-angle glaucoma versus primary open-angle glaucoma; high myopic open-angle glaucoma), a low compliance of the patient (including a low socioeconomic background and medical co-morbidities), a large beta zone of parapapillary atrophy, potentially a thin cornea, disc hemorrhage and others.
- The morphologic parameters for the detection of glaucoma progression can be divided into quantitative ones, which have to be measured by imaging devices, and qualitative ones, which can be assessed by ophthalmoscopy.
- The most important qualitative parameter indicating glaucoma progression may be an optic disc hemorrhage.
- The most important quantitative parameters indicating glaucoma progression are a loss in neuroretinal rim (as indicated by comparing confocal laser scanning tomograms of the optic nerve head), changes in the thickness and profile of the retinal nerve fiber layer (as measured by (spectral-domain) optical coherence tomography) or scanning laser ophthalmoscopy (GDx), changes in the contour of the optic nerve (measured by confocal laser scanning tomograms of the optic nerve head or optical coherence tomography),

and an enlargement of beta zone of parapapillary atrophy (as indicated by comparing optic disc photographs or manually comparing HRT print-outs).

- Potential additional parameters indicate glaucoma progression may be OCTmeasurements of macula thickness.
- The detection of glaucoma progression by comparing sketches in the clinical chart is generally not suitable for an early detection of progression and may be replaced by imaging techniques.
- An algorithm combining the parameters for glaucoma progression may further increase the diagnostic precision.

2.3.3 Agreement of progression detection among structural measures (Christopher Leung)

There are only a handful of clinical studies directly comparing optic disc, retinal nerve fiber layer (RNFL), and macular parameters for evaluation of glaucoma progression. In a longitudinal study following 390 glaucoma and glaucoma suspect patients, RNFL thickness measured by scanning laser polarimetry (SLP) was found to have a higher performance to discriminate eyes with progressing glaucoma by standard automated perimetry (SAP) and/or optic disc stereophotographs from stable eyes than rim area (RA) measured by CSLO.¹ In another study measuring optic disc, RNFL and macular parameters with the time-domain OCT in 253 glaucoma and glaucoma suspect patients, RNFL parameters (rates of change of RNFL thicknesses) performed significantly better than ONH and macular thickness measurements (rates of change of ONH and macular parameters) in discriminating progressing from nonprogressing eyes.² In a prospective study following 70 glaucoma patients for more than three years, the agreement of progression detection between RNFL (obtained with a time-domain OCT) and neuroretinal rim (obtained with a CSLO) measurements was poor.³ The rates of RNFL and neuroretinal rim progression vary considerably within and between glaucoma patients.

The discordance in the rate of change and progression detection among various structural parameters could be related to the differences in tissue composition of optic disc, RNFL and macular measurements. While the RNFL is largely composed of the axons of retinal ganglion cells, the neuroretinal rim also contains non-neural structures. Measurement of macular thickness with OCT comprises the inner and outer retina (longitudinal study on measurement of inner macular thickness has not been available). The inclusion of the outer retina in macular measurement may weaken the sensitivity to detect change. With major differences in structural composition, the longitudinal profiles of neuroretinal rim, RNFL and macula measurements are likely to be different.

Differences in technologies could affect the detection of progression even when the same structure is measured. GDx ECC performed significantly better than VCC for detection of change and their agreement was moderate.⁴⁻⁵ Spectral-domain OCT outperformed time-domain OCT in detecting more eyes with RNFL progression.⁶ With reduced measurement variability, it is expected that spectral-domain OCT can detect RNFL progression earlier than time-domain OCT. Differences in scan protocols from the same technology could also result in discordance in progression analysis. It has been shown that the agreement between the fast (256 A-scans) and the regular (512 A-scans) circumpapillary scans obtained with the time-domain OCT for detection of RNFL progression was only fair to moderate.⁷ The rate of average RNFL thickness progression was also different between the scan protocols (-1.01 μ m/year for the fast RNFL scan and -0.77 μ m/year for the regular scan).

To summarize, (1) the agreement for progression detection among optic disc, RNFL and macular parameters is poor; (2) the rates of change of optic disc, RNFL and macular parameters vary considerably within- and between- glaucoma patients; and (3) differences in technologies and scan protocols could influence the detection of progression even when the same structure is measured.

References

- 1. Alencar LM, Zangwill LM, Weinreb RN, et al. A comparison of rates of change in neuroretinal rim area and retinal nerve fiber layer thickness in progressive glaucoma. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 2010; 51: 3531-3539.
- 2. Medeiros FA, Zangwill LM, Alencar LM, et al. Detection of glaucoma progression with stratus OCT retinal nerve fiber layer, optic nerve head, and macular thickness measurements. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 2009; 50: 5741-5748.
- Leung CK, Liu S, Weinreb RN, et al. Evaluation of retinal nerve fiber layer progression in glaucoma: A prospective analysis with neuroretinal rim and visual field progression. Ophthalmology 2011; 118: 1551-1557.
- 4. Grewal DS, Sehi M, Greenfield DS. Detecting glaucomatous progression using GDx with variable and enhanced corneal compensation using Guided Progression Analysis. Br J Oph-thalmol 2011; 95: 502-508.
- Medeiros FA, Zangwill LM, Alencar LM, et al. Rates of progressive retinal nerve fiber layer loss in glaucoma measured by scanning laser polarimetry. Am J Ophthalmol 2010; 149: 908-915.
- Leung CK, Cheung CY, Weinreb RN, et al. Evaluation of retinal nerve fiber layer progression in glaucoma: A comparison between the fast and the regular retinal nerve fiber layer scans. Ophthalmology 2011; 118: 763-767.
- Leung CK, Chiu V, Weinreb RN, et al. Evaluation of retinal nerve fiber layer progression in glaucoma: A comparison between spectral-domain and time-domain optical coherence tomography. Ophthalmology 2011; 118: 1558-1562.

2.3.4 Commercially available methods: HRT TCA, GDx GPA, OCT GPA (Ki-Ho Park)

There are a number of commercially available methods to detect structural glaucoma progression by imaging instruments. One is topographic change analysis (TCA) of confocal scanning laser tomograph (Heidelberg Retina Tomograph, HRT; Heidelberg Engineering, Heidelberg, Germany) to detect progression in optic disc damage. TCA compares the topographic height variability at superpixels (4x4 pixels) in a baseline examination with the height change between baseline and follow-up examinations.

The other methods are trend based guided progression analysis (GPA) of optical coherence tomograph (OCT; Carl Zeiss Meditec, Dublin, CA) and scanning laser polarimetry (GDxVCC or GDxECC, Carl Zeiss Meditec. Dublin, CA) to detect retinal nerve fiber layer (RNFL) progression.

Longitudinal studies have reported acceptable performance of these methods to detect progression in glaucoma. However, there still remains an issue on how to set a reference standard of structural progression to evaluate these new methods because it has been well recognized that the agreement between progression by visual field and progression by structure is poor.

- TCA parameters of confocal scaning laser ophthalmoscope (HRT) can discriminate between progressing glaucomatous eyes and longitudinally observed stable healthy eyes, when the glaucomatous progression was defined by optic disc stereophotograph and/or standard automated perimetry guided progression analysis.
- GPA of scanning laser polarimetry (GDx) offers an approach to augment detection of glaucomatous RNFL structural progression. There was poor agreement between structural progression by GPA of GDx and functional progression by the slope of the visual field index.
- GPA of optical coherence tomography offers an approach to augment detection of glaucomatous RNFL structural progression.
- Because of reduced measurement variability, the SD-OCT detects more eyes with RNFL progression than the TD-OCT by trend based analysis.
- There is a possibility that early structural progression can be detected by the trend based analysis of imaging instruments before functional progression to be detected.

- 1. Chauhan BC, Blanchard JW, Hamilton DC, LeBlanc RP. Technique for detecting serial topographic changes in the optic disc and peripapillary retina using scanning laser tomography. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 2000; 41: 775-782.
- Bowd C, Balasubramanian M, Weinreb RN, Vizzeri G, Alencar LM, O'Leary N, Sample PA, Zangwill LM. Performance of confocal scanning laser tomograph Topographic Change Analysis (TCA) for assessing glaucomatous progression. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 2009; 50: 691-701.
- 3. Grewal DS, Sehi M, Greenfield DS. Detecting glaucomatous progression using GDx with variable and enhanced corneal compensation using Guided Progression Analysis. Br J Oph-thalmol 2011; 95: 502-508.
- 4. Leung CK, Cheung CY, Weinreb RN, Qiu K, Liu S, Li H, Xu G, Fan N, Pang CP, Tse KK, Lam DS. Evaluation of retinal nerve fiber layer progression in glaucoma: a study on optical coherence tomography guided progression analysis. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 2010; 51: 217-222.
- Leung CK, Chiu V, Weinreb RN, et al. Evaluation of Retinal Nerve Fiber Layer Progression in Glaucoma A Comparison between Spectral-Domain and Time-Domain Optical Coherence Tomography. Ophthalmology 2011; Apr 28. [Epub ahead of print]

2.4. How to define clinically significant structural change? (Bal Chauhan)

Consensus statements

- 1. Interpretation of statistically significant change should take into account test-retest variability and knowledge on the magnitude of age-related change in healthy individuals.
- 2. Knowledge of age-related change in healthy individuals should preferably come from actual longitudinal data and not extrapolation from cross-sectional data.
- 3. A statistically significant change in a structural parameter such as rim area or nerve fiber layer thickness is a relevant change, however, it may not be clinically meaningful. The latter also should take into account the age and stage of the disease as well as an assessment of risk factors present.

Comment: Currently, we have the tools to measure statistically significant change, however, to date we do not know how to fully assess the clinical importance of this change.

What do we mean by a clinically structural clinical change?

From the outset we are at a disadvantage here. Is there a direct real world consequence of a structural change? A patient is not likely to say 'Doctor, I feel my cup-disc ratio has increased,' but is more likely to indicate the functional consequence of a progressing scotoma close to fixation. There have now been some reports on the 'predictive' ability of a structural change for a functional (SAP) change. While there is evidence now that patients with structural change are more likely to encounter subsequent functional change than those that do not have structural change (in both ocular hypertension and manifest glaucoma), we would suggest that previous functional change is more predictive of subsequent functional change (and the same for structural change).

Structural changes at different stages of the disease process almost certainly have different real world consequences. We are only beginning to scratch the surface of this problem, but certainly defining a clinically meaningful structural change is more difficult than defining a clinically meaningful functional change (which is also not easy!).

What is the rate of age-related structural change and how do we differentiate aging from glaucomatous pathology?

We would like to propose from the outset that we define 'age-related' change appropriately. Most studies in this area have come from cross-sectional data with the assumption that this somehow is representative of how single individuals age. We and others have shown that this is certainly not the case and since the average magnitude of change we are talking about is really small, extrapolation of longitudinal change from cross-sectional data can lead to significant errors. The key issue is that using longitudinal data, normals do vary tremendously as they age. Finally, most longitudinal studies on aging have perhaps at most 10 years of data (at least with frequent testing), so we must acknowledge that we are only getting a small window of information on aging.

We also need to be very specific about what we mean by 'structure' (and 'function', but that is for the other group). Segregating age-related RNFL change from pathological glaucomatous change may be a different task than separating the age-related changes from the glaucomatous ones in the nerve head. There is no question that rates and topographical variations in the RNFL and nerve head have to be characterised in aging.

In the final analysis we can characterise changes with age and define in individuals or groups what deviates significantly from aging. However, in the final analysis we are left with powerful statistical evidence (though it may not be biologically significant) that something has changed. This is quite far away removed from what is a clinically meaningful change.

2.5 Issues in clinical practice

Makoto Araie, Andreas Boehm, Gadi Wollstein, Kyung Rim Sung, Christopher Leung

Consensus statements

- 1. The optimal frequency of imaging tests is unknown. *Comment:* It depends on the severity of the disease and on the expected speed of progression.
- 2. In longitudinal studies investigating optic disc and RNFL progression in glaucoma, imaging tests have been performed once a year to three times a year.
- 3. The same structural measures (e.g. RNFL thickness) obtained with different instruments from the same manufacturer or the same technology from different instrument manufacturers (*i.e.*, spectral domain OCT) are not necessarily interchangeable for progression assessment.
- Structural assessment of change is a valid method for detection of glaucomatous progression in a clinical trial. *Comment:* structural change has been shown to be predictive of future functional loss in glaucoma.

2.5.1 How often should an imaging test be performed? (Makoto Araie, Kyung Rim Sung)

There has been no study reporting on the optimal frequency of imaging test in following glaucoma progression. Theoretically, increased frequency of testing may improve the sensitivity to detect change. However, a higher frequency of

testing often requires additional resources. Thus, the optimal frequency of imaging test should be determined by considering the clinical profiles of individual patients. For example, patients with advanced glaucoma may require more frequent testing as treatment reinforcement may be needed to prevent irreversible loss of vision if progression is identified and confirmed. Likewise, patients who showed a rapid rate of change would need more frequent monitoring to evaluate treatment response. Most published studies investigating glaucoma progression had imaging test(s) performed in intervals ranging from every four months to once a year. Further studies are needed to investigate the optimal frequency of imaging tests.

- Nouri-Mahdavi K, Zarei R, Caprioli J. Influence of Visual Field Testing Frequency on Detection of Glaucoma Progression With Trend Analyses. Arch Ophthalmol 2011; Aug 8. [Epub ahead of print]
- 2. Chauhan BC, Nicolela MT, Artes PH. Incidence and rates of visual field progression after longitudinally measured optic disc change inglaucoma. Ophthalmology 2009; 116: 2110-2118.
- 3. Medeiros FA, Alencar LM, Zangwill LM, Bowd C, Sample PA, Weinreb RN. Prediction of functional loss in glaucoma from progressive optic disc damage. Arch Ophthalmol 2009; 127: 1250-1256.
- 4. Wollstein G, Schuman JS, Price LL, Aydin A, Stark PC, Hertzmark E, Lai E, Ishikawa H, Mattox C, Fujimoto JG, Paunescu LA. Optical coherence tomography longitudinal evaluation of retinal nerve fiber layer thickness in glaucoma. Arch Ophthalmol 2005; 123: 464-470.
- Bowd C, Balasubramanian M, Weinreb RN, Vizzeri G, Alencar LM, O'Leary N, Sample PA, Zangwill LM. Performance of confocal scanning laser tomograph Topographic Change Analysis (TCA) for assessing glaucomatous progression. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 2009; 50: 691-701.
- 6. Lee EJ, Kim TW, Weinreb RN, Park KH, Kim SH, Kim DM. Trend-based analysis of retinal nerve fiber layer thickness measured by optical coherence tomography in eyes with localized nerve fiber layer defects. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 2011; 52: 1138-1144.
- Leung CK, Cheung CY, Weinreb RN, Qiu K, Liu S, Li H, Xu G, Fan N, Pang CP, Tse KK, Lam DS. Evaluation of retinal nerve fiber layer progression in glaucoma: a study on optical coherence tomography guided progression analysis. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 2010; 51: 217-222.
- Medeiros FA, Zangwill LM, Alencar LM, Bowd C, Sample PA, Susanna R Jr, Weinreb RN. Detection of glaucoma progression with stratus OCT retinal nerve fiber layer, optic nerve head, and macular thickness measurements. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 2009; 50: 5741-5748.
- Medeiros FA, Zangwill LM, Alencar LM, Sample PA, Weinreb RN. Rates of progressive retinal nerve fiber layer loss in glaucoma measured by scanning laser polarimetry. Am J Ophthalmol 2010; 149: 908-915.
- Alencar LM, Zangwill LM, Weinreb RN, Bowd C, Sample PA, Girkin CA, Liebmann JM, Medeiros FA. A comparison of rates of change in neuroretinal rim area and retinal nerve fiber layer thickness in progressive glaucoma. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 2010; 51: 3531-3539.
- 11. Strouthidis NG, Demirel S, Asaoka R, Cossio-Zuniga C, Garway-Heath DF. The Heidelberg retina tomograph Glaucoma Probability Score: reproducibility and measurement of progression. Ophthalmology 2010; 117: 724-729.
- Asaoka R, Strouthidis NG, Kappou V, Gardiner SK, Garway-Heath DF. HRT-3 Moorfields reference plane: effect on rim area repeatability and identification of progression. Br J Ophthalmol 2009; 93: 1510-1513.

- 13. Fayers T, Strouthidis NG, Garway-Heath DF. Monitoring glaucomatous progression using a novel Heidelberg Retina Tomograph event analysis. Ophthalmology 2007; 114: 1973-1980.
- Alencar LM, Zangwill LM, Weinreb RN, Bowd C, Vizzeri G, Sample PA, Susanna R Jr, Medeiros FA. Agreement for detecting glaucoma progression with the GDx guided progression analysis, automated perimetry, and optic disc photography. Ophthalmology 2010; 117: 462-470.
- 15. Grewal DS, Sehi M, Greenfield DS. Detecting glaucomatous progression using GDx with variable and enhanced corneal compensation using Guided Progression Analysis. Br J Oph-thalmol 2011; 95: 502-508.
- O'Leary N, Crabb DP, Mansberger SL, Fortune B, Twa MD, Lloyd MJ, Kotecha A, Garway-Heath DF, Cioffi GA, Johnson CA. Glaucomatous progression in series of stereoscopic photographs and Heidelberg retina tomograph images. Arch Ophthalmol 2010; 128: 560-568.
- 17. Leung CK, Liu S, Weinreb RN, Lai G, Ye C, Cheung CY, Pang CP, Tse KK, Lam DS. Evaluation of retinal nerve fiber layer progression in glaucoma a prospective analysis with neuroretinal rim and visual field progression. Ophthalmology 2011; 118: 1551-1557.

2.5.2 Should treatment be initiated or reinforced when structural progression is detected? (Andreas Boehm)

The decision of initiation or reinforcement of treatment depends on the likelihood of developing significant functional impairment during the patient's life time.

Glaucoma is a chronic progressive optic neuropathy. The disease is characterized by irreversible loss of neuroretinal tissue. In the course of the disease, visual field defects develop and may progress to blindness. If structural progression is detected, it needs to be verified, whether the progression is true (or an artifact) and whether the progression is typical for glaucoma (progressive rim thinning, excavation, notching, nerve fiber layer defects or disc hemorrhages). Ideally one should measure the rate of structural progression and estimate whether the rate of progression will lead to functional impairment of the patient during life time. However, it must be noted that agreement between visual field progression and progression detected by various imaging techniques is generally poor.¹⁻⁸

The goal of the treatment is to preserve the patient's visual function during his life time. The earlier the treatment the less likely the development of functional impairment. For the decision to treat or not to treat at the time interval in which the progression occurred, the stage of the disease (How far is the structural damage progressed? Is already a functional damage present? If yes, how far advanced is the functional damage?), and the patient's age (How long is his natural life expectancy?) need to be considered. If, for example, the structural progression developed over a long period of time, the glaucomatous damage is in an early stage, and the patient does not have many years of life expectancy to develop functional impairment, it may be suitable to wait without an initiation or intensification of the therapy. However, if the structural progression occurred over a short period of time, the patient is young or the disease is advanced and in all cases of doubt a detection of structural glaucomatous progression should lead to an initiation or reinforcement of treatment.

References

- Strouthidis N, Scott A, Peter NM, Garway-Heath DF. Optic disc and visual field progression in ocular hypertensive subjects: detection rates, specificity, and agreement. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 2006; 47: 2904-2910.
- Vizzeri G, Weinreb RN, Martinez de la Casa JM, Alencar LM, Bowd C, Balasubramanian M, Medeiros FA, Sample P, Zangwill LM. Clinicians agreement in establishing glaucomatous progression using the Heidelberg retinal tomograph. Ophthalmology 2009; 116: 14-24.
- Saarela V, Falck A, Airaksinen PJ, Tuulonen A. The sensitivity and specificity of Heidelberg retina tomography parameters to glaucomatous progression in disc photographs. Br J Ophthalmol 2010; 94: 68-73.
- 4. Strouthidis NG, Demirel S, Asaoka R, Cossio-Zuniga C, Garway-Heath DF. The Heidelberg retina tomography glaucoma probability score. Reproducibility and measurement of progression. Ophthalmology 2010; 117: 724-729.
- Alencar LM, Zangwill LM, Weinreb RN, Bowd C, Vizzeri G, Sample PA, Susanna R Jr, Medeiros FA. Agreement for detecting glaucoma progression with the GDx guided progression analysis, automated perimetry, and optic disc photography. Ophthalmology 2010; 117: 462-470.
- 6. Leung CK, Ye C, Weinreb RN, Cheung CY, Qiu Q, Liu S, Xu G, Lam DSC. Retinal nerve fiber layer imaging with spectral-domain optical coherence tomography. A study on diagnostic agreement with Heidelberg retinal tomograph. Ophthalmology 2010; 117: 267-274.
- Leung CK, Liu S, Weinreb RN, Lai G, Ye C, Cheung CYL, Pang CP, Tse KK, Lam DSC. Evaluation of retinal nerve fiber layer progression in glaucoma. A prospective analysis with neuroretinal rim and visual field progression. Ophthalmology 2011, Epub ahead of print.
- 8. Leung CK, Chiu V, Weinreb RN, Liu S, Ye C, Yu M, Cheung CY, Lai G, Lam DSC. Evaluation of retinal nerve fiber layer progression in glaucoma. A comparison between spectral-domain and time-domain optical coherence tomography. Ophthalmology 2011, Epub ahead of print.

2.5.3 Adapting to the continuing rapid evolution of imaging technology (Gadi Wollstein)

Imaging of the optic nerve head and macula regions are routinely used clinically for diagnosing and monitoring the structural damage in glaucoma. Because glaucoma is a chronic, slowly progressing disease it is mandatory for imaging devices to provide accurate and reproducible measurements of the tissue of interest to allow precise detection of changes over time. Measurements obtained over time with different iterations of the imaging device need to be treated as a continiuum and the device must show fixed bias and/or comparable imprecision across iterations. Glaucoma imaging devices are currently going through a phase of rapid evolution of their hardware and software, leading to improved resolution, increased scanning speed and innovative software to enhance diagnostic ability.

When considering the comparability between measurements acquired with different iterations of the same technology one should take into account factors such as:

- Scan pattern
- Sampling density
- Reference plane

- Definition of boundaries location
- Measurement reproducibility

Any of these factors can affect the reliability of the acquired data and the ability to compare measurements over time. It is desirable for measurements obtained over time with different iterations of the same imaging device to be treated as a continuum. In order to accomplish this, the measurements need to show fixed bias and comparable imprecision across iterations. Without accounting for these sources of variability, minute changes might be undetected or stable structural measurements might be classified as exhibiting change.

Transition between iterations that can be regarded as a continuum has been mostly accomplished with the switch from HRT1 and 2 toward HRT3. However, GDx measurements are not interchangeable with GDx-VCC, GDx-ECC or GDx PRO and similarly time-domain OCT measurements are not interchangeable with spectral-domain OCT measurements.

A conversion scale needs to be established to allow comparisons between measurements obtained with devices showing fixed bias and/or comparable imprecision across iterations. In all other situations, new baseline measurements need to be established with the new iteration of the device.

References

Confocal Scanning Laser Ophthalmoscopy:

- Gabriele ML, Wollstein G, Bilonick RA, Burgansky-Eliash Z, Ishikawa H, Kagemann LE, Schuman JS. Comparison of parameters from Heidelberg Retina Tomographs 2 and 3. Ophthalmology 2008; 115: 673-677.
- Balasubramanian M, Bowd C, Weinreb RN, Zangwill LM. Agreement between Heidelberg Retina Tomograph-I and -II in detecting glaucomatous changes using topographic change analysis. Eye 2011; 25: 31-42.

Optical Coherence Tomography:

- 3. Kiernan DF, Hariprasad SM, Chin EK, Kiernan CL, Rago J, Mieler WF. Prospective comparison of cirrus and stratus optical coherence tomography for quantifying retinal thickness. Am J Ophthalmol 2009; 147: 267-275.
- Han IC, Jaffe GJ. Comparison of spectral- and time-domain optical coherence tomography for retinal thickness measurements in healthy and diseased eyes. Am J Ophthalmol 2009; 147: 847-858.
- Sung KR, Kim DY, Park SB, Kook MS. Comparison of retinal nerve fiber layer thickness measured by Cirrus HD and Stratus optical coherence tomography. Ophthalmology 2009; 116: 1264-1270.
- 6. Huang J, Liu X, Wu Z, Xiao H, Dustin L, Sadda S. Macular thickness measurements in normal eyes with time-domain and Fourier-domain optical coherence tomography. Retina 2009; 29: 980-987.
- Grover S, Murthy RK, Brar VS, Chalam KV. Comparison of retinal thickness in normal eyes using Stratus and Spectralis optical coherence tomography. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 2010; 51: 2644-2647.

Scanning Laser Polarimetry:

8. Reus NJ, Zhou Q, Lemij HG. Enhanced imaging algorithm for scanning laser polarimetry with variable corneal compensation. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 2006; 47: 3870-3877.

- 9. Schi M, Guaqueta DC, Feuer WJ, Greenfield DS; Advanced Imaging in Glaucoma Study Group. Scanning laser polarimetry with variable and enhanced corneal compensation in normal and glaucomatous eyes. Am J Ophthalmol 2007; 143: 272-279.
- Bowd C, Tavares IM, Medeiros FA, Zangwill LM, Sample PA, Weinreb RN. Retinal nerve fiber layer thickness and visual sensitivity using scanning laser polarimetry with variable and enhanced corneal compensation. Ophthalmology 2007; 114: 1259-1265.

2.5.4 Structural endpoints in clinical trials (Christopher Leung)

The need of new endpoints for evaluating glaucoma therapies in clinical trial has been extensively discussed in major ophthalmology and visual sciences conferences including the World Glaucoma Association Consensus meeting 2010 (Medical Therapy: Unmet needs) and the National Eye Institute / Food and Drug Administration Glaucoma Clinical Trial Design and Endpoints Symposium 2010. It is widely recognized that there is an eminent need to investigate if structural parameters measured by digital imaging technologies could be used reliably as endpoints in clinical drug trials. Regulatory agencies consider structural change to be an outcome measure in clinical trials for evaluating and approving neuroprotective treatment for glaucoma only when there is evidence supporting that the new outcome measure is predictive of functional change that is clinically relevant to a patient.¹ In order to qualify as a valid endpoint, it is crucial to demonstrate that progressive structural change is predictive for development of visual field progression.

Two recent studies have shown that optic disc progression examined by stereophotography ² and confocal scanning laser ophthalmoscopy (CSLO)³ was predictive of development of subsequent visual field loss. In the longitudinal study by Medeiros *et al.*, they showed that optic disc changes identified by stereophotographs was a strong predictor with a hazard ratio of 25.8 (95% confidence interval: 16.0-14.7) for development of visual field defects in glaucoma suspects.² In the study by Chuahan *et al.* following patients with open-angle glaucoma, eyes with visual field progression were three times more likely to have prior optic disc progression defined by Topographic Change Analysis.³ These results provide evidence supporting that optic disc progression is predictive of subsequent visual function loss. Structural assessment of change can be regarded as a valid method for detection of glaucoma progression in a clinical trial.

- Weinreb RN, Kaufman PL. The glaucoma research community and FDA look to the future: a report from the NEI/FDA CDER Glaucoma Clinical Trial Design and Endpoints Symposium. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 2009; 50: 1497-1505.
- 2. Medeiros FA, Alencar LM, Zangwill LM, et al. Prediction of functional loss in glaucoma from progressive optic disc damage. Arch Ophthalmol 2009; 127: 1250-1256.
- Chauhan BC, Nicolela MT, Artes PH. Incidence and rates of visual field progression after longitudinally measured optic disc change in glaucoma. Ophthalmology 2009; 116: 2110-2118.



Jian Ge (left) and Robert N. Weinreb.



Felipe A. Medeiros, Kaweh Mansouri, Chris Bowd (left to right).



Felipe A. Medeiros (at podium) with Robert N. Weinreb (center) and Jeffrey M. Liebmann.









Balwantray Chauhan



Remo Susanna



Jeffrey M. Liebmann

3. STRUCTURE AND FUNCTION

Felipe A. Medeiros, Gustavo de Moraes, Balwantray Chauhan, Remo Susanna and Jeffrey M. Liebmann

Section leader: Felipe A. Medeiros

Co-leaders: Balwantray Chauhan, Jeffrey M. Liebmann *Contributors:* Alfonso Anton, Felipe A. Medeiros, Chris Bowd, Gustavo de Moraes, Balwantray Chauhan, Jeffrey M. Liebmann, Anne Coleman, David F. Garway-Heath, Francisco Goni, David Greenfield, Michael Kook, Remo Susanna

Consensus statements

- 1. Both optic nerve structure and function should be evaluated for detection of glaucomatous progression.
- 2. Currently, no specific test can be regarded as the perfect reference standard for detection of glaucomatous structural and/or functional progression.
- 3. Progression detected by functional means will not always be corroborated using structural tests, and vice-versa. *Comment:* This is due to the imperfect nature of testing analysis, individual variability, and the structure-function relationship.
- 4. The use of standard automated perimetry as the sole method for detection of change may result in failure to detect or underestimate progression in eyes with early glaucomatous damage.

Comment: In glaucoma suspect or ocular hypertensive eyes with initially normal achromatic perimetry, a change in optic nerve structure (*e.g.*, optic topography, retinal nerve fiber layer, optic disc hemorrhage, or parapapillary atrophy) may occur before perimetric change.

5. In general, detection of progression is more difficult in eyes with advanced disease.

Comment: In eyes with advanced visual field damage, alternative perimetric strategies (*i.e.*, larger stimulus, macular strategies, kinetic perimetry, etc.) may need to be employed.

6. A statistically significant change in structure and/or function (which takes age and variability into account) is not always clinically relevant. *Comment:* Its clinical relevance for patient management must take into account other risk factors and lifetime risk of visual disability.

Progression of Glaucoma, pp. 91-99 Edited by Robert N. Weinreb, David F. Garway-Heath, Christopher Leung, Jonathan G. Crowston, and Felipe A. Medeiros 2011 © Kugler Publications, Amsterdam, The Netherlands

- 7. Progressive structural changes are often but not always predictive of future development or progression of functional deficits in glaucoma. *Comment:* The predictive strength depends on the method used to assess structural/functional change.
- 8. Corroboration of glaucomatous progression through the use of more than one test may provide more effective and more rapid detection of glaucomatous progression than repeated confirmation of change using a single modality. *Comment:* Examples of corroborative change include structure-function (*e.g.*, a structural change of the optic nerve and a spatially consistent functional change).
- 9. In order to increase the likelihood of detecting progression, test results should be of sufficient quality and appropriate quantity to provide mean-ingful information.

Comment: While adjunctive testing can help clinical decision making, the use of multiple modalities of testing, at the expense of quality and appropriate frequency and quantity, should be avoided.

- 10. Life expectancy should be considered when evaluating the clinical relevance of a structural and/or functional change in glaucoma.
- 11. Structural and/or functional testing should be conducted throughout the duration of the disease.

Introduction

Glaucoma is a progressive optic neuropathy characterized by intraocular pressure (IOP)-dependent and IOP-independent mechanisms that contribute to disease onset and progression. Damage to the optic nerve may be followed by characteristic patterns of visual function loss, which is most commonly measured with achromatic perimetry. Although a variety of genotypes and phenotypes exist, reduction of intraocular pressure (IOP) has been demonstrated to delay or prevent further injury across the glaucoma spectrum and remains the only modifiable risk factor for which proven treatment is currently available. Since the main goal of treatment is to either halt or slow disease progression, clinicians must be able to identify patients at increased risk of progression and, most importantly, be able to detect and objectively measure progression when it occurs. Conceptually, all glaucoma patients progress, albeit at different rates, and their rate of change is the most objective measure to guide treatment decisions and interventions.

The structure-function relationship in glaucoma and its implication for detection of change over time

The optic neuropathy in glaucoma is characterized by progressive neuroretinal rim thinning, excavation and loss of the retinal nerve fiber layer.¹ These structural changes are usually accompanied by functional losses, which may ultimately

result in significant decrease in vision-related quality of life. Although there is an unquestionable relationship between structural and functional damage in glaucoma, their precise association and the evolution of this association over time are still unclear.²⁻⁵

The vast majority of studies investigating the structure and function relationship in glaucoma have used only cross-sectional data in an attempt to extrapolate what would be the true longitudinal course of changes in individual patients.⁶⁻¹⁷ In these studies, quantitative structural measures derived from different imaging technologies, such as confocal scanning laser ophthalmoscopy (CSLO), optical coherence tomography (OCT) and scanning laser polarimetry (SLP), have shown different degrees of correlation to psychophysical tests such as standard automated perimetry (SAP). There is still uncertainty regarding which mathematical model better describes the relationship between structural and functional loss in glaucoma.^{3-5,13,18-22} However, most studies have identified a curvilinear relationship between structure and function, when these measures are expressed in their original scales. It should be noted that visual field indexes are usually expressed in a logarithmic scale (dB). Scaling of data in clinical perimetry is necessary because the ranges of stimulus intensities cover several orders of magnitude. Scaling of perimetric stimulus intensities has been incorporated into standard clinical testing, where the stimulus intensities are scaled by a logarithmic transformation to decibel (dB) units of attenuation for both the intensity staircase procedure for threshold measurements as well as for the report of the final threshold intensity. Several investigators have suggested that such scaling may introduce an artifactual relationship between structural and functional measurements in glaucoma.^{13,23-25} The logarithmic scale would accentuate sensitivity changes in the visual field at low decibel values and minimize changes at high decibel levels. Therefore, visual function changes would be less apparent in the early stages of structural damage giving the impression that structural losses occur first. For example, considering a linear rate of retinal ganglion cell (RGC) loss in glaucoma, a 10% loss of RGCs from 100% (normal) to 90% (early damage) would correspond to approximately 0.5 dB loss $(10*\log_{10}1 - 10*\log_{10}0.9)$ in sensitivity measured on a logarithmic scale. Considering a field region with age-expected sensitivity of 30 dB, such change would represent only 1.67% loss (0.5/30) in sensitivity. In a more advanced stage of disease, a change from 50% to 40% in the amount of surviving RGCs would correspond to the same 10% loss in RGCs, however, it would represent approximately 1 dB loss $(10*\log_{10}0.5 - 10*\log_{10}0.4)$ in sensitivity measured in logarithmic scale and 3.3% loss (1/30) in a percent scale. Thus, the same rate of structural loss would translate into greater rates of visual function loss in later compared to earlier stages of the disease. The small percent changes in visual function in early progressive disease would also be more difficult to detect in individual eyes due to variability and, therefore, subjects with early disease would show less progression with visual fields and more progression with structural tests. This is suggested by several studies looking at structural and functional progression in glaucoma.
e scaling difference

The scaling differences may help explain disagreements when different structural and functional tests are used to assess progression. Due to the nature of the structure-function relationship when assessed using current clinically available methods, such disagreements will be unavoidable and should not necessarily be interpreted as lack of accuracy of one of the methods. However, although disagreements between detection of glaucoma progression with structural and functional tests may be expected, it is important to demonstrate that changes in these tests carry significant prognostic information for patients. The clinical importance of a deteriorating visual field seems unquestionable and there is evidence that even early changes in standard automated perimetry may already affect vision-related quality of life.²⁶ Recent studies have also shown that structural tests are predictive of visual function loss in glaucoma, as detailed below.

Predicting functional loss from structural changes in glaucoma

Previous investigations have shown that cross-sectional baseline structural measurements, either by expert assessment of stereophotographs or objective imaging methods, are predictive of future development of visual field loss in glaucoma suspects, suggesting a potential role for these measurements in early detection of disease.²⁷⁻³³ However, measures of predictive ability reported in these studies have generally indicated a low accuracy of cross-sectional structural measures for predicting individual functional outcomes. This is likely due to the wide variation in the appearance of the optic nerve, which makes it difficult to identify early signs of disease at a single point in time. Detection of progressive optic disc change over time is likely to be a more specific indicator of the presence of structural damage from glaucoma and to correlate better with functional outcomes.

A recent study by Medeiros *et al.*³⁴ showed that optic disc progression was highly predictive of development of functional loss in glaucoma. The authors followed 639 eyes of 407 glaucoma suspect patients for an average of eight years. Patients suspected of having glaucoma at baseline and who had progressive optic disc change on stereophotographs had almost 26 times higher chance of developing a visual field defect (HR = hazard ratio [HR]: 25.8; 95% CI: 16.0 - 41.7) during follow up. Presence of optic disc progression was the most important predictive factor for conversion, with an R² of 79%, well above that of any other known risk factor for development of glaucoma, such as IOP and corneal thickness. This is not surprising if we consider that progressive structural deterioration is indicative of the disease itself, rather than a risk factor.

Another study Chauhan *et al.*³⁵ evaluated whether progressive optic disc changes measured by the Topographic Change Analysis (TCA) software of the Heidelberg Retina Tomograph (Heidelberg Engineering GmbH, Dossenheim, Germany) were predictive of functional loss in a cohort of 81 patients with glaucoma. Among the many different criteria for TCA progression evaluated by the authors, a conservative one was able to significantly predict future functional deterioration with a positive likelihood ratio of 3.02.

Although IOP has traditionally been used as an endpoint in glaucoma clinical trials, it is an imperfect surrogate for the clinical outcomes of the disease. Many patients can progress despite low IOP levels and others remain stable despite having IOP measurements considered consistently high.³⁶⁻³⁸ Further, IOP is not a suitable endpoint for clinical trials investigating certain treatment modalities for glaucoma, such as neuroprotective therapies. The use of visual fields as the sole endpoint in glaucoma trials is potentially limited by the need for large samples, long-term follow-up, variability of results and inconsistency in the available methods to define visual field progression.³⁹ Being a valid surrogate for development of functional loss, progressive optic disc damage could be used as an endpoint in glaucoma clinical trials with a number of advantages, including faster acquisition of a sufficient number of endpoints with reduction in sample size requirements, enabling shorter and less expensive trials. It is important to note that in both of Medeiros et al. and Chauhan et al. studies, many patients developed visual field progression despite undetectable changes in the optic disc. Therefore, it is important to use both structural and functional endpoints in studies of glaucoma progression.

Combining structural and functional measures of glaucoma progression

The disagreement between structural and functional methods for detecting progression could be related to the different algorithms employed to assess change, to the variability of measurements over time, or to the different scales used to assess structure and function.⁴⁰⁻⁵⁰ Whatever the reason might be, it is likely that a combination of structural and functional measurements would improve detection of clinically significant disease progression compared to either method used alone.

An ideal method for detection of glaucomatous progression should not only give an indication of whether the eye or the patient is likely showing progression, but also needs to give an estimate of the rate of deterioration. Although most glaucoma patients will show some evidence of progression if followed long enough, the rate of deterioration can be highly variable among them.⁵¹⁻⁵⁵ While most patients progress relatively slowly, others have aggressive disease with fast deterioration which can eventually result in blindness or substantial impairment unless appropriate interventions take place. The elucidation of the longitudinal relationship between structural and functional tests and their rates of change over time is essential in order to determine the relative utility of these tests in monitoring the disease.

Several approaches could be potentially used to combine structural and functional information for detection of progression. Medeiros *et al.*⁵⁶ proposed the use of joint modeling of longitudinal changes using Bayesian statistics to combine structural and functional tests. The joint modeling approach enables a better characterization of the true underlying relationship between structural and functional tests, as it decreases the impact of measurement error by incorporating it in a simultaneous model of the two longitudinal outcomes. By joint modeling the two outcomes, information derived from one test is allowed to influence the inferences obtained from the other test. For example, a visual field change that would otherwise be declared non-statistically significant by analysis of visual field data alone may be declared significant after taking into consideration the structural changes occurring in the same eye. Using this approach, Medeiros *et al.*⁵⁶ found a significant improvement in detection of glaucoma progression and estimation of rates of change in a group of 434 eyes of 257 participants followed for an average of four years using SAP and scanning laser polarimetry.

Other studies have attempted to quantify the discordance between structural and functional measurements and better characterization of their relationship. In a recent study, Zhu and colleagues⁵⁷ proposed a methodology to predict functional damage from structural losses measured by retinal nerve fiber layer assessment with scanning laser polarimetry. The method generated clinically useful relationships that related topographical maps of RNFL measurement to visual field locations and allowed the visual field sensitivity to be predicted from structural measurements. It may also enable evaluation of structural and functional measures in the same domain which could potentially be advantageous for combining them into a test to detect glaucomatous progression.

References

- Jonas JB, Budde WM, Panda-Jonas S. Ophthalmoscopic evaluation of the optic nerve head. Surv Ophthalmol 1999; 43: 293-320.
- 2. Girkin CA. Relationship between structure of optic nerve/nerve fiber layer and functional measurements in glaucoma. Curr Opin Ophthalmol 2004; 15: 96-101.
- Johnson CA, Cioffi GA, Liebmann JR, Sample PA, Zangwill LM, Weinreb RN. The relationship between structural and functional alterations in glaucoma: a review. Semin Ophthalmol 2000; 15: 221-233.
- 4. Anderson RS. The psychophysics of glaucoma: improving the structure/function relationship. Prog Retin Eye Res 2006; 25: 79-97.
- 5. Harwerth RS, Carter-Dawson L, Smith EL, 3rd, Crawford ML. Scaling the structure-function relationship for clinical perimetry. Acta Ophthalmol Scand 2005; 83: 448-455.
- Caprioli J, Miller JM. Correlation of structure and function in glaucoma. Quantitative measurements of disc and field. Ophthalmology 1988; 95: 723-727.
- Mai TA, Reus NJ, Lemij HG. Structure-function relationship is stronger with enhanced corneal compensation than with variable corneal compensation in scanning laser polarimetry. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 2007; 48: 1651-1658.
- Ajtony C, Balla Z, Somoskeoy S, Kovacs B. Relationship between visual field sensitivity and retinal nerve fiber layer thickness as measured by optical coherence tomography. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 2007; 48: 258-263.
- Reus NJ, Lemij HG. Relationships between standard automated perimetry, HRT confocal scanning laser ophthalmoscopy, and GDx VCC scanning laser polarimetry. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 2005; 46: 4182-4188.
- Schlottmann PG, De Cilla S, Greenfield DS, Caprioli J, Garway-Heath DF. Relationship between visual field sensitivity and retinal nerve fiber layer thickness as measured by scanning laser polarimetry. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 2004; 45: 1823-1829.

- 11. Bowd C, Tavares IM, Medeiros FA, Zangwill LM, Sample PA, Weinreb RN. Retinal nerve fiber layer thickness and visual sensitivity using scanning laser polarimetry with variable and enhanced corneal compensation. Ophthalmology 2007; 114: 1259-1265.
- El Beltagi TA, Bowd C, Boden C, Amini P, Sample PA, Zangwill LM, Weinreb RN. Retinal nerve fiber layer thickness measured with optical coherence tomography is related to visual function in glaucomatous eyes. Ophthalmology 2003; 110: 2185-2191.
- 13. Hood DC, Kardon RH. A framework for comparing structural and functional measures of glaucomatous damage. Prog Retin Eye Res 2007; 26: 688-710.
- 14. Strouthidis NG, Vinciotti V, Tucker AJ, Gardiner SK, Crabb DP, Garway-Heath DF. Structure and function in glaucoma: The relationship between a functional visual field map and an anatomic retinal map. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 2006; 47: 5356-5362.
- Garway-Heath DF, Holder GE, Fitzke FW, Hitchings RA. Relationship between electrophysiological, psychophysical, and anatomical measurements in glaucoma. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 2002; 43: 2213-2220.
- Wollstein G, Schuman JS, Price LL, Aydin A, Beaton SA, Stark PC, Fujimoto JG, Ishikawa H. Optical coherence tomography (OCT) macular and peripapillary retinal nerve fiber layer measurements and automated visual fields. Am J Ophthalmol 2004; 138: 218-225.
- Medeiros FA, Zangwill LM, Bowd C, Weinreb RN. Comparison of the GDx VCC scanning laser polarimeter, HRT II confocal scanning laser ophthalmoscope, and stratus OCT optical coherence tomograph for the detection of glaucoma. Arch Ophthalmol 2004; 122: 827-837.
- Bowd C, Zangwill LM, Medeiros FA, Tavares IM, Hoffmann EM, Bourne RR, Sample PA, Weinreb RN. Structure-function relationships using confocal scanning laser ophthalmoscopy, optical coherence tomography, and scanning laser polarimetry. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 2006; 47: 2889-2895.
- 19. Harwerth RS, Quigley HA. Visual field defects and retinal ganglion cell losses in patients with glaucoma. Arch Ophthalmol 2006; 124: 853-859.
- Leung CK, Chong KK, Chan WM, Yiu CK, Tso MY, Woo J, Tsang MK, Tse KK, Yung WH. Comparative study of retinal nerve fiber layer measurement by StratusOCT and GDx VCC, II: structure/function regression analysis in glaucoma. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 2005; 46: 3702-3711.
- 21. Racette L, Medeiros FA, Bowd C, Zangwill LM, Weinreb RN, Sample PA. The impact of the perimetric measurement scale, sample composition, and statistical method on the structure-function relationship in glaucoma. J Glaucoma 2007; 16: 676-684.
- 22. Harwerth RS, Wheat JL, Fredette MJ, Anderson DR. Linking structure and function in glaucoma. Prog Retin Eye Res 2010; 29: 249-271.
- 23. Garway-Heath DF, Caprioli J, Fitzke FW, Hitchings RA. Scaling the hill of vision: the physiological relationship between light sensitivity and ganglion cell numbers. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 2000; 41: 1774-1782.
- Harwerth RS, Carter-Dawson L, Smith EL, 3rd, Barnes G, Holt WF, Crawford ML. Neural losses correlated with visual losses in clinical perimetry. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 2004; 45: 3152-3160.
- Swanson WH, Felius J, Pan F. Perimetric defects and ganglion cell damage: interpreting linear relations using a two-stage neural model. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 2004; 45: 466-472.
- McKean-Cowdin R, Wang Y, Wu J, Azen SP, Varma R. Impact of visual field loss on healthrelated quality of life in glaucoma: the Los Angeles Latino Eye Study. Ophthalmology 2008; 115: 941-948 e941.
- Lalezary M, Medeiros FA, Weinreb RN, Bowd C, Sample PA, Tavares IM, Tafreshi A, Zangwill LM. Baseline optical coherence tomography predicts the development of glaucomatous change in glaucoma suspects. Am J Ophthalmol 2006; 142: 576-582.
- 28. Medeiros FA, Weinreb RN, Sample PA, Gomi CF, Bowd C, Crowston JG, Zangwill LM. Validation of a predictive model to estimate the risk of conversion from ocular hypertension to glaucoma. Arch Ophthalmol 2005; 123: 1351-1360.

- 29. Zangwill LM, Weinreb RN, Beiser JA, Berry CC, Cioffi GA, Coleman AL, Trick G, Liebmann JM, Brandt JD, Piltz-Seymour JR, Dirkes KA, Vega S, Kass MA, Gordon MO. Baseline topographic optic disc measurements are associated with the development of primary open-angle glaucoma: the Confocal Scanning Laser Ophthalmoscopy Ancillary Study to the Ocular Hypertension Treatment Study. Arch Ophthalmol 2005; 123: 1188-1197.
- Mohammadi K, Bowd C, Weinreb RN, Medeiros FA, Sample PA, Zangwill LM. Retinal nerve fiber layer thickness measurements with scanning laser polarimetry predict glaucomatous visual field loss. Am J Ophthalmol 2004; 138: 592-601.
- Alencar LM, Bowd C, Weinreb RN, Zangwill LM, Sample PA, Medeiros FA. Comparison of HRT-3 glaucoma probability score and subjective stereophotograph assessment for prediction of progression in glaucoma. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 2008; 49: 1898-1906.
- 32. Medeiros FA, Doshi R, Zangwill LM, Vasile C, Weinreb RN. Long-term variability of GDx VCC retinal nerve fiber layer thickness measurements. J Glaucoma 2007; 16: 277-281.
- 33. Gordon MO, Torri V, Miglior S, Beiser JA, Floriani I, Miller JP, Gao F, Adamsons I, Poli D, D'Agostino RB, Kass MA. Validated prediction model for the development of primary open-angle glaucoma in individuals with ocular hypertension. Ophthalmology 2007; 114: 10-19.
- Medeiros FA, Alencar LM, Zangwill LM, Bowd C, Sample PA, Weinreb RN. Prediction of functional loss in glaucoma from progressive optic disc damage. Arch Ophthalmol 2009; 127: 1250-1256.
- Chauhan BC, Nicolela MT, Artes PH. Incidence and Rates of Visual Field Progression after Longitudinally Measured Optic Disc Change in Glaucoma. Ophthalmology 2009; 116: 2110-2118.
- 36. Kass MA, Heuer DK, Higginbotham EJ, Johnson CA, Keltner JL, Miller JP, Parrish RK, 2nd, Wilson MR, Gordon MO. The Ocular Hypertension Treatment Study: a randomized trial determines that topical ocular hypotensive medication delays or prevents the onset of primary open-angle glaucoma. Arch Ophthalmol 2002; 120: 701-713; discussion 829-730.
- 37. Drance SM. The Collaborative Normal-Tension Glaucoma Study and some of its lessons. Can J Ophthalmol 1999; 34: 1-6.
- Miglior S, Zeyen T, Pfeiffer N, Cunha-Vaz J, Torri V, Adamsons I. Results of the European Glaucoma Prevention Study. Ophthalmology 2005; 112: 366-375.
- Katz J, Congdon N, Friedman DS. Methodological variations in estimating apparent progressive visual field loss in clinical trials of glaucoma treatment. Arch Ophthalmol 1999; 117: 1137-1142.
- 40. Artes PH, Chauhan BC. Longitudinal changes in the visual field and optic disc in glaucoma. Prog Retin Eye Res 2005; 24: 333-354.
- 41. Chauhan BC, Hutchison DM, Artes PH, Caprioli J, Jonas JB, LeBlanc RP, Nicolela MT. Optic disc progression in glaucoma: comparison of confocal scanning laser tomography to optic disc photographs in a prospective study. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 2009; 50: 1682-1691.
- 42. Vesti E, Johnson CA, Chauhan BC. Comparison of different methods for detecting glaucomatous visual field progression. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 2003; 44: 3873-3879.
- 43. Chauhan BC, McCormick TA, Nicolela MT, LeBlanc RP. Optic disc and visual field changes in a prospective longitudinal study of patients with glaucoma: comparison of scanning laser tomography with conventional perimetry and optic disc photography. Arch Ophthalmol 2001; 119: 1492-1499.
- 44. Xin D, Greenstein VC, Ritch R, Liebmann JM, De Moraes CG, Hood DC. A Comparison of Functional and Structural Measures for Identifying Progression of Glaucoma. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 2011; 52: 519-526.
- 45. Alencar LM, Zangwill LM, Weinreb RN, Bowd C, Vizzeri G, Sample PA, Susanna R, Jr., Medeiros FA. Agreement for detecting glaucoma progression with the GDx guided progression analysis, automated perimetry, and optic disc photography. Ophthalmology 2010; 117: 462-470.

- 46. Medeiros FA, Zangwill LM, Alencar LM, Bowd C, Sample PA, Susanna R, Jr., Weinreb RN. Detection of glaucoma progression with stratus OCT retinal nerve fiber layer, optic nerve head, and macular thickness measurements. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 2009; 50: 5741-5748.
- 47. Leung CK, Cheung CY, Weinreb RN, Qiu K, Liu S, Li H, Xu G, Fan N, Pang CP, Tse KK, Lam DS. Evaluation of retinal nerve fiber layer progression in glaucoma: a study on optical coherence tomography guided progression analysis. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 2010; 51: 217-222.
- 48. Strouthidis NG, White ET, Owen VM, Ho TA, Hammond CJ, Garway-Heath DF. Factors affecting the test-retest variability of Heidelberg retina tomograph and Heidelberg retina tomograph II measurements. Br J Ophthalmol 2005; 89: 1427-1432.
- 49. Medeiros FA, Alencar LM, Zangwill LM, Sample PA, Susanna R, Jr., Weinreb RN. Impact of atypical retardation patterns on detection of glaucoma progression using the GDx with variable corneal compensation. Am J Ophthalmol 2009; 148: 155-163 e151.
- 50. Grewal DS, Sehi M, Greenfield DS. Detecting glaucomatous progression using GDx with variable and enhanced corneal compensation using Guided Progression Analysis. Br J Oph-thalmol 2011; 95: 502-508.
- 51. Weinreb RN, Khaw PT. Primary open-angle glaucoma. Lancet 2004; 363: 1711-1720.
- 52. Anderson DR, Drance SM, Schulzer M. Natural history of normal-tension glaucoma. Ophthalmology 2001; 108: 247-253.
- 53. Medeiros FA, Alencar LM, Zangwill LM, Sample PA, Weinreb RN. The Relationship between intraocular pressure and progressive retinal nerve fiber layer loss in glaucoma. Ophthalmology 2009; 116: 1125-1133 e1121-1123.
- 54. Heijl A, Bengtsson B, Hyman L, Leske MC. Natural history of open-angle glaucoma. Ophthalmology 2009; 116: 2271-2276.
- 55. Medeiros FA, Zangwill LM, Alencar LM, Sample PA, Weinreb RN. Rates of progressive retinal nerve fiber layer loss in glaucoma measured by scanning laser polarimetry. Am J Ophthalmol 2010; 149: 908-915.
- Medeiros FA, Leite MT, Zangwill LM, Weinreb RN. Combining Structural and Functional Measurements to Improve Detection of Glaucoma Progression using Bayesian Hierarchical Models. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 2011; 52: 5794-5803.
- 57. Zhu H, Crabb DP, Fredette MJ, Anderson DR, Garway-Heath DF. Quantifying Discordance Between Structure and Function Measurements in the Clinical Assessment of Glaucoma. Arch Ophthalmol May 9 2011 (e-pub ahead of print).



Kuldev Singh (section 4 co-Leader and Executive Vice President, WGA).



Jonathan G. Crowston

S. Fabian Lerner



Mingguang He



Kuldev Singh



Paul Healey

4. RISK FACTORS

Jonathan G. Crowston, S. Fabian Lerner, Mingguang He, Kuldev Singh, Paul Healey

Section leader: Jonathan G. Crowston

Co-leaders: Mingguang He, S. Fabian Lerner, Kuldev Singh *Contributors:* Tin Aung, Boel Bengtsson, Augusto Blanco-Azuaro, Eytan Blumenthal, James Brandt, Donald Budenz, Balwantray Chauhan, Anne Coleman, Tanuj Dada, David Friedman, Alon Harris, Curt Hartleben, Paul Healey, Jost Jonas, Malik Kahook, Chris Leung, Felix Li, Shan Lin, Eugenio Maul, Winnie Nolan, Ki-Ho Park, Lisandro Sakata, Chandra Sekhar, Ningli Wang, Roy Wilson

Consensus statements

- 1. Risk factors for glaucoma progression should be ascertained in all patients with glaucoma or suspected of being at increased risk of glaucoma.
- Clinical risk factor assessment in glaucoma serves two roles. It provides

 (a) prognostic information; and (b) a basis for disease management.
 Comment: While proof of causality is desirable, the pragmatic nature of clinical medicine allows the use of risk factors of varying evidence quality and even clinical signs to be used in clinical management.
- 3. The use of risk factors in clinical management should take into account: (a) the strength of the risk factor for disease progression; and (b) the practicality and potential harm of reducing that risk factor.
- 4. Ocular hypertension is itself a strong risk factor for glaucoma, with rates of progression depending on the presence or absence of other risk factors. *Comment:* Accounting for these risk factors is critical to clinical decision making in the management of OHT patients. *Comment:* Risk factor assessment in OHT helps determine an individual's need for IOP lowering medication and also informs on the frequency of
- follow up.5. Risk calculators provide a means for quantifying risk of glaucoma progression in appropriate individuals with similar baseline characteristics to those present in the study.

Comment: The utility of these risk calculators in clinical practice still needs to be determined.

- 6. Higher mean IOP is a strong risk factor for glaucoma progression. *Comment:* More studies are needed to evaluate the role of other IOP parameters as risk factors for glaucoma progression.
- 7. A thinner central cornea is a risk factor for progression in patients with higher baseline IOP.
- 8. The presence of pseudo-exfoliation syndrome is an independent risk factor for progression.
- 9. The presence of a disc haemorrhage, older age, and lower ocular perfusion pressure are risk factors for progression. *Comment:* The relationship between low blood pressure and risk of progression is complex.
- 10. While estimates of risk of progression for individual patients based on completed large clinical trials are available, the use of such estimates varies considerably in clinical practice.
- 11. There is greater information available regarding the importance of risk factors for progression from early to moderate disease than from moderate to severe disease.

Comment: Few adequately powered studies have prospectively assessed the risk factors for blindness from glaucomatous disease.

12. The relative importance of risk factors for progression may vary depending upon the stage of glaucomatous disease. *Comment:* Some risk factors that do not appear to be important predictors of progression from early to moderate glaucoma may be relatively more important in predicting progression from moderate to severe disease and

vice versa.

13. Studies that longitudinally assess risk factors for functional vision loss and blindness from glaucomatous disease are needed.

Future directions:

- Useful information regarding the importance of various risk factors for glaucoma progression and functional vision loss may be obtained via the use of Electronic Health Records in the future.
- Longitudinal studies that determine risk factors for glaucoma progression in angle-closure patients are required.

1. Definitions

Risk factor (for progression) definition: 'A factor associated with an increased rate of progression of a disease, not completely explained by a co-related factor (confounder) or an inappropriate comparison (bias).'

When a risk factor is proven to lead directly to disease progression it is known as a causal risk factor.

Proof of a causal risk factor necessitates:

- 1. Ruling out (as best as possible) of biases and confounders (usually when a number of high quality, well-conducted, independent studies show similar risk associations.)
- 2. Identifying a plausible biological link between the risk factor and the disease (usually by understanding the cellular mechanism of disease).
- 3. Showing a reduction in disease progression in a people not exposed to the risk factor (usually by an randomized controlled interventional trial or an epidemiological cohort study).

A risk factor that is not causal may be a surrogate for a true causal risk factor or an epiphenomenon on the causal pathway. While these risk factors may still be useful in assessing risk of progression, their direct reduction does not lead to a reduction in disease progression.

Attributable risk

The impact of a causal risk factor (and thus the impact of eliminating that risk factor) is called its attributable risk. There are two types of attributable risk: the attributable risk among exposed which measures the impact on individuals exposed to a risk factor and population attributable risk which measure the impact on society.

Attributable risk among exposed (ARE) definition: 'The proportion of disease progression in the group exposed to a risk factor attributable to that risk factor.'

Population attributable risk (PAR) definition: 'The proportion of progression in the total population attributable to a particular risk factor.'

Risk factors can be rated by three criteria:

- 1. The strength of evidence for it being a risk factor;
- 2. The strength of the risk factor itself in terms of glaucoma progression;
- 3. The capability of changing that risk factor and the impact of changing it on the disease.

2. Risk factors for the development of glaucoma in normal eyes and ocular hypertensive eyes

Global risk factor assessment plays a key role in guiding the clinician toward making a therapeutic decision in individuals who have elevated risk of developing glaucoma. Data covering risk factors for incident glaucoma in normal eyes has been derived largely from longitudinal population studies; notably the Rotterdam Eye Study¹ (RES, largely European decent), The Barbados Incidence Study of Eye Disease² (BISED, largely African decent) and the Melbourne Visual Impairment Study³ (MVIP, largely European decent). In contrast, data on

risk factors for conversion of ocular hypertension to glaucoma are derived in the most part from two large prospective randomized intervention studies, the Ocular Hypertension Treatment Study⁴ and the European Glaucoma Prevention Study.⁵ These are covered in an excellent review by Coleman and Miglior (Surv Ophthalmol 2008).⁶

Hazard ratios (the risk of a new event occurring within a specific time) generated from these studies have informed the creation of algorithms or risk calculators that can help determine an overall risk of a particular patient progressing. The most recent iteration has combined data from OHTS And EGPS and is available online.⁷ The utility of these in clinical practice, however, remains to be determined. (http://ohts.wustl.edu/risk/calculator.html).

Table 1. Combined OHTS/EGPS model for establishing five-year risk of developing OAG in OHT patients.*

| | Hazards Ratio (95% CI) |
|--|------------------------|
| Age (per decade) | 1.26 (1.06-1.50) |
| Baseline IOP | 1.09 (1.03-1.17) |
| CCT (per 40 micron thinner) | 2.04 (1.70-2.45) |
| Vertical C:D ratio (per 0.1 larger) | 1.19 (1.09-1.31) |
| Pattern Standard Deviation (per 0.2dB greater) | 1.13 (1.04-1.24) |

*These data apply to individuals who fulfilled the inclusion criteria of the two studies and may not be extrapolated to individuals who do not. (Modified from Coleman *et al.*⁶)

Risk Factors for progression in normal eyes

As detailed above, evidence for risk factors predisposing to incident glaucoma in previously healthy, non ocular hypertensive eyes have been derived from longitudinal population studies. Older age and higher IOP at baseline are consistently strong risk factors for incident open-angle glaucoma across studies. The incidence of definite OAG increased from 0% of participants aged 40 to 49 years to 4.1% of participants aged 80 years and older.³ In the RES incident bilateral open angle glaucoma was five times more common in the over 75's compared to those under 75 years of age.¹ In MVIP, RES and BISED a 1mmHg or great increase in IOP above average was associated with a 10 to 14% increased risk of POAG.⁶

A number of other risk factors were positively associated with incident POAG in some, but not all population studies. These included positive family history, thinner central corneal thickness and reduced ocular perfusion pressure (BISED), pseudoexfoliation and use of alpha-agonists (MVIP) and calcium channel blockers for systemic hypertension (RES). Differences among studies may reflect the relatively small numbers of incident cases in these studies.

| Risk Factors (Relative Risk with 95% Confidence Intervals) for Development of Open-angle Glaucoma in Population-based Longitudinal Studies | | | | |
|---|----------------------------|----------------------------|--|--|
| | BISED (9 yrs incidence) | RES (6.5 yrs incidence) | VIP (5 yrs incidence) of "probable OAG" | |
| Age (per order year) | 1.04 (1.03–1.05) | 1.06 (1.02–1.09) | - | |
| Age at baseline 50–59 | - | - | n.s. – multivariate 2.0 (0.21–19.5) | |
| Age at beaseline 60-69 | - | - | 8.4 (1.1-66.6) | |
| Age at beaseline 70-79 | - | - | 12.2 (1.5–103) | |
| Age at beaseline ≥ 80 | - | - | n.s. – multivariate 8.6 (0.63–116) | |
| OAG family history | 2.4 (1.3–4.6) | - | n.s. – multivariate 1.1 (0.29–4.0) | |
| IOP (per mm Hg) | 1.12 (1.08–1.16) | 1.14 (1.08–1.21) | 1.10 (1.04–1.20) | |
| CCT (per 40 mm thinner) | 1.41 (1.01–1.96) | - | - | |
| Ocular MPP (< 40 mm Hg) | 2.6 (1.4-4.6) | - | - | |
| SBP (per 10 mm Hg) | 0.91 (0.84–1.0) | - | - | |
| Diabetes | n.s age adjusted | n.s. – multivariate | n.s. RR not reported | |
| | 1.2 (0.7–1.8) | 0.65 (0.25-1.64) | | |
| Ca Channel antagonists | - | 1.9 (1.1–3.3) | - | |
| A-blocker | - | - | 4.8 (2.0-63.3) | |
| C/d ratio > 0.7 | - | - | 11.0 (4.6–26.8) | |
| PEX | - | - | 11.2 (2.0-63.3) | |

Table 2. Relative risk of glaucoma in population-based longitudinal studies. (From: Coleman *et al.*⁶)

BISED = Barbados Incidence Study of Eye Diseases; RES = Rotterdam Eye Study; VIP = Visual Impairment Project; OAG = open-angle glaucoma; IOP = intraocular pressure; CCT = central cornea thickness; MPP = mean ocular perfusion pressure; SBP = systolic blood pressure; PEX = pseudoesfoliation syndrome.

Risk factors for progression of OHT patients to OAG

'Progression of ocular hypertension' refers to conversion of eyes with IOPs above 2 SD of the population mean without structural or functional signs of glaucomatous damage into eyes with structural and or functional evidence of glaucoma damage. Although IOP lowering significantly lowers progression rates in OHT the majority of OHT patients do not progress over an initial five-year period (OHTS, EGPS). Decisions as to which OHT subjects to treat, are therefore based largely on risk factor analysis, which aim to treat individuals most at risk of going on to suffer vision loss from glaucoma.

In the Ocular Hypertension Treatment Study, elevated IOP, advancing age and disc hemorrhages were significant risk factors for progression to glaucoma.⁴ In the European Glaucoma Prevention Study (EGP) elevated IOP, age and pseudoexfoliarion syndrome were significant risk factors for progression of OHT to glaucoma.⁵ Additional predictive factors that were not significant at baseline but

became apparent during the follow up included disc haemorrhage, smaller IOP reduction (in the treatment arm) as well as a higher mean IOP during follow up.

The role of IOP variation is not clear. Long-term IOP variation (quantified as the standard deviation of average IOP over the entire follow-up period) was not associated with POAG in OHTS or EGPS. In a further study from Sweden, short-term variation (IOP variation over the circadian period) was also not associated with progression from OHT to glaucoma.⁸ The DIGS cohort from San Diego has also investigated risk factors for progression in this clinic-based cohort. Similar risk factors for conversion were seen here as per OHTS. In addition Medeiros and colleagues did not find a positive association between long-term circadian (24-hour) IOP variation and conversion to POAG.⁹

Although eyes with thin central corneas are more likely to progress, it is not absolutely clear what impact corneal thickness has on applanation tonometry. As such, the role of corneal thickness as an independent risk factor for progression of ocular hypertension to glaucoma is not fully established. Recent findings demonstrate that adjusting IOP measurement for corneal thickness does not improve our ability to predict progression (Brandt in press) as the predictive accuracy of the OHTS/EGPS prediction model for the development of POAG was not improved by correcting IOP for CCT using formulae published by Ehlers, Whitacre, Orssengo and Pye, Doughty, and Kohlhaas (Brandt *et al.*, in press).

Although there is wider evidence indicating that a positive family history increases the risk of an individual having glaucoma (the RES reported a tenfold higher risk of glaucoma in 80 year-old individuals with a positive family history compared to controls). The evidence supporting family history as a risk factor for incident glaucoma is weak, with neither OHTS or EGPS finding a significant association. Family history in these studies was self-reported. This likely underestimated the true rates of familial glaucoma.¹⁰ Despite the lack of compelling evidence for family history being associated with progression to glaucoma in OHT subjects, there was broad consensus among the panel that a positive family history should be considered as an important risk factor for incident glaucoma in ocular hypertensive patients.

References

- 1. Leske MC, Wu SY, Hennis A, Honkanen R, Nemesure B; BES Study Group. Risk factors for incident open-angle glaucoma: the Barbados Eye Studies. Ophthalmology 2008; 115: 85-93.
- de Voogd S, Ikram MK, Wolfs RC, Jansonius NM, Hofman A, de Jong PT. Incidence of open-angle glaucoma in a general elderly population: the Rotterdam Study. Ophthalmology 2005; 112:1487-1493.
- 3. Mukesh BN, McCarty CA, Rait JL, Taylor HR. Five-year incidence of open-angle glaucoma: the visual impairment project. Ophthalmology 2002; 109: 1047-1051.
- Coleman AL, Gordon MO, Beiser JA, Kass MA; Ocular Hypertension Treatment Study. Baseline risk factors for the development of primary open-angle glaucoma in the Ocular Hypertension Treatment Study. Am J Ophthalmol 2004; 138: 684-685.

- European Glaucoma Prevention Study (EGPS) Group, Miglior S, Pfeiffer N, Torri V, Zeyen T, Cunha-Vaz J, Adamsons I. Predictive factors for open-angle glaucoma among patients with ocular hypertension in the European Glaucoma Prevention Study. Ophthalmology 2007; 114: 3-9.
- 6. Coleman AL, Miglior S. Risk factors for glaucoma onset and progression. Surv Ophthalmol 2008; 53 Supp 1: S3-10.
- Ocular Hypertension Treatment Study Group; European Glaucoma Prevention Study Group, Gordon MO, Torri V, Miglior S, Beiser JA, Floriani I, Miller JP, Gao F, Adamsons I, Poli D, D'Agostino RB, Kass MA. Validated prediction model for the development of primary open-angle glaucoma in individuals with ocular hypertension. Ophthalmology 2007; 114: 10-19.
- Bengtsson B, Leske MC, Hyman L, Heijl A; Early Manifest Glaucoma Trial Group. Fluctuation of intraocular pressure and glaucoma progression in the early manifest glaucoma trial. Ophthalmology 2007; 114: 205-209. Epub 2006 Nov 13.
- Medeiros FA, Weinreb RN, Zangwill LM, Alencar LM, Sample PA, Vasile C, Bowd C. Long-term intraocular pressure fluctuations and risk of conversion from ocular hypertension to glaucoma. Ophthalmology 2008; 115: 934-940. Epub 2007 Oct 15.
- McNaught AI, Allen JG, Healey DL, McCartney PJ, Coote MA, Wong TL, Craig JE, Green CM, Rait JL, Mackey DA. Accuracy and implications of a reported family history of glaucoma: experience from the Glaucoma Inheritance Study in Tasmania. Arch Ophthalmol 2000; 118: 900-904.

3. Progression of POAG

Glaucoma is a progressive disease. In EMGT 76% and 59% progressed in the untreated and treated cohorts respectively over the eight-year follow-up period.

Early in the course of disease management, progression rates for an individual patient are usually not known. Management at this stage is therefore often based on risk factors for progression and markers that determine the stage of the disease. (Garway-Heath)

Progression rates are highly variable across populations, Risk factor analysis may only accounts for a small part of this variability for any individual patients. (Heijl)

- Although we cannot tell which patients will progress, risk-profiling does help us decide:
- which patients to watch most closely
- in which patients to concentrate our limited resources

Therefore for any given set of risk factors, more aggressive intervention (IOP lowering) and closer observation may be required for cases with advanced disease who are at greater risk of functional vision loss.

In EMGT the average progression rates was 0.9dB/yr. Only 10% of the cohort progressed at rates exceeding 1.5dB/year

Rates of blindness in POAG are low, with only 9% and 27% blind by WHO criteria in both eyes or one eye respectively, at 20 years (Olmstead County). POAG - 27% in one eye; 9% OU (N = 295).

OHT - 14% in one eye; 4% OU (N = 114).

Risk factors for progression of OAG

In the last years, several studies have been published addressing risk factors for open-angle glaucoma.¹ Some of them have focused on risk factors for progression.²

Risk factors for progression of OAG have been analyzed in five multicentered large randomized trials: Early Manifest Glaucoma Treatment Study (EMGTS), Advanced Glaucoma Intervention Study (AGIS), Collaborative Normal Tension Glaucoma Study (CNTGS), CIGTS and Canadian Glaucoma Study (CGS).³⁻¹² Each of these trials evaluated different factors in OAG in different stages of the disease. The specifics of design, methods and results can be found in the respective publications. Based on these large trials, as well as in other studies, risk factors, divided into ocular and systemic, are depicted below.

| Category | Risk Factor | Supporting studies / Comments |
|------------------------------|---|---|
| Ocular | | |
| IOP | Higher IOP at baseline | EMGTS ^{3,4} |
| | Higher mean IOP | EMGTS, AGIS, CGS ³⁻¹⁰ |
| | Greater IOP variation | AGIS (in patients with low mean IOP) ⁵⁻⁷ Not in EMGTS ^{3,4,10,11} |
| Central Corneal Thickness | Thinner corneas | EMGTS (in patients with higher baseline IOP) ¹¹ |
| Exfoliation syndrome | Presence of exfoliation syndrome | EMGTS ^{3,4,11} |
| Bilateralness | Presence of bilateral disease | EMGTS ^{3,4,11} |
| Disc | Disc hemorrhage | CNTGS12, EMGTS ^{3,4,11} |
| Disc | Smaller neuroretinal rim | Erlangen Glaucoma Registry ¹³ |
| Disc | Larger parapapillary beta zone | Erlangen Glaucoma Registry ¹³ |
| Disc | Progression of optic nerve damage: predictor of visual field loss | Erlangen Glaucoma Registry ¹³ |
| Visual field | Advanced perimetric damage | Erlangen Glaucoma Registry ¹³ |
| Visual field | Initial damage to both hemifields at diagnosis | Retrospective study ¹⁴ |
| Systemic: | | |
| Age | Older age | EMGTS, AGIS, CGS ³⁻⁹ |
| Gender | Females | RF in CGS, not in EMGTS ^{3,4,8,9} Women with migraine more likely to progress in CNTGS ¹² |

Table 3. Risk factors for glaucoma progression.

| Table 3. Continued. | . Continued. |
|---------------------|--------------|
|---------------------|--------------|

| Category | Risk Factor | Supporting studies / Comments |
|---|---|--|
| Gender | Males | Suggestion of increased risk in AGIS ⁵ |
| Genetics | Myocillin or Optineurin associated with more severe course and more likely to progress | Reference 15 |
| Ethnicity | African-derived persons | CNTGS ¹² |
| Blood perfusion pressure | Lower ocular systolic perfusion pressure | EMGTS ¹¹ |
| Blood perfusion pressure | Lower diastolic blood pressure in patients with lower baseline IOP | EMGTS ¹¹ |
| Blood hypertension on hypotensive medications | Systemic hypertension treated with hypotensive medications may be a risk factor for increased progression of optic nerve parameters in glaucoma suspects compared with age -matched normotensive subjects | Reference 16 |
| Cardiovascular status | Cardiovascular disease history in patients with higher baseline IOP | EMGTS ¹¹ |
| Diabetes | Self-reported diabetes | Associated with progression in AGIS ^{5,7} Not in CNTGTS and EMGTS ^{11,12} |
| Anticardiolipins | Abnormal baseline anticardiolipins | CGS8 |
| Family History | Higher risk in first-degree relatives | Rotterdam study ¹⁷ |

IOP as a risk factor for progression

Mean IOP

Different multi-center, randomized clinical trials support the role of mean IOP as a risk factor for progression. The Early Manifest Glaucoma Trial (EMGT) evaluated the role of IOP reduction on progression of glaucoma in subjects with early disease.^{3,4} The study included patients with early glaucomatous damage evidenced by reproducible visual field defects at baseline, who were randomized to treatment versus no treatment. Patients in the treatment group were treated with laser trabeculoplasty and betaxolol, and achieved a 25% reduction of baseline IOP. After six years follow-up, 62% of patients in the control group progressed versus 45% in the treated group (p = 0.003). Each 1 mmHg of mean IOP was associated with a 13% higher risk of progression. Each 1 mmHg higher baseline IOP increased 5% the risk of progression.

The Advanced Glaucoma Intervention Study (AGIS) evaluated two different surgical therapeutic sequence strategies in glaucoma patients with moderate disease who were uncontrolled on medical therapy.⁵ One of its reports evaluated the results according to the percentage of visits that the eyes had IOP less than 18 mmHg during follow-up.⁶ Eyes were allocated to one of the following four groups: Group A had 100% of visits with IOP less than 18 mmHg; Group B had 75% to less than 100%; Group C had 50% to less than 75%; and Group D had less than 50% of visits with IOP less than 18 mmHg. Mean IOP during the six years follow-up was: 12.3 mmHg, 14.7 mmHg, 16.9 mmHg and 20.2 mmHg; respectively for groups A, B, C and D. Visual field deterioration (measured by a specific score), was almost none in eyes belonging to group A. Eyes in groups B, C and D had more visual field progression compared to group A.

The Canadian Glaucoma Study (CGS) is a multicenter interventional study, whose primary objective was to determine which baseline demographic and systemic risk factors were associated with progression of visual field damage in patients with open-angle glaucoma. This study used an established protocol for IOP control. After a median follow-up of 5.3 years, the study identified higher mean follow-up IOP as one of the factors associated with visual field progression (HR per 1 mmHg, 1.19; 95% CI: 1.05-1.36).

IOP variation

Long-term IOP variability as a risk factor for glaucoma progression was addressed by two multicenter, randomized, prospective studies that yielded opposite results. Long-term IOP variation was considered a risk factor for glaucomatous visual field progression in the AGIS study, after a post-hoc analysis.⁷ Long-term IOP variation was obtained as the standard deviation of all IOP readings. Eyes with an IOP standard deviation < 3 mmHg remained stable, while those with an IOP standard deviation > 3 mmHg progressed.

Long-term IOP variation, also measured as standard deviation of IOP readings over follow-up time, was not considered to be a risk factor for progression in the EMGT.¹⁰ A significant difference between studies that may explain this discrepancy, is the fact that the AGIS included IOP readings obtained after progression occurred, while in the EMGT, readings were obtained up to the point of progression.¹⁸ Distinct study designs and populations may also explain the difference. A latter publication reported that IOP variation is a prognostic factor for subjects who underwent only one surgical intervention and had low mean IOP (were in the lowest tertile of mean IOP).¹⁹

References

- Coleman AL, Miglior S. Risk factors for glaucoma onset and progression. Surv Ophthalmol 2008; 53: S3-S10.
- Boland MV, Quigley HA. Risk factors and open-angle glaucoma: classification and application. J Glauc 2007; 16: 406-418.
- 3. Leske MC, Heijl A, Hussein M, et al. Factors for glaucoma progression and the effect of treatment: the early manifest glaucoma trial. Arch Ophthalmol 2003; 1: 48-56.

- 4. Leske MC, Heijl A, Hyman L, et al. Factors for progression and glaucoma treatment: the Early Manifest Glaucoma Trial. Curr Opin Ophthalmol 2004; 15: 102-6.
- AGIS investigators. The Advanced Glaucoma Intervention Study (AGIS): 12. Baseline risk factors for sustained loss of visual field and visual acuity in patients with advanced glaucoma. Am J Ophthalmol 2002; 134: 499-512.
- AGIS Investigators. The Advanced Glaucoma Intervention Study (AGIS): 7. The relationship between control of intraocular and visual field deterioration. Am J Ophthalmol 2000; 130: 429-440.
- Nouri-Mahdavi K, Hoffman D, Coleman AL, et al. Predictive factors for glaucomatous visual field progression in the advanced glaucoma intervention study. Ophthalmology 2004; 111: 1627-35.
- 8. Chauhan BC, Mikelberg FS, Balaszi AG, et al. Canadian Glaucoma Study. 2. Risk factors for the progression of open-angle glaucoma. Arch Ophthalmol 2008; 126: 1030-6.
- Chauhan BC, Mikelberg FS, Artes PH, et al. Canadian Glaucoma Study. 3. Impact of risk factors and introcular pressure reduction on the rates of visual field change. Arch Ophthalmol 2010; 128: 1249-55.
- 10. Bengtsson B, Leske MC, Hyman L, et al. Fluctuation of intraocular pressure and glaucoma progression in the early manifest glaucoma trial. Ophthalmology 2007; 114: 205-9.
- 11. Leske MC, Heijl A, Hyman L, et al. Predictors of long-term progression in the early manifest glaucoma trial. Ophthalmology 2007; 114: 1965-72.
- Anderson DR, Drance SM, Schulzer M, Collaborative normal-tension glaucoma study group. Factors that predict the benefit of lowering intraocular pressure in normal tension glaucoma. Am J Ophthalmol 2003; 136: 820-9.
- 13. Martus P, Stroux A, Budde W, et al. Predictive factors for progressive optic nerve damage in various types of chronic open-angle glaucoma. Am J Ophthalmol 2005; 139: 999-1009.
- 14. De Moraes CGV, Prata TS, Tello C, et al. Glaucoma with early visual field loss affecting both hemifields and the risk of disease progression. Arch Ophthalmol 2009; 127: 1129-1134.
- 15. Wiggs JL. Genetic etiologies of glaucoma. Arch Ophthalmol 2007; 125: 30-37.
- Punjabi OS, Stamper RL, Bostrom AG, Lin SC. Does treated systemic hypertension affect progression of optic nerve damage in glaucoma suspects? Curr Eye Res 2007; 32: 153-160.
- 17. Wolfs RCW, Klaver CCW, Ramrattan RS, et al. Genetic risk of primary open-angle glaucoma. Population-based familial aggregation study. Arch Ophthalmol 1998; 116: 1640-1645.
- 18. Medeiros FA, Brandt J, Liu J, et al. IOP as a risk factor for glaucoma development and progression. In Weinreb RN, Brandt JD, Garway-Heath D, Medeiros FA (Eds.), Intraocular Pressure. Reports and Consensus Statements of the 4th Global AIGS Consensus Meeting on Intraocular Pressure. The Hague. The Netherlands, Kugler Publications, 2007, pp. 59-74.
- Caprioli J, Coleman AL. Intraocular pressure fluctuation: A risk factor for visual field progression at low intraocular pressures in the Advanced Glaucoma Intervention Study. Ophthalmology 2008; 138: 684-685.

4. Risk factors for development and progression of primary angle closure and primary angle-closure glaucoma

According to a conceptual model of natural history, angle closure diseases are classified into three board categories, primary angle-closure suspect (PACS), primary angle closure (PAC) and primary angle-closure glaucoma (PACG).¹ De-mographic characteristics, ocular anatomy, genetic, systemic and some external factors are all identified as risk factors for angle closure. However, the majority of risk factors identified are from either cross-sectional studies or clinical ob-

servations. Lack of systematic longitudinal data hinders a better understanding of the natural history of the diseases and a correct identification of risk factors.

Incidence data are useful to estimate the onset and development of angle closure in the population. Based on retrospective case identification from medical records, the incidence of acute PAC was reported to be 3.8 per 100,000 per year in Finland,² 4.2 in Israel³ and 8.3 in Minnesota.⁴ Based on the one-year prospective data, this rate was identified as 15.5 per 100,000 per year (95%CI: 13.3-17.7) in Singapore Chinese population⁵ compared to 7.0 previously reported in Thailand and 11.4 in Japan after age and sex standardization. In the prospective island-wide incidence study in Singapore, risk factors identified were female (Relative risk, RR, 2.4), Chinese ethnicity (RR 2.8) and 60+ years (RR 9.1). A relationship between the number of acute attacks per day and mean number of sunspots and mean solar radio flux was also identified. Risk factors identified were similar in other incidence studies.

Longitudinal data from population-based studies suggest that the rate of progression from narrow angle to established angle closure (including any forms of angle closure) is around 16% in ten years in Eskimos,⁶ 22% in five years in Indians⁷ and 19% in a mean of 2.7 years in Caucasians.⁸ A study in Mongolia found that 20% of people with normal angles develop occludable angles in six years.⁹ Each of these studies also had limitations, so the true rate of angle closure development is not certain. Female gender was identified as having greater risk, but ocular anatomy, such as anterior chamber depth, lens thickness and axial length, were not identified as the statistically significant risk factors for the progression. The fact that these studies had relatively small number of subjects may compromise the power to detect the true risk factors.

The risk factors for progression can be inferred from cross-sectional studies. Studies consistently suggested that a narrow drainage angle is the primary anatomical risk factor for the angle closure. Anterior chamber depth (ACD) increases between seven and fifteen years and then decreases with increasing age. The decrease in ACD in older individuals is likely mainly due to the thickening and anterior movement of lens.¹⁰ Female gender is a major predisposing factor for ACG development. The prevalence of all categories of angle closure is two to five times higher in women than men. This increased prevalence is likely due to more shallow anterior chambers in women.

Ethnical difference has been well recognized for angle closure. Both prevalence and incidence data demonstrate that the angle closure affects East Asian people more frequently than European-derived persons.¹¹ This ethnic difference may be attributed to the differences in anterior chamber and angle anatomy. The majority of evidence suggests an inverse association between ACD and the rate of angle closure in various ethnic groups: shallower ACDs are normally found in populations with higher rate of angle closure.

A positive family history has long been recognized as predisposing to angle closure.¹² The similarity of ocular biometry in first degree relatives of patients indicates that angle closure related anatomical characteristics are heritable. The risk of developing angle-closure glaucoma was reported to be 3.5 times higher

in first degree relatives of affected Inuit patients.¹³ An investigation of Chinese twins confirms that the heritability of anterior chamber depth and drainage angle width could be as high as 70~90%.¹⁴

Given PAC development is very uncommon even in high-risk populations, it remains challenging to predict or identify people who will develop PAC. It is poorly understood what causes eyes with narrow angles develop PAC given the natural history data is largely not available. The fellow eye of individuals who have a one-eyed acute attack are at highest risk of developing an AAC attack. Early studies of such persons indicate that nearly half will develop an acute attack within approximately five years.^{15,16} In fact, 10% of all attacks are bilateral. Fellow eyes should therefore undergo prophylactic laser iridotomy as soon as possible. Similarly, people with milder episodes (based on history and clinical signs of previous angle closure) are also considered as high risk, especially if there is evidence of a transient elevation in IOP, and they require iridotomy as well.

Appositional closure is commonly used as an indication for increased risk of developing angle closure damage and therefore requires a prophylactic treatment, although this is opinion rather than evidence-based. Anterior segment imaging systems, such as UBM or ASOCT, are able to identify contact between the iris and the trabecular meshwork, but might not able to confirm whether it is appositional or synechial contact. Dynamic factors of the iris may also contribute to the development of angle closure¹⁷ and it was also confirmed by iris histologic study.¹⁸ This finding has yet to be replicated, however, and the difficulties of measuring iris dynamics pose additional challenges when considering using this as a predictor.

Some investigators have used provocative tests to identify at-risk individuals. These tests simulate the physiological conditions under which angle closure may develop. Nearly ten types of provocative tests have been proposed but the most common one is the dark room prone provocative test. A UBM dark room provocative test may have greater sensitivity to identify high risk eyes.¹⁹ However, none of these provocative tests has been shown to be truly predictive of developing PAC. In fact, Lowe and Wilensky have both asserted that provocative tests are probably poor predictors of future risk based on their research.^{8,20} Given the effort and potential risk when performing the tests and the lack of proven benefit, most practitioners in the West do not perform this as part of the clinical evaluation. More evidence from longitudinal data are needed to determine if they confer additional benefit in clinical practice.

Evidence documenting the progression from PAC to PACG or progression among PACG mainly come from clinical studies. One has to be cautious that almost all the studies on ACG progression are based on observations on the participants that under treatment, because it is simply not ethical to remain patients untreated, and therefore natural history data among people with established angle closure damage are simply not available. Interestingly, one population-based study in India reported that seven patients, among 19 PAC patients who refused laser PI, developed PACG in five years.²¹ Again, in part due to the small number of subjects, this study did not identify significant biometric parameters to differentiate those progressing or not. More data on treatment reluctant patients will provide more insights into the natural history.

Management of the early stages of angle closure focuses on the modification of the anterior configuration, hopefully before irreversible trabecular damage and GON develops. When GON has developed, the aim of the treatment is to lower the IOP in order to prevent the progression. Laser, surgery and medical treatment are recognized options for modifying the anterior drainage angle configuration. Laser iridotomy and iridoplasty are two laser treatments for opening a narrow angle. Surgical iridectomy or lens extraction are surgical procedures with similar purposes. Filtering surgery aims to lower IOP in those with established GON damage. Progression (or prognosis) data among the patients under treatment largely come from clinical case series instead of randomized trials.

Laser PI eradicates relative pupil block and equalizes the pressures between anterior and posterior chamber. The progression among people with patent PI depends on the underlying mechanism and the stage of disease. Greater extent of PAS, higher presenting IOP and a large cup disc ratio are all predictors for poor pressure controls and progression following iridotomy.²² After an acute episode of angle closure, satisfactory IOP control can be achieved in at least half of cases with PI alone,²³ however, once GON damage is established, virtually all cases will require further treatment to control IOP.²⁴

Residual angle closure following patent PI may be a risk factor for progression. A study on Asian people suggests that 51 of 111 patients had residual angle closure even with patent PI.

Trabeculectomy in general has much lower success rate in acute PAC cases,²⁵ but reasonably good outcome in chronic angle closure in comparison with POAG eyes,²⁶ particularly when in combination with cataract extraction surgery.²⁷ It will be interesting to investigate the factors conferring risk of progression despite with IOP lower surgery.

References

- 1. Foster PJ, Buhrmann R, Quigley HA, Johnson GJ. The definition and classification of glaucoma in prevalence surveys. Br J Ophthalmol 2002; 86: 238-242.
- 2. Teikari J, Raivio I, Nurminen M. Incidence of acute glaucoma in Finland from 1973 to 1982. Graefes Arch Clin Exp Ophthalmol 1987; 225: 357-360.
- 3. David R, Tessler Z, Yassur Y. Epidemiology of acute angle-closure glaucoma: incidence and seasonal variations. Ophthalmologica 1985; 191: 4-7.
- 4. Erie JC, Hodge DO, Gray DT. The incidence of primary angle-closure glaucoma in Olmsted County, Minnesota. Arch Ophthalmol 1997; 115: 177-181.
- Seah SK, Foster PJ, Chew PT, Jap A, Oen F, Fam HB, et al. Incidence of acute primary angle-closure glaucoma in Singapore. An island-wide survey. Arch Ophthalmol 1997; 115: 1436-1440.
- 6. Alsbirk PH. Anatomical risk factors in primary angle-closure glaucoma. A ten-year followup survey based on limbal and axial anterior chamber depths in a high risk population. Int Ophthalmol 1992; 16: 265-272.

- Thomas R, George R, Parikh R, Muliyil J, Jacob A. Five year risk of progression of primary angle closure suspects to primary angle closure: a population based study. Br J Ophthalmol 2003; 87: 450-454.
- 8. Wilensky JT, Kaufman PL, Frohlichstein D, Gieser DK, Kass MA, Ritch R, et al. Follow-up of angle-closure glaucoma suspects. Am J Ophthalmol 1993; 115: 338-346.
- 9. Yip JL, Foster PJ, Gilbert CE, Uranchimeg D, Bassanhuu J, Lee PS, et al. Incidence of occludable angles in a high-risk Mongolian population. Br J Ophthalmol 2008; 92: 30-33.
- Lowe RF. Aetiology of the anatomical basis for primary angle-closure glaucoma. Biometrical comparisons between normal eyes and eyes with primary angle-closure glaucoma. Br J Ophthalmol 1970; 54: 161-169.
- 11. He M, Foster PJ, Johnson GJ, Khaw PT. Angle-closure glaucoma in East Asian and European people. Different diseases? Eye (Lond). 2006; 20: 3-12.
- 12. Lowe RF. Primary angle-closure glaucoma. Inheritance and environment. Br J Ophthalmol 1972; 56: 13-20.
- 13. Alsbirk PH. Primary angle-closure glaucoma. Oculometry, epidemiology, and genetics in a high risk population. Acta Ophthalmol Suppl 1976; (127): 5-31.
- 14. He M, Wang D, Zheng Y, Zhang J, Yin Q, Huang W, et al. Heritability of anterior chamber depth as an intermediate phenotype of angle-closure in Chinese: the Guangzhou Twin Eye Study. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 2008; 49: 81-86.
- 15. Lowe RF. Acute Angle-Closure Glaucoma: The Second Eye: An Analysis of 200 Cases. Br J Ophthalmol 1962; 46: 641-650.
- 16. Snow JT. Value of prophylactic peripheral iridectomy on the second eye in angle-closure glaucoma. Trans Ophthalmol Soc U K. 1977; 97: 189-191.
- 17. Quigley HA. Angle-closure glaucoma-simpler answers to complex mechanisms: LXVI Edward Jackson Memorial Lecture. Am J Ophthalmol. 2009; 148: 657-669 e1.
- 18. He M, Lu Y, Liu X, Ye T, Foster PJ. Histologic changes of the iris in the development of angle closure in Chinese eyes. J Glaucoma 2008; 17: 386-392.
- 19. Ishikawa H, Esaki K, Liebmann JM, Uji Y, Ritch R. Ultrasound biomicroscopy dark room provocative testing: a quantitative method for estimating anterior chamber angle width. Jpn J Ophthalmol 1999; 43: 526-534.
- Lowe RF. Primary angle-closure glaucoma. A review of provocative tests. Br J Ophthalmol. 1967; 51: 727-732.
- 21. Thomas R, Parikh R, Muliyil J, Kumar RS. Five-year risk of progression of primary angle closure to primary angle closure glaucoma: a population-based study. Acta Ophthalmol Scand 2003; 81: 480-485.
- 22. Salmon JF. Long-Term Intraocular Pressure Control After Nd-YAG Laser Iridotomy in Chronic Angle-Closure Glaucoma. J Glaucoma 1993; 2: 291-296.
- 23. Alsagoff Z, Aung T, Ang LP, Chew PT. Long-term clinical course of primary angle-closure glaucoma in an Asian population. Ophthalmology 2000; 107: 2300-2304.
- 24. Rosman M, Aung T, Ang LP, Chew PT, Liebmann JM, Ritch R. Chronic angle-closure with glaucomatous damage: long-term clinical course in a North American population and comparison with an Asian population. Ophthalmology 2002; 109: 2227-2231.
- 25. Aung T, Tow SL, Yap EY, Chan SP, Seah SK. Trabeculectomy for acute primary angle closure. Ophthalmology 2000; 107: 1298-1302.
- 26. Sihota R, Gupta V, Agarwal HC. Long-term evaluation of trabeculectomy in primary open angle glaucoma and chronic primary angle closure glaucoma in an Asian population. Clin Experiment Ophthalmol 2004; 32: 23-28.
- 27. Tham CC, Kwong YY, Leung DY, Lam SW, Li FC, Chiu TY, et al. Phacoemulsification versus combined phacotrabeculectomy in medically controlled chronic angle closure glaucoma with cataract. Ophthalmology 2008; 115: 2167-2173 e2.

5. Challenges and future opportunities: How do we put risk factor analysis into clinical practice and what else do we need to know?

The lack of adequate information regarding the relative importance of various risk factors for glaucoma progression continues to pose a challenge to the ophthlmic practitioner and the clinician-scientist. In particular, the paucity of information regarding the role of individual risk factors in predicting functional vision loss and glaucoma blindness is noteworthy. Relatively greater prospective risk factor information is available for the development of glaucoma in patients with ocular hypertension and for the progression from mild to moderate glaucomatous diseasitional risk factors to be that require further evaluation include: the compliance of the patient, the socioeconomic background of the society in which the patient lives , and the socioeconomic background of the single patient. Further work is required prior to also considering the potential role of the trans-lamina cribrosa pressure difference with the IOP and the orbital CSF pressure as the measurable determinants.

Establishing a clear role for using risk factors in clinical practice

Provided that we can create a solid list of risk factors, all backed by solid evidence, do we know how to translate this accumulated data to treatment recommendations for individual patients? In this respect, it is reasonable that patient A with a far worse 'risk factor profile' than patient B might:

- 1. Receive more frequent follow-up visits.
- 2. Receive more frequent diagnostic tests (visual fields, imaging, IOP measurements (be it office visits or continuous/home tonometry).
- 3. Be subjected to more aggressive therapies (be it a lower target pressure, earlier surgery).

In the future, increasing use of electronic health records may make it possible to assess risk factor importance retrospectively. Prospective risk factor assessment in large clinical trials is time consuming and expensive. Standardization of such electronic health records will be necessary for such an approach to be useful.

Making data sets from large prospective studies, which have evaluated structural and functional progression available to the ophthalmic community may aid in risk factor assessment. Such data may be used for meta-analyses that can assess risk factors for progression.



Norbert Pfeiffer (left) and Thierry Zeyen.



Jonathan G. Crowston (co-Chair and section 4 Leader), Esther Hoffman and Norbert Pfeiffer (left to right).



Rohit Varma





Pradeep Ramulu



David Friedman

5. GLAUCOMA AND ITS IMPACT ON PATIENT FUNCTION

Rohit Varma, Roberta McKean-Cowdin, Thierry Zeyen, Pradeep Ramulu, David Friedman

Section leader: Rohit Varma Co-leaders: David Friedman, Thierry Zeyen Contributors: Thierry Zeyen, David Friedman, Roberta McKean-Cowdin, Pradeep Ramulu

Consensus statements

- 1. Standard measures for assessing glaucoma include measures of optic nerve structure and function including cup/disc ratios, thickness of the retinal nerve fiber layer and ganglion cell layer, white on white visual fields, blue on yellow visual fields, and intraocular pressure. While these measures provide an assessment of the eye, they are surrogates for how the patient is functioning. Both patient reported outcomes (PROs) and functional performance assessment tests provide important information in addition to standard tests on the impact of glaucoma on the patient.
- 2. It was previously believed that only advanced glaucoma damage has an impact on the patient ability to function. However, more recent cross-sectional clinic-based and population-based studies have demonstrated that early glaucomatous visual field loss has an impact on the patients' ability to function as assessed by patient reported outcome measures and functional performance tests.
- 3. Future studies are needed to explore the relationship between PROs and functional performance measures and glaucoma progression.
- 4. Numerous instruments and tests have been used for assessing PROs and functional performance measures in research settings. However, there is no consensus on a single PRO or functional performance measure (or set of PROs or functional performance measures) for clinical practice. There is a need to create simpler PROs and functional performance tests which can easily be reproduced in a wide variety of settings.

Introduction

Glaucoma is a leading cause of visual impairment and blindness. It is a chronic disease that requires lifelong observation and treatment. The impact of glaucoma includes activity limitation (e.g. driving, household tasks, and reading) due to impaired vision but also effects general health, lifestyle and emotions and therefore a person's quality of life.

Objective endpoints of vision loss such as the measurement of visual acuity and visual field may fall short in capturing the real impact of glaucoma on the patient's daily life. The patient's perspective and their objective performance on tasks is therefore important in order to fully understand the impact of glaucoma on their functioning and well-being, and should be more integrated in clinical practice and research evaluations because some effects are only known by the patients or can be detectable only using specific task based tests and are not detectable or interpretable by using the standard battery of clinical tests.

A large number of instruments exist for assessing the patients' perspective and performance. However, it may be challenging for clinicians or researchers to evaluate which instruments are most appropriate for their intended clinical evaluation or research project. Hence, they may benefit from guidance on how specific outcomes are best assessed based on published evidence. The assessment will cover two types of instruments – patient reported outcomes and functional performance tests assessing specific tasks. This chapter is divided into four sections: (1) How do we measure the impact of Glaucoma? (instruments, validity, reproducibility, estimate of clinically meaningful difference, limitations); (2) What is the relationship between patient reported outcomes, functional performance and glaucomatous damage in cross sectional studies?; (3) What is the relationship between measures of patient reported outcomes, functional performance and progressive glaucomatous damage?; and (4) Consensus statement on PROs and measures of functional performance in Glaucoma, including measures to use in research and clinical practice.

How do we measure the impact of glaucoma? (instruments, validity, reproducibility, estimate of clinically meaningful difference, limitations)

Patient Reported Outcomes

The US Food and Drug Administration (FDA) recently recommended the term 'Patient Reported Outcomes (PRO's)' as an umbrella term covering a broad range of health data reported by the patient. Aspects that are covered include patients' physical (ability to carry out activities of daily living, such as self-care and walking), psychological (emotional and mental well-being) and social functioning (relationships with others and participation in social activities); perception of health status; personal construct (spirituality and stigma) and satisfaction with life or care.

A large number of PRO self-report questionnaires have been developed to assess several aspects of the patients' health status, yet the selection of an instrument largely depends on the objectives and the targeted population. While generic PRO instruments capture a broad range of health status aspects, allowing comparisons among different diseases, they do not capture the patient's perception on specific aspects of a disease or health problem, such as glaucoma. Disease specific instruments are more sensitive to capture small changes in the condition specific health status, and may help to interpret and capture clinical outcomes of glaucoma or its treatment comprehensively, if well developed and validated. PRO's are therefore a unique indicator of the disease's impact on a patient's life and are essential for evaluating treatment efficacy or side effects. Hence, instruments measuring PRO's may provide essential disease and treatment information and their results can be considered as a key-element in treatment decision making and research.

The impact of glaucomatous visual field loss (VFL) on an individual's perceived well-being and function has been investigated using a variety of generic (*e.g.*, SF-36^{1,2}), vision-specific (*e.g.*, NEI-VFQ,^{3,4} IVI⁵), and glaucoma-specific instruments (*e.g.*, GQL-15⁶), which have been reviewed previously.⁷⁻⁹ Vision specific instruments are designed to measure the impact of chronic eye disease or symptoms on perceived health, which may include areas such as emotional well-being, social functioning, and ability to complete daily vision-related tasks. Glaucoma-specific instruments typically focus on questions related to visual ability, tasks that are impacted by decreased visual ability, and the importance of the loss of visual ability or ability to form the vision-related task to the individual.⁷

In this chapter, we attempt to establish the relationship between glaucomatous damage and the impact on daily life. Therefore, we did not include PROs for assessing side effects and symptoms. To determine if previously published PROinstruments are well developed and validated they should be evaluated according to existing guidelines, such as the United States Food and Drug Administration (FDA)-guidelines and/or the framework outlined by Pesudovs et al. (2007). These quality criteria emphasize the importance of both the developmental history and the psychometric characteristics of PRO's. According to these guidelines the following criteria are important indicators of an instruments' quality: (1) Were the purpose of the instrument and its target population well defined?; (2) Were adequate steps taken in defining the content of the instrument, the rating scale and the scoring system?; and (3) is the instrument performing well in view of validity and reliability? There are several existing guidelines and published standards for evaluating and judging psychometric properties (i.e., validity and reliability) of PRO-instruments, but ideally good PRO-instruments require scientific evidence concerning: construct-, criterion-validity, responsiveness and reliability. According to the FDA-guidelines validity, reliability and responsiveness testing should be repeated when a PRO instrument is modified: (a) to measure another concept; (b) to be used in a different population or condition, (c) changing the item content or instrument format, or (d) in terms of mode of administration, culture or language application. Of the existing instruments

to assess PROs particularly activities, limitations, social well-being, and daily performance the following instruments were consider to have established validity: GQL-15, IMQ, GSE, Glau-QOL-36, NEI-VFQ-25, and the IVI.

Functional performance impact

Functional performance impact is defined as the 'objective task based assessment of a person's ability/inability to perform certain tasks'. One method for objectively measuring the impact of glaucoma is through monitoring of adverse events. Several different adverse events have been screened for in glaucoma, including motor vehicle crashes, falls, and fractures. Database searching is required if these adverse events are to be measured objectively. For example, previous work has assessed government records to evaluate if falls or motor vehicle crashes were more common in glaucoma patients.¹⁰⁻¹² The strength of this work is that its impact is easily interpretable. For instance, we can all understand the meaning and impact of a motor vehicle crash or an injurious fall. A significant limitation to this approach is that the accuracy and validity of the work is difficult to assess, as there is no gold standard for knowing whether the event actually occurred or not. As such, the accuracy and validity publications using this approach needs to be assessed on a case-by-case basis, and depends on our interpretation of whether the database utilized can pick up the adverse events consistently and without bias. Another shortcoming of this approach is that results can only be gathered for individuals covered by the databases used, limiting the generalizability of the work. Developing nations, for example, typically do not have such databases.

Adverse events can also be picked up through patient report, and therefore this section straddles the two sections defined for this consensus report. Work in the field of motor vehicle crashes has suggested that objective measurement of adverse events may be more accurate than self-report of adverse events, though this may not necessarily be true for other outcomes. Additionally, individuals with eye disease may be more likely to report some adverse events (*i.e.*, falls) due to awareness of their disease and its possible consequences, and less likely to report other events (*i.e.*, motor vehicle crashes) due to fear of the consequences of reporting the event (*i.e.*, loss of driving privileges). However, some adverse events (all falls, discontinuation of driving) can only really be measured through patient report, leaving no other suitable option available (at present).

A second method for objectively measuring the impact of glaucoma is through monitoring of individuals in their normal routine. For example, accelerometers have been validated as a tool for measuring real-world mobility and physical activity done as part of one's daily routine.^{13,14} Tracking technology is also now available which can determine where people move, drive or travel, and video systems have been created to observe how they drive, and could certainly be expanded to assess how they perform other activities of daily living.¹⁵⁻¹⁷ The strength of this approach is that it gives us insight into what is actually happening in a person's life and normal routine. Limitations to this work are partially attributable to the technologies used to monitor the patient. For example, accelerometers may not properly classify the physical activity associated with all activities (*i.e.*, swimming), GPS tracking devices may fail to track people when they are in indoor locations, while car cameras may not pick up happenings outside the view of the camera. As such, the accuracy and validity of these studies needs to be evaluated on a case-by-case basis by individuals with knowledge of the technological shortcomings of the monitoring systems used. Some of these monitoring techniques also require participation by the subject in terms of wearing a device, which can lead to inaccurate results if compliance is an issue. Additionally, people may live in very different home environments, making it difficult to discern if measured difficulty is due to their disease or to their environment. Finally, direct observation of patients' lives is by necessity intrusive, and generates a greater burden on the patient.

A final method for objectively measuring glaucoma's impact on function is to directly observe individuals' ability to perform a standardized task or set of tasks. Studies using this approach have either focused on a single task, or aggregated a set of tasks into a composite measure.¹⁸ Studies evaluating performance using at single tasks have generally focused on functional domains identified as having the greatest value to glaucoma patients: mobility and reading.^{19,20} For example, previous work has examined how quickly individuals read, how well they drive through a standardized route, and how well they navigate a mobility course.²¹⁻²³

The concept of validity is difficult to apply to tests which involve performing a single task, as measuring how a single task is performed is very unlikely to fully reflect a complex construct such as mobility, driving or reading. The question to be asked of single-task measures is how central is this task to the construct being examined. For example, balance is relevant to mobility in that it may result in falls and/or lead to restriction of physical activity, but is certainly not as reflective of mobility as direct measurement of fall rates or daily physical activity levels. Likewise, a driving simulator performance is relevant with respect to the construct of driving, but certainly less relevant than direct observation of how someone drives on the road or if they actually get into an accident. Additionally, each test should be evaluated to determine if it was conducted in a method to minimize error and bias.

Composite measures have the benefit of capturing and summarizing performance disability experienced in a variety of functional domains. Several composite measures of functional performance ability have also been created,¹⁸ though only one has been used to describe the impact of glaucoma.²⁴ The Assessment of Disability Related to Vision (ADREV) involves nine tasks of varying difficulty each graded on a 0-7 scale. ADREV scores have been shown to be uni-dimensional and strongly correlated with numerous measures of vision loss.²⁵

Identifying a clinically meaningful difference in composite measures can be difficult. Firstly, summary measures which generate a summary score are hard to evaluate, as the composite measure reflects multiple items which are being assessed together. Secondly, it is easier to understand what a meaningful difference is for measures graded on an intuitive scale. For example, it is easy for us to understand the clinical significance of reading 20% slower, as we can imagine how this would impact our own lives. It is more difficult to assess the meaning of a 20% reduction in the composite ADREV score. Finally, it is easier to understand what difference is clinically meaningful when we can compare the effect of glaucoma to other diseases or conditions. For example, changes in performance may be equivalent to ten years of aging or the presence of a second comorbid illness. These data are available in many publications which take care to measure important covariates and present the results of multivariable models, though these findings are rarely highlighted.

What is the relationship between patient reported outcomes, functional performance loss and glaucomatous damage in cross-sectional studies?

Patient reported outcomes

Glaucoma patients have scored significantly worse on vision-specific quality of life (QOL) instruments than control participants without glaucoma. Gutierrez *et al.*²⁶ found visual field loss among glaucoma patients was associated with worse NEI-VFQ and SF-36 scores than individuals without glaucomatous visual field loss. They further described a steady, linear decline between visual field loss and HRQOL in glaucoma patients (N = 147) using the National Eye Institute Visual Functioning Questionnaire (NEI-VFQ).²⁶ These data support the finding that vision-specific QOL begins to decline with mild VFL and continues to decline with increasing severity of VFL. The magnitude of the association may vary however, as other investigators have found only modest associations between VFL in glaucoma patients and vision-specific or general measures of HRQOL.^{27,28} A concern when interpreting all clinic based samples is that patient knowledge of their glaucoma and treatment status may influence perception and reporting of HRQOL.

Glaucomatous visual field loss also has been associated with worse NEI-VFQ-25 and SF-12 scores in population-based samples.^{29,30} In the Los Angeles Latino Eye Study (LALES), a monotonic trend was observed between visual field loss and most NEI-VFQ-25 subscale scores, such that glaucoma cases with severe visual field loss had lower QOL scores than participants with no VFL.²⁹ In the same study, lower SF-12 Physical Component Summary (PCS) scores were found among glaucoma participants compared to participants with no visual field loss. This pattern was present when using monocular (better or worse seeing eyes) or calculated binocular data. An important aspect of this study was the fact that over 75% of participants with glaucoma did not know they had the disease and were not being treated for glaucoma. Thus, the relationship between QOL scores and visual field loss was not biased by either knowledge of the disease nor by treatment of glaucoma. In a population-based study of African-origin participants from Barbados, West Indies, investigators

found glaucoma was associated with significantly lower NEI-VFQ-25 scores, including distance activities, mental health, peripheral vision, and color.³⁰ The association of decreased scores with mild visual field loss in glaucoma patients also was reported by Nelson *et al.* when using the Glaucoma Quality of Life (GQL-15) instrument.⁶ The results from these studies suggest that adults with glaucoma experience measurable loss in HRQOL early in the disease process and that prevention of small or early changes in VFL may have important HRQOL benefits for adults with glaucoma.

Parrish et al.⁶ found only moderate correlations between binocular visual field loss using the Esterman binocular visual field testing score and the NEI-VFQ and Noe et al.⁶ found no association between Esterman binocular VF testing scores and HRQOL using the Impact of Vision Impairment Questionnaire. In LALES, correlation coefficients between NEI-VFQ scores and visual field were similar for monocular and binocular measures.²⁹ Measures of binocular VFL are assumed to be more representative of true vision than monocular, however work by Jampel et al. indicates that correlations between all visual field test scores (e.g., monocular better seeing eye, monocular worse seeing eye, or Esterman binocular) and vision specific HRQOL are modest overall.³¹ Mills et al. found weak correlations between the Visual Activities Questionnaire and VFL of glaucoma cases at enrollment into the Collaborative Initial Glaucoma Treatment Study.³² A recent study of Greek glaucoma patients found visual field loss (as measured by mean deviation and pattern standard deviation) were strongly associated with quality of life scores from the Vision-specific quality-of-life (VS-QOL) questionnaire.³³ A study of African-American and White glaucoma patients found similar NEI-VFQ and Glaucoma Symptoms Scale scores for both races and found worse scores for most NEI-VFQ-25 subscales associated with worse visual field defect scores.³⁴ Sherwood et al.³⁵ and Wilson et al.³⁶ using general health measures of HRQOL found glaucoma cases had lower SF-20 or SF-36 scores than controls.^{35,36}

Self-reported falls were twice as likely for individuals using a glaucoma medication compared to those that did not in the Blue Mountains Eye Study,³⁷ and were four times as likely for individuals with glaucoma in the Singapore Malay Eye Study.³⁸ A four-fold higher risk for falling was also reported for glaucoma patients in a clinic- based study by Haymes *et al.*³⁹ All these studies measured falls retrospectively by simply asking subjects whether they had a fall in the previous 12 months, and previous work has demonstrated significant limitations for this method of falls assessment.⁴⁰ Research from health care databases has also suggested that sequelae of falls, *i.e.*, fractures, may be more common in glaucoma. Glaucoma patients cared for by the United States Medicare system had slightly higher rates (odds ratio = 1.6) of falls and femur fractures if they were also coded to be visually impaired.¹⁰ Analyses of Medicare data also found that men with glaucoma may be more likely to sustain a hip fracture and require skilled nursing care.¹¹ One consequence of falling or fear of falling may be a restriction of physical activity. Recent work suggests that the amount

of daily walking decreases significantly with worsening VF loss, with a 5-dB decrement in better-eye VF loss associated with a 10% decrease in the number of daily steps.⁴¹

Motor Vehicular accidents appear to be more common in individuals with glaucoma. McGwin *et al.* found that individuals with glaucoma had a three-fold increased risk of having an accident documented by State records,⁴² and even higher relative rates (OR = 6.6) were measured in a clinic-based study from Canada.³⁹ A case-control study of individuals seen in an eye clinic further suggested that accident rates increase as visual field loss worsens.⁴³ Some studies, however, have not document increased crash rates in individuals with glaucoma. Hu found that crash rates were less than twofold higher in men but not higher in women with glaucoma,⁴⁴ while another report noted fewer (OR = 0.67) state-recorded accidents for individuals with glaucoma.¹²

Many individuals with glaucoma limit or stop driving, possibly due to fear of driving, or pressure because of government licensing restrictions or the recommendations of a physician or family members. Individuals with bilateral glaucoma in the Salisbury Eye Evaluation were nearly three times as likely to have stopped driving and a lesser effect was suggested for subjects with glaucoma manifesting in only one eye.⁴⁵ Driving cessation was also more common (OR=2.2) in glaucoma subjects participating in the Blue Mountains Eye Study,⁴⁶ though the likelihood of driving cessation was not assessed for varying levels of VF loss. Several other studies have noted that individuals with glaucoma report restriction of driving to certain locations, or avoid certain weather conditions, though this has never been assessed objectively, and has not been confirmed in all studies.⁴⁵

Location of glaucomatous visual field loss also has been found to influence QOL scores. In a review by Evans *et al.*, investigators found that both peripheral and central vision loss had a negative impact on general and vision-specific measures of QOL, however the specific domains most impacted varied by location of visual field loss.⁴⁷ In LALES, glaucoma participants with any central VFL had lower mean scores for all NEI-VFQ subscales than participants with no VFL or unilateral peripheral VFL.²⁹ The lower HRQOL scores for glaucoma participants with any central VFL fits with the disease course progressing from peripheral VFL in early stages of the disease to central and peripheral VFL in more advanced stages of the disease.

Functional performance

Functional performance has mostly been studied for specific tasks, with most tasks falling within the broad categories of reading, ambulation, and driving. These studies have generally been performed in developed nations, and may not reflect the most important activities impacted by glaucoma in people of developing nations.

Reading: "Out loud" reading speed was directly measured as part of the Salisbury Eye Evaluation (SEE).²³ In this study, only individuals with very advanced bilateral glaucoma had significantly decreased "Out loud" reading speeds. A worse visual field score did not lead to slower "Out loud" reading rates when visual acuity was accounted for. Recent work presented at ARVO 2011, however, suggests that silent reading speed is nearly 15% slower in individuals with bilateral glaucomatous visual field loss, and is significantly worse in individuals with greater VF loss in their better-seeing eye (8% slower reading per 5 dB worsening in the better-eye VF). Additionally, reading speed is more likely to decrease when glaucoma patients perform sustained reading, suggesting that they may fatigue during this process.⁴⁸ Furthermore, individuals with glaucoma also read low-contrast materials more slowly than individuals without glaucoma.⁴⁹

Walking, Balance and Falls: Several aspects of ambulation in glaucoma have been studied in cross-sectional studies. Mobility course data has demonstrated that individuals with glaucoma walk roughly 15% slower, and that walking speeds are slowest in glaucoma patients with the most visual field damage.^{21,50} Additionally, individuals with glaucoma are nearly twice as likely to bump into objects placed in the mobility course when compared to individuals without glaucoma.²¹

Glaucoma has also been associated with poor balance. Individuals with glaucoma have more trouble performing balance tasks²¹ and have greater postural sway than individuals with normal vision with their eyes open, but not with their eyes closed. Postural sway has also been noted to be greater in glaucoma patients with greater visual field loss. Balance limitations may also explain the increase risk of falls in glaucoma.

Driving: Driving is a critical function in developed nations, and is often necessary for independent living.⁵¹ As such, there is a need to balance the independence and quality of life of the individual with glaucoma with their safety and the safety of society. Indeed, many individuals with advanced VF loss continue driving, making it important to set evidence based standards for whether they should or should not be allowed to drive.⁴⁵ In driving simulators, individuals with glaucoma had been noted to have more accidents.⁵² Glaucoma has been associated with lower likelihood of seeing pedestrians on the side of the road during on-road driving evaluations.²² Additionally, individuals with glaucoma were 6 times as likely to require a critical intervention by the professional driving instructor evaluating them.²² Using a tracking device, Hochberg and colleagues demonstrated that glaucoma subjects made 25% fewer excursions away from home, and were significantly more likely to not leave their home on a given day.⁵³

Relatively few studies have examined function in glaucoma outside the domains of mobility and reading. Kotecha and colleagues demonstrated slower, more tentative reaching for objects, suggesting that many activities of daily living may be affected by glaucoma.⁵⁴ The ADREV test also evaluated many tasks outside of reading and mobility, including recognition of facial expressions and street signs, detection of motion, location of objects, placement of pegs into holes, matching socks and use of a telephone. All functions were significantly correlated with both visual field measures and contrast sensitivity, with the greatest correlations observed for motion detection, sock matching, and finding objects.²⁴

What is the relationship between measures of patient reported outcomes, functional loss and progressive glaucomatous damage?

In LALES, change in PRO as measured by the NEI-VFQ-25 in relation to visual field loss due to any reason was investigated.⁵⁵ Increasing losses and gains in visual field were associated with increasing losses and gains in the NEI-VFQ composite score and 10 of its 11 subscales (all *P*-trends < .05). Baseline visual field, baseline visual acuity and change in visual acuity modified the effect of change in visual field on vision-specific HRQOL. Specifically, visual field loss was associated with greater loss in HRQOL scores in the presence of pre-existing loss of visual acuity compared to no impairment. Clearly, this is an important future area of study.

To date, no functional performance measures have been studied relative to progressive glaucomatous damage in the same individual.

References

- 1. Ware JE, Jr., Kosinski M, Bayliss MS, et al. Comparison of methods for the scoring and statistical analysis of SF-36 health profile and summary measures: summary of results from the Medical Outcomes Study. Med Care 1995; 33 (Suppl):AS264-79.
- 2. Ware JE GB. The SF-36 Health Survey: development and use in mental health research adn the IQOLA Project. International Journal of Mental Health 1994; 23: 49-73.
- 3. Mangione CM, Lee PP, Gutierrez PR, et al. Development of the 25-item National Eye Institute Visual Function Questionnaire. Arch Ophthalmol 2001; 119: 1050-1058.
- 4. Mangione CM, Lee PP, Pitts J, et al. Psychometric properties of the National Eye Institute Visual Function Questionnaire (NEI-VFQ). NEI-VFQ Field Test Investigators. Arch Ophthalmol 1998; 116: 1496-1504.
- 5. Weih LM, Hassell JB, Keeffe J. Assessment of the impact of vision impairment. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 2002; 43: 927-935.
- 6. Nelson P, Aspinall P, Papasouliotis O, et al. Quality of life in glaucoma and its relationship with visual function. J Glaucoma 2003; 12: 139-150.
- 7. Spaeth G, Walt J, Keener J. Evaluation of quality of life for patients with glaucoma. Am J Ophthalmol 2006; 141(Suppl):S3-14.
- 8. Che Hamzah J, Burr JM, Ramsay CR, et al. Choosing appropriate patient-reported outcomes instrument for glaucoma research: a systematic review of vision instruments. Qual Life Res.
- 9. Vandenbroeck S, De Geest S, Zeyen T, et al. Patient-reported outcomes (PRO's) in glaucoma: a systematic review. Eye (Lond); 25: 555-577.
- 10. Bramley T, Peeples P, Walt JG, et al. Impact of vision loss on costs and outcomes in medicare beneficiaries with glaucoma. Arch Ophthalmol 2008; 126: 849-856.

- 11. Colon-Emeric CS, Biggs DP, Schenck AP, Lyles KW. Risk factors for hip fracture in skilled nursing facilities: who should be evaluated? Osteoporos Int 2003; 14: 484-489.
- 12. McGwin G, Jr., Mays A, Joiner W, et al. Is glaucoma associated with motor vehicle collision involvement and driving avoidance? Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 2004; 45: 3934-3939.
- 13. Blanton CA., Kretsch DJ., RC. B. Measuring Physical Activity Energy Expenditure in Normal-Weight, Premenopausal Women. 2005.
- 14. Heil DP. Predicting activity energy expenditure using the Actical activity monitor. Res Q Exerc Sport 2006; 77: 64-80.
- Munro CA, Jefferys J, Gower EW, et al. Predictors of lane-change errors in older drivers. J Am Geriatr Soc 2010; 58: 457-464.
- 16. Ramulu PY., Chan ES., Loyd TL., et al. Comparison of home and out-of-home physical activity using accelerometers and cellular network based tracking devices. 2011.
- 17. Schenk AK, Witbrodt BC, Hoarty CA, et al. Cellular telephones measure activity and lifespace in community-dwelling adults: proof of principle. J Am Geriatr Soc 2011; 59: 345-352.
- Warrian KJ, Altangerel U, Spaeth GL. Performance-based measures of visual function. Surv Ophthalmol 2010; 55: 146-161.
- 19. Aspinall PA, Johnson ZK, Azuara-Blanco A, et al. Evaluation of quality of life and priorities of patients with glaucoma. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 2008; 49: 1907-1915.
- 20. Burr JM, Kilonzo M, Vale L, Ryan M. Developing a preference-based Glaucoma Utility Index using a discrete choice experiment. Optom Vis Sci 2007; 84: 797-808.
- 21. Friedman DS, Freeman E, Munoz B, et al. Glaucoma and mobility performance: the Salisbury Eye Evaluation Project. Ophthalmology 2007; 114: 2232-2237.
- 22. Haymes SA, LeBlanc RP, Nicolela MT, et al. Glaucoma and on-road driving performance. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 2008; 49: 3035-3041.
- 23. Ramulu PY, West SK, Munoz B, et al. Glaucoma and reading speed: the Salisbury Eye Evaluation project. Arch Ophthalmol 2009; 127: 82-87.
- 24. Richman J, Lorenzana LL, Lankaranian D, et al. Importance of visual acuity and contrast sensitivity in patients with glaucoma. Arch Ophthalmol 2010; 128: 1576-1582.
- 25. Altangerel U, Spaeth GL, Steinmann WC. Assessment of function related to vision (AFREV). Ophthalmic Epidemiol 2006; 13: 67-80.
- 26. Gutierrez P, Wilson R, Johnson C, al. e. Influence of glaucomatous visual field loss on health related quality of life. Arch Ophthalmol 1997; 115: 777-784.
- 27. Noe G, Borth J, Lamoureux E, et al. Associations between glaucomatous visual field loss and participation in activities of daily living. Clinical and Experimental Ophthalmology 2003; 31: 482-486.
- 28. Parrish R, Gedde S, Scott I, al. e. Visual function and quality of life among patients with glaucoma. Arch Ophthalmol 1997; 104: 334-342.
- 29. McKean-Cowdin R, Wang Y, Wu J, et al. Impact of visual field loss on health-related quality of life in glaucoma: the Los Angeles Latino Eye Study. Ophthalmology 2008; 115: 941-948 e1.
- Wu SY, Hennis A, Nemesure B, Leske MC. Impact of glaucoma, lens opacities, and cataract surgery on visual functioning and related quality of life: the Barbados Eye Studies. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 2008; 49: 1333-1338.
- Jampel HD. Glaucoma patients' assessment of their visual function and quality of life. Trans Am Ophthalmol Soc 2001; 99: 301-317.
- 32. Mills R. Correlation of quality of life with clinical symptoms and signs at the time of glaucoma diagnosis. Trans Am Ophthalmol Soc 1998; 96: 753-812.
- Labiris G, Katsanos A, Fanariotis M, et al. Vision-specific quality of life in Greek glaucoma patients. J Glaucoma 2009; 19: 39-43.
- Ringsdorf L, McGwin G, Jr., Owsley C. Visual field defects and vision-specific health-related quality of life in African Americans and whites with glaucoma. J Glaucoma 2006; 15: 414-418.
- Sherwood MB, Garcia-Siekavizza A, Meltzer MI, et al. Glaucoma's impact on quality of life and its relation to clinical indicators. A pilot study. Ophthalmology 1998; 105: 561-566.
- Wilson MR, Coleman AL, Yu F, et al. Functional status and well-being in patients with glaucoma as measured by the Medical Outcomes Study Short Form-36 questionnaire. Ophthalmology 1998; 105: 2112-2116.
- 37. Ivers RQ, Cumming RG, Mitchell P, Attebo K. Visual impairment and falls in older adults: the Blue Mountains Eye Study. J Am Geriatr Soc 1998; 46: 58-64.
- Lamoureux EL, Chong E, Wang JJ, et al. Visual impairment, causes of vision loss, and falls: the singapore malay eye study. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 2008; 49: 528-533.
- 39. Haymes SA, Leblanc RP, Nicolela MT, et al. Risk of falls and motor vehicle collisions in glaucoma. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 2007; 48: 1149-1155.
- 40. Cummings SR, Nevitt MC, Kidd S. Forgetting falls. The limited accuracy of recall of falls in the elderly. J Am Geriatr Soc 1988; 36: 613-616.
- 41. Maul EA., Hochberg C., Chan E., et al. Objective Measurement of Real-world Physical Activity in Glaucoma using an Accelerometer device. ARVO 2011 Meeting, 2011.
- 42. McGwin G, Jr., Owsley C, Ball K. Identifying crash involvement among older drivers: agreement between self-report and state records. Accid Anal Prev 1998; 30: 781-791.
- 43. McGwin G, Jr., Xie A, Mays A, et al. Visual field defects and the risk of motor vehicle collisions among patients with glaucoma. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 2005; 46: 4437-4441.
- 44. Hu PS, Trumble DA, Foley DJ, et al. Crash risks of older drivers: a panel data analysis. Accid Anal Prev 1998; 30: 569-581.
- 45. Ramulu PY, West SK, Munoz B, et al. Driving cessation and driving limitation in glaucoma: the Salisbury Eye Evaluation Project. Ophthalmology 2009; 116: 1846-1853.
- 46. Gilhotra JS, Mitchell P, Ivers R, Cumming RG. Impaired vision and other factors associated with driving cessation in the elderly: the Blue Mountains Eye Study. Clin Experiment Ophthalmol 2001; 29: 104-107.
- 47. Evans K, Law SK, Walt J, et al. The quality of life impact of peripheral versus central vision loss with a focus on glaucoma versus age-related macular degeneration. Clin Ophthalmol 2009; 3: 433-445.
- 48. Ramulu PY., Swenor BS., Jefferys J., et al. Difficulty with Sustained Reasing in Glaucoma. ARVO 2011 Meeting, 2011.
- 49. Burton R., Crabb DP., Smith ND., et al. Exploring the Effects of Glaucoma on Reading Speed ARVO 2011 Meeting, 2011.
- 50. Turano KA, Rubin GS, Quigley HA. Mobility performance in glaucoma. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 1999; 40: 2803-2809.
- 51. Freeman EE, Gange SJ, Munoz B, West SK. Driving status and risk of entry into long-term care in older adults. Am J Public Health 2006; 96: 1254-1259.
- 52. Szlyk JP, Taglia DP, Paliga J, et al. Driving performance in patients with mild to moderate glaucomatous clinical vision changes. J Rehabil Res Dev 2002; 39: 467-482.
- 53. Hochberg C., Maul E., Chan E., et al. Visual Field Loss and Travel Outside of the Home in Glaucoma. ARVO 2011 Meeting, 2011.
- 54. Kotecha A, O'Leary N, Melmoth D, et al. The functional consequences of glaucoma for eye-hand coordination. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 2009; 50: 203-213.
- 55. Patino CM, Varma R, Azen SP, et al. The Impact of Change in Visual Field on Health-Related Quality of Life The Los Angeles Latino Eye Study. Ophthalmology 2011.



Linda Zangwill, David F. Garway-Heath and Tanuj Dada (left to right).

SUMMARY CONSENSUS POINTS

Section 1 – Visual function progression

1. Standard white-on-white automated perimetry (SAP), with a fixed testing matrix covering at least the central 24 degrees, is preferred for measuring progression in eyes with glaucomatous VF loss.

Comment: more research is needed into the use of alternative measures of visual function (FDP, resolution perimetry, motion perimetry and others) to detect glaucomatous progression, before any of these can be considered alternatives to SAP for measuring progression.

Comment: It is possible for glaucomatous optic neuropathy to progress structurally in the absence of functional progression and vice-versa.

 Perform sufficient examinations to detect change. *Comment:* decisions on progression should not be made by comparing only the most recent field with the one before. *Comment:* suspected progression should be confirmed by repeating the field.

Baseline data collection (no previous VFs available) – first two years

3. In clinical practice, at least two reliable VFs is optimal in the first six months.

Comment: In clinical scenarios, where the lifetime risk of visual disability is high, such as those who already have advanced damage, three baseline VFs may be necessary.

Comment: A good baseline of reliable VFs is essential to be able to monitor for progression.

Comment: Unless there are obvious learning effects, high false-positive errors, rim artifacts, or other obvious artifacts, examinations should not be removed from the analyses.

- 4. At least two further VFs should be performed within the next 18 months.
- 5. VF testing should be repeated sooner than scheduled if possible progression is identified on the basis of an 'event' analysis.

Comment: In patients at risk of visual disability, performing six VFs in the first two years enables the clinician to rule out rapid progression (2 dB/year or worse) and establishes an ideal set of baseline data.

Comment: the identification of possible progression may be on the basis of an 'event' criterion such as the Glaucoma Progression Analysis (in the Humphrey perimeter software) or 'Nonparametric Progression Analysis'.

6. Establish a new baseline after a significant therapeutic intervention (*e.g.*, surgery).

Comment: the new baseline can be the last fields that defined the previous progression 'event'.

Follow-up data collection (after the initial two years)

- 7. The frequency of follow-up VFs should be based on the risk of clinically significant progression (based on extent of damage and life expectancy).
- 8. In low and moderate risk patients, subsequent VF frequency should be one VF per year (unless there is a long follow-up) and, as a rule, repeated sooner if possible. Progression is identified on the basis of an 'event' analysis, or if other clinical observations are suggestive of possible progression or increased risk of progression.

Comment: relevant clinical observations include structural progression (clinically noted or measured by imaging), a splinter hemorrhage, or inadequate IOP control.

9. In high risk patients, subsequent VF frequency should be two VFs per year and repeated sooner if possible progression is identified on the basis of an 'event' analysis, or if other clinical observations are suggestive of progression or increased risk of progression.

Comment: following confirmed progression (by an 'event'), the frequency of testing should be based on the estimated rate of progression, risk factors and other clinical indicators of progression, stage of disease and life expectancy.

Comment: patients who have been stable for a long period, or who are progressing so slowly as to be at little risk for reaching disabling levels of field loss, and other clinical parameters indicate low risk of progression, may have VF testing less frequently than 1 VF per year.

Visual field progression may be analyzed by either 'event-' or 'trend-'based methods

Event analysis: is change from baseline greater than a predefined threshold; the threshold is based on test retest variability (according to level of damage).

Trend analysis: determines the rate of change over time; the significance is determined by the variability of the measurement and the magnitude of change.

- 10. Both event and trend analyses are needed, largely for different time points in the follow-up during clinical care.
- 11. In general, event-based methods are used early in the follow-up, when few VFs are available for serial analysis.

Comment: progression by an event criterion usually requires confirmation on at least two further occasions to be sufficiently sure that progression has truly occurred.

Comment: confirmation of progression should usually be made on a separate occasion (patients have 'off days').

Comment: When interpreting VF progression that is confirmed by an 'event' method, the clinician should look at:

- the baseline fields, to ensure they are reliable and appropriate for the analysis;

- the estimated rate of progression and the confidence of the estimate;
- the severity of the visual loss in terms of impending impairment;
- the risk factors for progression.
- 12. In general, rate-based analyses are used later in the follow-up, when a greater number of VFs is available over a sufficient period of time to measure the rate of progression.

Comment: a rate of progression in the first two years is a rough estimate (wide range of possible rates around the central estimate); in most patients it takes longer to obtain a reliable estimate of the rate of progression.

Comment: trend (regression) analysis provides an estimate of the rate of progression and a measure of the reliability of the estimate; the reliability of the estimate is judged from the confidence limit.

Comment: clinicians should consider other clinical measures of progression and risk of progression when interpreting this information (these data provide the 'prior probability' for progression).

13. When progression is identified, the clinician should ensure that the progression is consistent with glaucoma and not related to some other cause.

Measure the rate of visual field progression

- 14. Clinicians should aim to measure the rate of VF progression. *Comment:* Estimating the rate of progression is invaluable for guiding therapeutic decisions and estimating the likelihood of visual impairment during the patient's lifetime.
- 15. In the absence of significant changes in therapy, the rate of progression of suitable global indices (MD or VFI, but not PSD or LV) is linear in treated glaucoma eyes, except at the most advanced stages.
- 16. As a linear model for progression is acceptable, trends may be extrapolated to predict future loss if there is no change in therapy, over appropriate intervals.
- 17. Both local and global metrics are needed for assessment of progression. *Comment:* Rates are most often measured on 'global' parameters, such as mean deviation, mean defect or visual field index. However, focal progression (such as paracentral) may be missed by a global index.
- 18. Total Deviation based methods are more sensitive to cataract than Pattern Deviation based methods. However, by eliminating or reducing the component of diffuse visual field loss, Pattern Deviation based methods may underestimate progression rates.
- 19. Use available software support. Comment: Subjective judgment of VF print-outs is unreliable and agreement among clinicians is poor. Statistical analysis, either in the perimeter software or stand-alone software, is advantageous to reliably identify and measure progressive VF change.

Pay attention to examination quality

20. Examinations of poor quality will likely lead to an erroneous assessment of progression.

Comment: The most important factors to reduce test variability are a proper explanation of the test to the patient, appropriate instrument setup and 1:1 monitoring of the patient by a trained technician.

- 21. Do not rely automatically on the VF reliability indices. Comment: The VF reliability indices may be unreliable! The most useful index is the 'False Positive' rate; values greater than 15% likely represent a less reliable performance; values less than 15% do not guarantee reliability. The technician is the best judge to exam quality.
- 22. If unreliable tests require repeating, the patient should be carefully reinstructed.

Use the same threshold test

23. Clinicians should select their preferred perimetry technology, test pattern, and thresholding strategy for the baseline tests and stick with the same test throughout the follow up.

Comment: any analysis of progression can only be performed if a compatible threshold algorithm and test pattern is used.

24. In advanced glaucoma, smaller angular size SAP testing grids, *e.g.*, HFA 10-2 may be of value in a minority of patients.

Comment: Kinetic perimetry and SAP with larger targets (*e.g.*, size V) may also be useful.

Comment: The advantages of a change in test pattern (e.g., from a 24-2 to a 10-2 grid) should also be weighed against the disadvantages for progression analysis by commercial software.

Clinical trials

25. Event analyses aim to identify a statistically significant difference between study arms and not necessarily a clinically significant difference. *Comment:* As glaucoma is a chronic progressive disease and progression is generally linear, small amounts of progression that reach statistical significance become larger, clinically significant amounts of progression if there

is no additional therapy.

- 26. Rate analyses of VF indices are an appropriate statistical approach to identify differences between treatment groups. *Comment:* Rate analysis methods have been used often in trials for other chronic progressive diseases, such as dementia.
- 27. Difference in the progression 'event' criterion applied in the various clinical trials limits comparison of the incidence of progression determined in those trials.

Comment: Comparison of groups in different clinical trials is also hampered by mismatch of subjects with regard to stage of glaucoma, quality of visual field exams, and other traits.

Research needs

- 1. The development of 'event' criteria for progression based on individual patient test-retest variability.
- 2. There is a need to *compare event-based endpoints* and *rate of progression outcomes* in a data set with data acquired with appropriate frequency and test intervals with respect to clinical trials.
- 3. Further research is needed into the added value of smaller angular size test grids, and different size stimuli, *e.g.*, size V, in advanced glaucoma.
- 4. Determine appropriate dynamic ranges of stimulus contrasts for size III, and develop new stimuli with larger dynamic ranges of appropriate stimulus contrasts.
- 5. Improve the interface between perimetrist and device, and between patient and device.
- 6. Identify, or develop, stimulus types (*e.g.*, FDT) and test algorithms which provide optimal information content for progression analysis in children and adults who have difficulty performing a reliable SAP test.
- 7. Develop alternate methods for selecting stimulus locations in order to avoid extensive testing of blind areas and to focus on areas of interest.
- 8. Further assess the benefits of using prior threshold as a starting point in a follow-up test (or if threshold is < 0 dB previously, confirmation at that point that a 0 dB stimulus is not seen is sufficient).
- 9. Determine the optimal frequency and timing of tests for individual patients.
- 10. Use of good mathematical modeling.
- 11. Develop better approaches to identify learning effects.
- 12. Identify the appropriate test and frequency of testing for patients with progressive glaucomatous optic neuropathy and SAP within normal limits.

Section 2 – Structure

2.1 Technologies for measurement of optic disc and retinal nerve fiber layer (RNFL) parameters

- Serial optic disc stereo-photography and RNFL photography are valuable and enduring methods for monitoring structural progression. *Comment:* Stereoscopic clinical examination of optic disc and RNFL may be useful to detect change in comparison with a baseline photograph. *Comment:* Subjective estimates of cup/disc ratio only detect large changes in cupping and are insufficient for monitoring structural changes.
- 2. Color fundus photography is the preferred imaging modality to identify disc hemorrhages and parapapillary atrophy.

Comment: Disc hemorrhages and beta-zone PPA are known risk factors for glaucoma progression.

3. Changes in beta-zone parapapillary atrophy can signal glaucoma progression.

Comment: Methods for evaluating changes in PPA require further validation and include fundus photography, CLSO, and SDOCT.

4. Several imaging instruments, including confocal scanning laser ophthalmoscopy, scanning laser polarimetry, and optical coherence tomography objectively provide reproducible measurements and quantitative assessment of the optic disc and RNFL change.

Comment: The detection of glaucoma progression by comparing sketches or descriptions of cup disc ratio in the clinical chart is generally not suitable for an early detection of progression and may be replaced by imaging techniques and/or optic disc photography.

Comment: Imaging instruments provide progression detection analyses that can determine whether change is greater than the measurement variability of an individual eye.

- 5. There are several structural components of longitudinal change detection that likely contribute to the variability of measurements. *Comment:* These include variation in clinical disc margin visibility, intersession variation and accuracy of segmentation algorithms, variation in vascular blood volume and reference plane anatomy, and longitudinal image registration.
- 6. Image quality can influence our ability to detect structural change. *Comment:* Automated quality indices vary by instrument and are often proprietary with little information available about how they are constructed. *Comment:* Poor quality images can lead to either false positive or false negative results.

Comment: For patient management decisions, clinicians should review the quality of images included in glaucomatous progression assessment.

7. More than one good quality baseline image facilitates progression analysis. *Comment:* Some instruments automatically acquire several baseline images during one imaging session.

2.2 Reproducibility of digital imaging instruments

1. Measurement variability influences the ability of any device to detect progression.

Comment: There is a wide range of reproducibility estimates in the literature for SLP, CSLO, and OCT. Although studies of comparisons of instruments within the same patient populations are limited, these techniques likely provide data of similar reproducibility.

Comment: Overall, SDOCT has better reproducibility than TDOCT.

2. There is a lack of consensus in the literature as to whether reproducibility changes across disease severity and this may vary across measured anatomic structures and techniques.

2.3 How to detect and measure structural change?

- 1. Event and trend based analyses are both useful for change detection. *Comment:* These analyses do not always concur.
- 2. It is important to estimate the rate of structural progression for clinical management decisions. *Comment:* The rates of change obtained from measurements from optic disc, RNFL and macular parameters may vary from each other.
- 3. Quantitative assessment of optic disc and retinal nerve fibre layer (RNFL) with imaging instruments is useful and complementary for change detection. *Comment:* Data are limited on whether macular measurements may be useful for change detection.
- 4. Differences in technologies and scan protocols could influence the detection of progression even when the same structure is measured.
- 5. There is no clear consensus on which instruments or parameters are optimal to detect structural progression. As technologies evolve, new instruments and parameters which are clinically useful will emerge.

2.4. How to define clinically significant structural change?

- 1. Interpretation of statistically significant change should take into account test-retest variability and knowledge on the magnitude of age-related change in healthy individuals.
- 2. Knowledge of age-related change in healthy individuals should preferably come from actual longitudinal data and not extrapolation from crosssectional data.
- 3. A statistically significant change in a structural parameter such as rim area or nerve fiber layer thickness is a relevant change, however, it may not be clinically meaningful. The latter also should take into account the age and stage of the disease as well as an assessment of risk factors present. *Comment:* Currently, we have the tools to measure statistically significant change, however, to date we do not know how to fully assess the clinical

2.5 Issues in clinical practice

importance of this change.

1. The optimal frequency of imaging tests is unknown. *Comment:* It depends on the severity of the disease and on the expected speed of progression.

- 2. In longitudinal studies investigating optic disc and RNFL progression in glaucoma, imaging tests have been performed once a year to three times a year.
- 3. The same structural measures (e.g. RNFL thickness) obtained with different instruments from the same manufacturer or the same technology from different instrument manufacturers (*i.e.*, spectral domain OCT) are not necessarily interchangeable for progression assessment.
- 4. Structural assessment of change is a valid method for detection of glaucomatous progression in a clinical trial. *Comment:* structural change has been shown to be predictive of future functional loss in glaucoma.

Section 3 – Structure and function

- 1. Both optic nerve structure and function should be evaluated for detection of glaucomatous progression.
- 2. Currently, no specific test can be regarded as the perfect reference standard for detection of glaucomatous structural and/or functional progression.
- 3. Progression detected by functional means will not always be corroborated using structural tests, and vice-versa. *Comment:* This is due to the imperfect nature of testing analysis, individual variability, and the structure-function relationship.
- 4. The use of standard automated perimetry as the sole method for detection of change may result in failure to detect or underestimate progression in eyes with early glaucomatous damage.

Comment: In glaucoma suspect or ocular hypertensive eyes with initially normal achromatic perimetry, a change in optic nerve structure (*e.g.*, optic topography, retinal nerve fiber layer, optic disc hemorrhage, or parapapillary atrophy) may occur before perimetric change.

5. In general, detection of progression is more difficult in eyes with advanced disease.

Comment: In eyes with advanced visual field damage, alternative perimetric strategies (*i.e.*, larger stimulus, macular strategies, kinetic perimetry, etc.) may need to be employed.

6. A statistically significant change in structure and/or function (which takes age and variability into account) is not always clinically relevant. *Comment:* Its clinical relevance for patient management must take into account other risk factors and lifetime risk of visual disability.

7. Progressive structural changes are often but not always predictive of future development or progression of functional deficits in glaucoma. *Comment:* The predictive strength depends on the method used to assess

Comment: The predictive strength depends on the method used to assess structural/functional change.

- 8. Corroboration of glaucomatous progression through the use of more than one test may provide more effective and more rapid detection of glaucomatous progression than repeated confirmation of change using a single modality. *Comment:* Examples of corroborative change include structure-function (*e.g.*, a structural change of the optic nerve and a spatially consistent functional change).
- 9. In order to increase the likelihood of detecting progression, test results should be of sufficient quality and appropriate quantity to provide mean-ingful information.

Comment: While adjunctive testing can help clinical decision making, the use of multiple modalities of testing, at the expense of quality and appropriate frequency and quantity, should be avoided.

- 10. Life expectancy should be considered when evaluating the clinical relevance of a structural and/or functional change in glaucoma.
- 11. Structural and/or functional testing should be conducted throughout the duration of the disease.

Section 4 – Risk factors

- 1. Risk factors for glaucoma progression should be ascertained in all patients with glaucoma or suspected of being at increased risk of glaucoma.
- 2. Clinical risk factor assessment in glaucoma serves two roles. It provides (a) prognostic information; and (b) a basis for disease management. *Comment:* While proof of causality is desirable, the pragmatic nature of clinical medicine allows the use of risk factors of varying evidence quality and even clinical signs to be used in clinical management.
- 3. The use of risk factors in clinical management should take into account: (a) the strength of the risk factor for disease progression; and (b) the practicality and potential harm of reducing that risk factor.
- 4. Ocular hypertension is itself a strong risk factor for glaucoma, with rates of progression depending on the presence or absence of other risk factors. *Comment:* Accounting for these risk factors is critical to clinical decision making in the management of OHT patients.

Comment: Risk factor assessment in OHT helps determine an individual's need for IOP lowering medication and also informs on the frequency of follow up.

5. Risk calculators provide a means for quantifying risk of glaucoma progression in appropriate individuals with similar baseline characteristics to those present in the study.

Comment: The utility of these risk calculators in clinical practice still needs to be determined.

- 6. Higher mean IOP is a strong risk factor for glaucoma progression. *Comment:* More studies are needed to evaluate the role of other IOP parameters as risk factors for glaucoma progression.
- 7. A thinner central cornea is a risk factor for progression in patients with higher baseline IOP.
- 8. The presence of pseudo-exfoliation syndrome is an independent risk factor for progression.
- 9. The presence of a disc haemorrhage, older age, and lower ocular perfusion pressure are risk factors for progression. *Comment:* The relationship between low blood pressure and risk of progression is complex.
- 10. While estimates of risk of progression for individual patients based on completed large clinical trials are available, the use of such estimates varies considerably in clinical practice.
- 11. There is greater information available regarding the importance of risk factors for progression from early to moderate disease than from moderate to severe disease.

Comment: Few adequately powered studies have prospectively assessed the risk factors for blindness from glaucomatous disease.

- 12. The relative importance of risk factors for progression may vary depending upon the stage of glaucomatous disease. *Comment:* Some risk factors that do not appear to be important predictors of progression from early to moderate glaucoma may be relatively more important in predicting progression from moderate to severe disease and vice versa.
- 13. Studies that longitudinally assess risk factors for functional vision loss and blindness from glaucomatous disease are needed.

Section 5 - Glaucoma and its impact on patient function

- 1. Standard measures for assessing glaucoma include measures of optic nerve structure and function including cup/disc ratios, thickness of the retinal nerve fiber layer and ganglion cell layer, white on white visual fields, blue on yellow visual fields, and intraocular pressure. While these measures provide an assessment of the eye, they are surrogates for how the patient is functioning. Both PROs and functional tests provide important information in addition to standard tests on the impact of glaucoma on the patient.
- 2. It was previously believed that only advanced glaucoma damage has an impact on the patient ability to function. However, more recent cross-sectional clinic-based and population-based studies have demonstrated that early glaucomatous visual field loss has an impact on the patients' ability to function as assessed by patient reported outcome measures and functional tests.

- 3. Future studies are needed to explore the relationship between PROs and functional measures and glaucoma progression.
- 4. Numerous instruments and tests have been used for assessing PROs and functional measures in research settings. However, there is no consensus on a single PRO or functional measure (or set of PROs or functional measures) for clinical practice. There is a need to create simpler PROs and functional tests which can easily be reproduced in a wide variety of settings.



Robert N. Weinreb.





David Greenfield.



Makoto Araie.



Remo Susanna (left) and Franz Grehn (right).



S. Fabian Lerner, Shan Lin, Chri Leung, Curt Hartleben and Gady Wollstein (left to right).



Kaweh Mansouri (Consensus Secretary).



Eytan Blumenthal.



Kuldev Singh and Esther Hoffman.



Jeffrey M. Liebmann, Robert N. Weinreb and Jian Ge (left to right).



Ivan Goldberg (left) and Thierry Zeyen (right).



Anders Heijl (left) John Thygesen (center) and Boel Bengtsson.



Chris Leung, Robert N. Weinreb and Felipe Medeiros (left to right).

DISCLOSURE CODES DEFINITIONS – CATEGORY CODE SPECIFIC FINANCIAL INTERESTS:

N (No Commercial Relationship) Indicates there is no commercial relationship relevant to the related to the Consensus on Progression of Glaucoma.

 \mathbf{F} (Financial Support) Indicates if you have received through your employing institution or personal support from a for-profit company, or competing company, in the form of research funding or research materials or services at no cost, such support being the subject of the Consensus on Progression of Glaucoma.

I (Personal Financial Interest) Indicates if you are an investor in a company or competing company, other than through a mutual or retirement fund, which provides a product, service, process or equipment that is related to the Consensus on Progression of Glaucoma.

E Indicates if you are an employee of a company or competing company with a business interest that is related to the Consensus on Progression of Glaucoma.

C Indicates if you are, or have been within the last three years, a consultant for a company or competing company with a business interest that is related to the Consensus on Progression of Glaucoma.

P Indicates if you are an inventor/developer designated on a patent, patent application, copyright, or trade secret, whether or not the patent, copyright, etc. is presently licensed or otherwise commercialized, which is related to the Consensus on Progression of Glaucoma.

R Indicates if you have received gifts in kind, honoraria or travel reimbursement valued in any amount in the last twelve months from a company or competing company which provides a product, service, process or equipment that is related to the Consensus on Progression of Glaucoma.

| Name | Y/N | F | I | E | С | R |
|---------------------------|--------------------|--|---|---|--|---|
| Anderson, Doug | Y | | | | Carl Zeiss Meditec | |
| Anton, Alfonso | Y | Allergan, Pfizer, Merck, Alcon | | | | |
| Araie, Makoto | Y | | | | Topcon, Zeiss | Topcon |
| Artes, Paul | N | | | | | |
| Aung, Tin | Y | Alcon, Allergan, Aquesys, Carl Zeiss Meditec, Clarity, Ellex | | | Alcon, Merck, Pfizer | Alcon, Allergan, Carl Zeiss Meditec, Clarity, Ellex, Merck, Pfizer, Santen |
| Bengtsson, Boel | Y | Carl Zeiss Meditec | | | Carl Zeiss Meditec | |
| Blanco-Azuaro, Augusto | N | | | | | |
| Blumenthal, Eytan | Y | Volk Optical, Lumenis, Carl Zeiss Meditec | | | | |
| Boehm, Andreas | N | | | | | |
| Bowd, Chris | N | | | | | |
| Brandt, James | Y | | | | Alcon, EndoOptiks, Glaukos, Pfizer, Merck | Alcon, Merck |
| Brusini, Paolo | N | | | | | |
| Budenz, Donald | Y | Carl Zeiss Meditec | | | Alcon, Allergan, Santen | Alcon, Santen, Lumenis |
| Burgoyne, Claude | Y | Heidelberg Engineering | | | | |
| Burr, Jennifer | Y | | | | | |
| Caprioli, Joseph | Failed to disclose | | | | | |
| Chauhan, Balwantray | Y | Allergan, Heidelberg Engineering | | | Allergan | Allergan, Heidelberg Engineering |
| Coleman, Anne | Y | | | | Alcon, Allergan, Pfizer | |
| Costa, Vital | N | | | | | |
| Crabb, David | N | | | | | |
| Crowston, Jonathan G. | Y | | | | Pfizer, Alcon, Allergan MSD | |
| Dada, Tanuj | N | | | | | |
| de Moreas, Gus | N | | | | | |

Disclosure table

| Name | Y/N | F | I | E | С | | R |
|---------------------------|-----|---|---|---|--|--|--|
| Fingeret, Murray | Y | Carl Zeiss Meditec, Optovue, Heidelberg Engineering | | | Carl Zeiss Meditec | | Carl Zeiss Meditec, Heidelberg Engineering, Optovue |
| Friedman, David | Y | Takagi, Zeiss | | | Alcon, Allergan, Bausch and Lomb, Merck, Pfizer | | Alcon, Allergan, Merck, Pfizer |
| Garway-Heath, David F. | Y | Carl Zeiss Meditec, Heidelberg Engineering, OptoVue | | | Carl Zeiss Meditec | Moorfields Motion Displacement Test | Carl Zeiss Meditec, Heidelberg Engineering, OptoVue |
| Girkin, Chris | Y | | | | Allergan, Alcon | | |
| Goldberg, Ivan | N | | | | | | |
| Goni, Francisco | Y | | | | Carl Zeiss Meditec | | |
| Greenfield, David | Y | | | | Topcon, Quark, Allergan, Alcon | | Optovue, Carl Zeiss Meditec, Heidelberg Engineering |
| Grehn, Franz | Y | | | | | | Merck Sharp&Dohme Corp. (Lecture at Moorfields International Glaucoma Symposium), Pfizer Japan Ophthalmics (Lecture at Pfizer Evening Seminar at WGC 2011 in Paris) |
| Harris, Alon | Ν | | | | | | |
| Hartleben, Curt | N | | | | | | |
| Haymes, Sharon | N | | | | | | |
| He, Mingguang | Ν | | | | | | |
| Healey, Paul | N | | | | | | |
| Heijl, Anders | Y | Carl Zeiss Meditec | | | Carl Zeiss Meditec, Allergan, Alcon | Carl Zeiss Meditec | Santen |
| Henson, David | Ν | | | | | | |
| Hoffman, Esther | N | | | | | | |
| Iwase, Aiko | N | | | | | | |
| Jansonius, Nomdo | N | | | | | | |

| Name | Y/N | F | I | E | С | | R |
|-----------------------------|-----|--|---|-----------------------|--|----------|--|
| Johnson, Chris | Ν | | | | | | |
| Jonas, Jost | N | | | | | | |
| Kahook, Malik | N | | | | | | |
| Kass, Michael | N | | | | | | |
| Kim, Tae-Woo | N | | | | | | |
| Kook, Michael | N | | | | | | |
| Kymes, Steve | Y | Pfizer, Genentech | | | Pfizer, Genentech, Allergan | | |
| Lamaroux, Ecosse | Ν | | | | | | |
| Lerner, S. Fabian | Y | | | | Alcon, MSD | | Alcon, MSD |
| Leung, Christopher | Υ | Carl Zeiss Meditec, Optovue, Topcon, Alcon, Tomey | | | Carl Zeiss Meditec, Merck | | Carl Zeiss Meditec, Heidelberg Engineering, Alcon, Merck, Lumenis |
| Li, Felix | N | | | | | | |
| Liebmann, Jeffrey M. | Y | Carl Zeiss Meditech, Topcon, Optovue | | | Carl Zeiss Meditech, Allergan, Alcon, Diopsys | | Allergan, Alcon |
| Lin, Shan | N | | | | | | |
| Martinez Garcia, Antonio | Y | | | | Allergan, MSD and Pfizer | | MSD |
| Maul, Eugenio | N | | | | | | |
| McKean-Cowdin, Roberta | N | | | | | | |
| McNaught, Andy | Y | | | | | | Pfizer, Allergan, Alcon |
| Medeiros, Felipe | Y | Carl-Zeiss Meditec, Merck, Alcon, Allergan, Pfizer | | | | | |
| Monhart, Matthias | Y | | | Haag-Streit AG | | | |
| Nolan, Winnie | N | | | | | | |
| Nouri-Mahdavi, Kouros | N | | | | | | |
| Park, Ki Ho | N | | | | | | |
| Parrish, Rich | N | | | | | | |
| Patella, Mike | Y | | | Carl Zeiss Meditec | | Humphrey | |

Disclosure table

| Name | Y/N | F | Ι | E | С | | R |
|-----------------------|-----|--|---|---|---|--------------------------------------|--|
| Ramulu, Pradeep | Y | Alcon | | | | | |
| Rao, Harsha | Y | | | | Allergan | | |
| Sakata, Lisandro | N | | | | | | |
| Schuman, Joel | Y | | | | | Carl Zeiss Meditech, Bioptigen | |
| Sekhar, Chandra | N | | | | | | |
| Singh, Kuldev | Y | | | | Alcon, Allergan, Santen, Bausch and Lomb, Ivantis, iScience, Transcend, Glaxo Smith Kline | | |
| Spaeth, George | N | | | | | | |
| Spry, Paul | Ν | | | | | | |
| Sung, Kyung Rim | Ν | | | | | | |
| Susanna, Remo | Ν | | | | | | |
| Swanson, William | Y | | | | Zeiss-Meditec | | |
| Thygesen, John | N | | | | | | |
| Turpin, Andrew | Y | Heidelberg Engineering | | | | | |
| Varma, Rohit | N | | | | | | |
| Wang, Ningli | N | | | | | | |
| Weinreb, Robert N. | Y | | | | Alcon, Allergan, Altheos, Bausch & Lomb, Genentech, Glaxo, Implandata GmbH, Meditec Zeiss, Merck, Mesotec, National Eye Institute, Optovue, Othera, Pfizer, Sensimed, Solx | | Haag Streit, Heidelberg Engineering, Lumenis, Meditec Zeiss, Nidek, Optovue, Topcon |
| Wilson, M. Roy | N | | | | | | |
| Wollstein, Gadi | N | | | | | | |
| Zangwill, Linda | Y | Topcon, Heidelberg Engineering, Carl Zeiss Meditic, Optovue | | | | | Heidelberg Engineering, Inc |
| Zeyen, Thierry | Y | | | | Pfizer | | Alcon, Allergan, Merck and Pfizer |

INDEX OF AUTHORS

Anderson, D.R., ix, 2, 3, 27 Araie, M., vii, ix, 44, 45, 82 Bengtsson, B., vii, ix, 2, 3, 24, 101 Boehm, A., vii, ix, 44, 45, 82, 84 Bowd, C., vii, ix, 44, 45, 48, 52, 89, 91 Burgoyne, C., vii, ix, 44, 45, 59

Chauhan, B., ix, 44, 45, 81 Chauhan, B., vii, ix, 3, 45, 90, 91, 101 Crowston, J.G., ii, iii, ix, 3, 45, 91, 101, 119

Dada, T., vii, ix, 44, 45, 64, 68, 101, 131

Friedman, D., ix, 101, 118, 119

Garway-Heath, D.F., ii, iii, vii, viii, ix, 2, 3, 15, 45, 91, 101, 119, 131 Girkin, C., vii, ix, 44, 45, 64

He, M., 100, vii, ix, 101 Healey, P., vii, ix, 100, 101 Heijl, A., vii, ix, xiv, 1, 2, 3, 24

Jansonius, N., vii, ix, 2, 3, 15 Jonas, J., vii, ix, 44, 45, 74, 77, 101

Kim, T.-W., vii, viii, ix, 44, 45, 46 Kook, M., vii, ix, 3, 44, 45, 64, 67, 91 Lerner, F.S., vii, viii, ix, 100, 101 Leung, C., ii, iii, ix, xi, 3, 44, 45, 74, 78, 82, 87, 91, 101, 119 Liebmann, J., 90, ix, 91

Martinez Garcia, A., vii, ix, 44, 45, 64, 72, 152
McNaught, A., 2, vii, ix, xiv, 3, 8
McKean-Cowdin, R., vii, ix, 119
Medeiros, F.A., ii, iii, vii, viii, ix, xi, 3, 45, 89, 90, 91, 101, 119
de Moraes, G., ix, 90, 91
Park, K.-H., ix, 44, 45, 74, 79, 101

Ramulu, P., vii, ix, 118, 119 Rao, H., vii, ix, 44, 45, 56 Rim Sung, K., ix, 44, 45, 82

Singh, K., 99-100, vii, viii, ix, 101 Susanna, R., vii, viii, ix, 44, 45, 74, 90, 91 Swanson, W.H., 2, ix, 3, 33

Varma, R., vii, ix, xi, 118, 119

Wollstein, G., viii, ix, 44, 45, 82, 85

Zangwill, L., vii, ix, 42, 44, 45, 60, 131 Zeyen, T., vii, ix, 117, 118, 119



